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1. Welcome and Introduction
Dear reader,
Welcome to the NHS South East London Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
annual report and accounts, covering the 2021/22 financial year.
On 1 April 2021 the NHS in south east London was just recovering from the unprecedented
pressures caused by the second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. Just over three months
into the vaccination programme, we were proceeding at pace to protect our most vulnerable
residents.
Over the course of last year, we have seen restrictions ease and life slowly return closer to
‘normal’ with the help of the vaccination programme, the test, trace and isolate programme,
and new treatments.
As our main defence against COVID 19, the vaccination programme has arguably been
both our biggest challenge and biggest achievement this year. It has been an enormous
privilege to work with our partners to contribute towards the largest immunisation
programme in NHS history, with the UK boasting one of the highest uptake rates in the
world.
To date, across south east London we have delivered over 3.9 million covid vaccinations.
This involved standing up 90 vaccination sites, including six vaccination centres run by
hospital trusts, 32 Primary Care Network (PCN) sites and 52 pharmacy sites.
A dedicated and committed workforce ensured that all of these centres were able to meet
the needs of their local community. And with the help of our whole system, we were able to
mobilise a workforce made up of clinicians, vaccinators, pharmacists, administrators,
volunteers, and support staff.
We also introduced creative measures of providing vaccination services, from ‘health and
wellbeing’ buses and ‘vaxi-taxis’, to pop-ups hosted by the Tate Modern, Millwall and
Charlton football clubs, the Oval and local places of worship. We have partnered with local
faith leaders and community groups to support people’s questions and tackle fears and
misinformation. Over the course of the year, we continued to adapt the vaccination service,
as new cohorts became eligible and, from the autumn, as the call to introduce the first
booster programme was announced.
While we gathered momentum, we were always mindful of tackling inequalities, ensuring
we adapted our offer to include all our communities, including people who are housebound,
homeless or not registered with a GP. CCG staff have continued to work closely with all six
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boroughs in south east London delivering positive public health messages, engaging with
our local communities, and tackling misinformation.
As we offer second boosters to the most vulnerable and primary vaccinations to all 5-11year olds in 22/23, we expect the vaccination programme to become ‘business as usual’,
with planned spring and autumn booster programmes. We will continue to promote primary
vaccinations to people of all ages, to ensure no one is left behind (known as the ‘evergreen
offer’). Meanwhile, we will also focus on the full recovery of services following the
pandemic, progressing our south east London integration arrangements and delivering on
our long-term priorities.
As part of this, we must urgently address some of the backlogs in routine care that have
inevitably built up due to the pandemic, and reduce long waits for patients. We recognise
the huge scale of this challenge, but plan to build on some of the innovative ways of
working developed during the pandemic response, such as increasing the use of digital
technology, freeing up staff to care for more people, giving patients more control over their
care and closer, joined-up working across all areas of the system.
Our progress and achievements have been made possible thanks to the commitment,
collaboration, and compassion of individuals and organisations across the health and care
system. This includes CCG staff – some of whom were redeployed to support frontline
services throughout the pandemic; Primary Care Networks (PCNs) who have provided care
for local people throughout, while administering hundreds of thousands of COVID
vaccinations; acute trust providers who have treated both Covid and non-Covid patients,
flexing the service as needed throughout the year; mental health providers who have seen
a significant increase in need for their services as a result of the pandemic; community
pharmacies and our community service providers and colleagues in social care who have
ensured that some of our most vulnerable residents have been able to receive the care
they need at or close to home; and the myriad of voluntary sector organisations who
deployed thousands of volunteers to contribute to the smooth-running of COVID
vaccination centres.
Our approach to working on the vaccination programme has deepened existing bonds in
south east London. With just two years as NHS South East London CCG, we have been
relentlessly focused on our collective response to the pandemic across the entire south
east London system. This has gifted us a stronger footing as the CCG is disestablished and
we transition to an Integrated Care Board as the statutory body from 1 July 2022.
South East London ICS is our vehicle to bring about positive changes for local people, so
that people have a more seamless experience of care, supported by a partnership of
organisations responsible for providing health and care services. This includes local NHS
services, local councils and voluntary and community organisations.
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Together, we will use our combined resources to tackle of some of the biggest health
problems affecting local people in Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and
Southwark. Our aim is to keep people well, prevent ill-health and support people to thrive
and live healthier lives.
Working together means that local residents can access the right care and support closer to
home. Working in partnership with local people and communities will enable us to transform
and shape services so that they work best for everyone. We will also support local
organisations and residents to develop new ideas and ways of working, to improve patient
experience and care. You can read more about our progression towards further integration
on page 12.
To learn more about our work and the developments made by each of our six boroughs in
the past year, please go to pages 53 to 69.
This is the final full-year NHS South East London CCG annual report and I would like to
thank the amazing CCG team and members of the Governing Body for the commitment
they have shown to the people of south east London during this incredibly challenging time.
I would also like to acknowledge and thank all of those who have directly and indirectly
supported the NHS in south east London over the past year, including those who
volunteered their time and energy to support the Covid-19 vaccination programme, all of
which ensured that local people have had access to the health and care services they
need.
Most of all, I would like to thank our population in south east London, many of whom have
helped us keep our communities safe, by coming forward for their vaccinations and
observing the Covid restrictions and guidelines. Everyone has played their part and there is
much we can learn as we continue our journey towards greater integration and
collaboration as a health and care system.
Thank you for taking the time to read our 2021/22 annual report and to all those who have
been working to save lives and care for our communities across south east London.
Jonty
Dr Jonty Heaversedge
GP and Chair, NHS South East London Clinical Commissioning Group
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2. Who we are
This section sets out the key duties, purpose and activities of the CCG and provides a
description of the organisation’s structure and the environment within which we operate.

2.1.

Introduction to NHS South East London CCG

NHS South East London Clinical Commissioning Group is a clinically led organisation
responsible for planning, paying for and monitoring most of the health services in the six
boroughs that we cover.
Our greatest priority is to ensure that the 1.9 million people living in south east London
experience the highest possible standard of care within the resources made available to
us.
NHS South East London Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was established on 1
April 2020 and works across the London Boroughs of Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich,
Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark.
Our aim is to work with our partners to improve care and health outcomes for local
people. CCGs are local, clinically led, statutory NHS bodies. They are membership
organisations, whose members, in the case of NHS South East London CCG, are all the
GP practices that serve the six boroughs.
We are led by a governing body made up of local GPs drawn from across our boroughs,
other clinicians, executives and lay members. Responsible for planning and paying for
most health care services local people use, CCGs ensure that residents can access the
best possible care from the services commissioned on their behalf.
This involves assessing local needs and prioritising the use of funding with our partners,
including local authorities, hospitals, community and primary care services. This is an
ongoing process and CCGs are expected to monitor the care provided, as well as
respond and adapt to changing local circumstances. In doing so, CCGs are responsible
for commissioning to improve the health of their entire population.
The CCG’s main purpose is to improve the health and wellbeing of south east London
people. We will do this by:
•
•
•

Ensuring that the services we commission for local people are high quality, safe and
accessible.
Working with our partners across health and social care, including those in the
voluntary and independent sectors, to plan and improve services.
Building effective relationships with organisations that deliver care to improve the
way that services are joined up and are in the best interests of those using these
services
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•

Making sure that the money we receive from the Government is used to provide the
right services, to the right people and at the right time.

As our population continues to grow and age, we will see an increase in demand for
health and social care services, as more people live for longer with pre-existing and
often long-term conditions. Today, there is unacceptable variation in the care people
experience across our six boroughs in terms of its quality, ease of access and the
outcomes experienced.
We are trying to address these issues by delivering a concerted and targeted approach
to how care is delivered, tackling variations in quality and outcomes to reduce current
inequalities. We do this by making our services more joined up and easier to use, which
in turn will make them more cost-effective to run.
We support work underway within south east London to improve the care and services
people use in the community or when they need urgent medical help, sometimes in an
emergency. We are equally focused on preventative intervention and use of population
health data to proactively identify those in need of care. We want to ensure that people
who have health conditions such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, respiratory illnesses
and diabetes experience better services and outcomes. At the same time, we are
working to see improvements in the quality and consistency of our maternity services,
and the care provided for people of all ages with a mental health condition and/or
learning disability and autism.
We are committed to promoting equality and diversity for the people of south east
London. Our commissioning processes are underpinned by human rights principles. This
means that commissioning decisions will be subject to fairness, respect, equality, dignity
and autonomy. We also have leadership roles for equality and diversity, which sit on our
governing body to ensure that it is championed at the highest levels.
Engagement with the public enables us to make better decisions underpinned by a clear
understanding of public views, concerns and aspirations. Knowing what people think
about existing health services is vital to help us improve the experience of care for all
patients.
We base our engagement activities on evidence of what works well, as well as national
best practice. We continue to involve local people at neighbourhood and borough level,
and there will be occasions when we need to engage with people across borough
boundaries, sometimes across south east London.
We continue to reach out proactively to people and communities so they can be involved
in a consistent way. We remain committed to addressing the inequalities and barriers to
participation and involvement of seldom heard groups in south east London – including
young people, those yet to develop health conditions, people from our LGBTQI+
communities, those living in areas of deprivation within our boroughs and people from
black and minority ethnic communities.
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We aim to deliver all of this in a way that is sustainable and respects the environment we
all live and work in, recognising the benefits to the health and wellbeing of our population
that we can bring through our contribution to tackling the climate change challenge by
making changes to our own ways of working. Through working together with our ICS
partners and local communities we can achieve the national target of a net zero carbon
NHS by 2040.

2.2.

Our duties

Under the National Health Service Act 2006, CCGs have several duties and powers. You
can find full details of these here.
The statutory duties of the CCG require us to arrange for the provision of hospital and
other accommodation and medical and other services to meet the reasonable needs of
the people we are responsible for. This includes people who are provided with primary
medical (GP) services by a member practice within the CCG or people who usually live
in the local authority areas within south east London. Additionally, the CCG is charged
with arranging for the provision of ambulance services and emergency services for every
person present within south east London.
In this annual report, we describe how we have fulfilled these duties to improve the
quality of local services, reduce health inequalities, promote involvement of each patient
in their own care, offer patient choice, support the integration of services, work together
with the public and patients and ensure that we have plans in place to deal with surges
in demand for services and major incidents.
We certify that the NHS South East London CCG has complied with the statutory duties
laid down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

2.3.

Our population

South east London has a highly diverse population, and the health and care needs of its
1.9 million people are complex. The population is growing and is predicted to increase by
9.5%, exceeding 2 million, by 2029. The expected growth in the older population far
outstrips the overall population growth rate (by three times in both 65-80 years and 80+
years); this is likely to lead to increasing demand for care across the system overall.
There is significant health inequality, both within and across our six boroughs. Life
expectancy at birth can vary within a borough by up to nine years between the most and
least deprived areas. When it comes to people’s health, the wider determinants of health
– such as deprivation, the local environment, housing, crime, education, employment
and social isolation – have a significant impact, as do individual lifestyle choices. One in
five children in south east London live in low-income homes, with most of our boroughs,
Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark, ranking amongst the 15% most
deprived local authority areas in the country. Whilst Bexley and Bromley are
comparatively less deprived, they both still have pockets of significant deprivation.
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The proportion of people from black and minority ethnic backgrounds also differs across
our boroughs, from 60% in Lambeth to 19% in Bromley. We also have a higher-thanaverage proportion of local people identifying as LGBTQI+. For example, Lambeth and
Southwark have the second and third largest lesbian, gay and bisexual communities in
the country. There is a large prison population of over 3,500 adult men and young adults
across four prisons situated in Greenwich and Lambeth.
More information on each of our boroughs can be found on their local pages through the
CCG’s website: www.selondonccg.nhs.uk.

2.4.

Partnership Working across South East London

People living in south east London access most of their health and social care very
locally. When they do need more specialist care they have access to some of the
country’s finest specialist medical care through our teaching hospitals and wider acute
provision and often access those services right across our six boroughs. However,
people tell us that health and care services are often fragmented, resulting in duplication
and confusion for those who use them. Not only is this unacceptable, it impacts on the
quality of outcomes and increases the cost of delivering these services.
The key to making our services better is through improved partnership working. When it
comes to health and social care, organisations working in isolation can rarely affect the
types of change needed to bring about the greatest benefit for most people. Our map of
south east London’s boroughs and hospital locations, if overlaid by the wider range of
organisations, providers and community support that make a difference to peoples’ lives,
is hugely complex. We need to do more to help local people navigate this system and
access the right advice and care.
Our partnership working, driven through our integrated care system (ICS), named Our
Healthier South East London, aims to bring about real improvement. Our ICS currently
brings together six local authorities, five NHS trusts and NHS South East London CCG.
You can find out more about its work at www.ourhealthiersel.nhs.uk .
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In addition, the CCG continues to develop positive working relationships with
Healthwatch and voluntary and community sector organisations.
The benefit of partnership working has been formally recognised through the
Governments Health and Care Bill which aims to transform delivery of health and social
care services. These proposals build on the NHS’s recommendations in its Long Term
Plan and will result in the NHS and local authorities being given a duty to collaborate
with each other. This will be co-ordinated on an ICS level by a statutory organisation
called the Integrated Care Board (ICB), with mechanisms to ensure formal input to ICS
wide decisions by a variety of health and social care stakeholders. At the same time as
the ICB becomes a statutory body, the CCG will be disestablished. The date for this
change is 1 July 2022.

2.5.

Working at borough and system levels

NHS South East London CCG operates with borough-based boards to deliver the CCG’s
plans at a local level, working closely with local authorities (who are represented on CCG
borough based boards) and additionally with wider partners in Local Care Partnerships.
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The overall aim is to bring together commissioning and provider organisations from
across the health and care system in each borough to plan and provide a range of
coordinated services that deliver more integrated care for local people, with a focus on
the health and wellbeing of the local population. This means that our boroughs have
health and wellbeing strategies that cover the development of health and care services
locally.
In this way, the CCG can work at different population levels, within a neighbourhood or a
whole borough through borough-based initiatives, or where most appropriate across
more than one borough or even the whole of south east London.
All of this is overseen by the CCG’s Governing Body, with membership drawn from all six
boroughs. For information on our Council of Members and our Governing Body, and our
governance structure please refer to our Annual Governance Statement on page 85.
Individual borough-based information regarding the Boards and their local care
partnerships can be found at www.selondonccg.nhs.uk

2.6.

Key risks and influences on South East London

Delivery of the CCG’s ambitions set out in the ICS’s Long Term Plan and other system
strategies, in a way that truly impacts and improves the health of our population,
underpins all of the CCG’s activities.
NHS South East London CCG therefore strives to deliver high quality services at best
value, whilst working in a challenging environment which presents a number of key risks
to the delivery of its objectives. These risks manifest themselves in several areas
including:
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•

A financially challenging environment, driven by increased activity particularly in our
acute providers

•

Service performance, and the impact on the CCG in achieving constitutional and
national targets against which we are measured, particularly following recovery from
the pandemic

•

Health inequalities within the borough, requiring a dynamic, patient-centred response

The CCG produces a monthly Board Assurance Framework (BAF) that details the key
risks and mitigations to the delivery of the above-described duties and objectives. The
BAF is available on the CCG’s website under governing body papers. More information
on how the CCG identifies and manages its risks is included in the Governance section
of this annual report.
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3. Performance Report
3.1.

Performance Overview:

This section of the annual report provides information on the CCG’s performance measured in terms of compliance against national constitutional and performance and
standards for our south east London population - for the year 2021/22.
The performance assessment however needs to be seen in the context of the pandemic
impact and the need to manage available capacity to meet on going Covid demand, pent
up and increased urgent and emergency care and mental health demand plus the
recovery of elective activity and work to reduce the waiting list backlogs that have built
up as a result of the pandemic.
As a result it has been recognised nationally and locally that delivery of the pre
pandemic NHS constitutional and other performance standards are not achievable in the
short term and priorities for 2021/22 were reframed as a result. Specifically, systems
were asked to ensure they had an ongoing ability to meet presenting Covid demand,
including applying effective and robust infection and prevention control measures to
prevent spread and outbreaks within health care settings. In addition, we have flexed our
urgent and emergency care and mental health capacity to meet a step increase in
demand post the first and second waves of the pandemic. After taking account of these
two overarching priorities, based on clinical need we have focussed on ensuring an
ability to meet the needs of urgent elective patients, including cancer diagnosis and
treatment and then reducing our waiting list backlogs with a first stage focus on our very
longest waiters. We still have a long way to go and our positive progress slowed from
mid-December as a result of the Omicron variant plus significant urgent and emergency
care pressures over the winter period, both of which are ongoing.
Our 2022/23 plans seek to continue the positive progress made over the last year, with
targets again recognising the legacy of the pandemic and the need to recover before we
can get back to the delivery of pre pandemic constitutional and performance targets.
As a consequence of the need to respond at pace to the Covid-19 pandemic, the CCG
was able to accelerate the implementation of a number of innovations in healthcare
delivery that were already underway but were delivered more quickly within the context
of the pandemic and from which our residents are already benefiting. In addition to an
enhanced level of system working, the ways in which primary care services in particular
have been delivered have been explored to ensure maximum outreach and access to
our local communities.
The use of technology and digital solutions to maximise access have resulted in an
expansion in online video consultations, use of tele-services to deliver clinical
assessments and support quick referrals to secondary pathways (for example, for
dermatology referrals), remote monitoring of patients, and general access to information
via online means. The SEL Digital First programme has an aim to ensure that, by 2023,

Page 15

every patient in south east London has equitable access to general practice support
enhanced by Digital First tools which are safe, inclusive and easy to use, as well as
equitable access to remote monitoring services. Local activity to achieve digital maturity
is monitored through a programme dashboard, and investment in digital accelerator
schemes and the use of a patient champion model across the ICS are further ways in
which the team are working towards fully equitable digital access for patients.
Primary care has also been supported by the Clinical Effectiveness South East London
(CESEL) team, a quality improvement team formed of clinical leads from each SEL
borough and a small central team, who deliver supportive interventions such as guides,
education events and facilitation visits. Looking forward, CESEL has led one of four
successful London pathfinder project bids, looking at a hypertension project and
partnering in a childhood immunisation project. Both projects bring welcome funding for
improving outcomes and reducing inequalities. In addition, the team has is working with
SEL practices to support diabetes improvement and achieve both local and national
diabetes targets.
The system has continued to focus on implementing agreed system wide urgent and
emergency care pathway developments and improvements, including the on-going
development of the SEL 111 service, the development and roll out of Same Day
Emergency Care, sustaining and further enhancing the discharge improvement,
developing our community services to support admission avoidance and supported
discharge across both physical and mental health, and ensuring we can provide timely
support for mental health patients in crisis.
Sustainability and the environment is a matter that has featured highly on the agenda for
the CCG this year. On 31 March 2022, every ICS in the country was expected to publish
their ‘Green plan’ - outlining how they will make progress towards the NHS’s commitment
to net zero by 2040, over the next three years. Partners across the ICS have been
working collaboratively to develop system-wide plans, and the CCG specifically has
published a plan to support Primary Care. We also believe that the focus on
sustainability should support our ‘anchor’ approach – how as a large public sector
organisation we can best support the communities we serve.
More detail on many of these initiatives, and how we have worked with our local
communities to deliver them and ensure they meet their needs, is provided in the
performance analysis section (3.2) below.
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Summary position for South East London CCG
Acute performance summary:
The table below provides the final South East London CCG position for the main
performance and constitution standards. Also included is the Trust-wide position, which
provides the collective performance across the three acute trusts located in south east
London. The final 2020/21 position (March 2021) is also shown to provide a comparison
against current year performance.
•

Elective care - Referral to Treatment (RTT) waiting times: The percentage of
referral to treatment (RTT) incomplete pathways (patients yet to start treatment)
within 18 weeks.

•

Elective care - Referral to Treatment (RTT) 52 week waits: The number of
incomplete Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways (patients yet to start treatment)
of 52 weeks or more.

•

Elective care - Referral to Treatment (RTT) 104 week waits: The number of
incomplete Referral to Treatment (RTT) pathways (patients yet to start treatment)
of 104 weeks or more.

•

Diagnostic waits: The percentage of patients waiting six weeks or more for a
diagnostic.

•

A&E 4-hour performance: Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient
spent four hours or less in A&E from arrival to transfer, admission or discharge.

•

Cancer two week waits: Percentage of patients seen within two weeks of an
urgent GP referral for suspected cancer.

•

Cancer 62 day waits: Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for
cancer within two months (62 days) of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer.

•

Cancer 28 day waits (faster diagnosis standard): Percentage of patients receiving
communication of diagnosis for cancer or ruling out of cancer, or a decision to
treat if made before a communication of diagnosis, within 28-days following an
urgent referral for suspected cancer, a referral for breast symptoms where cancer
was not initially suspected, or an urgent referral from an NHS Cancer Screening
Service
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SEL CCG
Metric

SEL Trusts

Standard
March
2022

March
2021

March
2022

March
2021

RTT 18 week wait performance

92%

68.8%

68.4%

68.2%

67.4%

RTT 52 week wait performance

0

3,818

9,537

4,240

13,915

RTT 104 week wait performance*

0

100

Diagnostics 6 week waits

1%

6.1%

A&E 4-hour performance**

95%

Cancer 2 week waits

93%

82.1%

Cancer 62 day waits

85%

71.0%

112
19.6%

6.6%

22.3%

69.3%

88.3%

93.9%

81.3%

93.9%

69.5%

68.7%

68.7%

Cancer 28 day faster diagnosis
75%
71.5%
73.4%
71.4%
standard
*RTT 104 week wait performance standard was not reported in 20/21
**A&E 4-hour performance is not reported at a CCG level

73.6%

Mental health performance summary:
The following table provides the final South East London CCG position (where available)
for the following key mental health performance standards and targets. Where the final
position has not yet been published, the latest position is provided. The final 2020/21
position (March 2021) is also shown to provide a comparison against current year
performance.
•

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) access rate: This is the
number of people entering treatment as a percentage of the estimated prevalence
of people with common mental health disorders.

•

IAPT recovery rate: The percentage of people who have completed treatment and
are moving to recovery.

•

Dementia diagnosis: Diagnosis rate for people with dementia, expressed as a
percentage of the estimated prevalence.
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•

SMI physical health checks: The proportion of people on the GP serious mental
illness (SMI) registers who have received a comprehensive physical health
assessment in the 12 months to the end of the reporting period.

•

Children & Young People under the age of 18 who have had at least two contacts
from NHS funded mental health services as a proportion of those estimated to
have mental health needs.

•

The proportion of Children and Young People (CYP) with eating disorders (routine
cases) that wait four weeks or less from referral to start of NICE-approved
treatment.

•

The proportion of Children and Young People (CYP) with eating disorders (urgent
cases) that wait one week or less from referral to start of NICE-approved
treatment.

•

Inappropriate adult acute mental health Out of Area Placement (OAP) bed days:
The number of bed days for inappropriate Out of Area Placements (OAPs) in
mental health services for adults in non-specialist acute inpatient care.

•

Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) waiting times: First episode psychosis
treatment with NICE recommended package of care within two weeks of referral.

2021/22
Target

Period

Latest
position

March 2021

IAPT access rate

6.9%

Q3 2021/22

4.6%

4.6%

IAPT recovery rate

50%

Feb 2022

50.9%

55.1%

Dementia diagnosis

66.7%

Mar 2022

69.1%

66.6%

SMI physical health checks

60%

2021/22

33.4%

21.7%

CYP access

35%

Feb 2022

37.5%

33.5%

CYP eating disorder wait times – routine

95%

Mar 2022

41.2%

82.2%

CYP eating disorder wait times – urgent

95%

Mar 2022

27.3%

42.9%

0

Feb 2022

1,035

2,085

60%

Feb 2022

65.2%

68.7%

Metric

OAP bed days
EIP waiting times

For more detail on our work with partners to support performance delivery in these
areas, please refer to the performance analysis section below.
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3.2.

Performance analysis

This section outlines the CCG’s role in respect of the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Our ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic
The performance of commissioned providers against national performance
Standards
Assurance and improvement of quality and safety of care
Infection prevention and control and safeguarding activities
Work on engaging our local population
Promoting and addressing issues of equality
Supporting and developing our staff
Our financial performance
Highlights from our borough teams
Sustainable development
A forward view into 2022/23

3.2.1.

Our ongoing response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Much of the focus over the past 12 months has been the restoration of services,
meeting the new care demands and reducing the care backlogs that are a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the CCG has played a significant
role in facilitating the delivery of the COVID-19 vaccination programme.
Following the discovery of the Omicron variant, NHS England and NHS Improvement
(NHSE/I) declared a Level 4 National Incident on 13 December 2021. This was in
recognition of the impact on the NHS of both supporting the vital increase in the
vaccination programme and preparing for a potentially significant increase in COVID-19
cases.
For more details on how NHS South East London CCG has responded to the COVID-19
pandemic please visit: COVID-19 - South East London CCG (selondonccg.nhs.uk)

3.2.2.

Covid and Flu Vaccination Programme

On 8 December 2020 the South East London Integrated Care System (ICS) commenced
the Covid Vaccination Service in response to a national call to arms for the NHS to
initiate a UK-wide mass vaccination programme. This was to be a crucial component of
how we were to keep our residents and staff safe and start to combat COVID-19.
To date, across south east London we have delivered over 3.9 million COVID-19
vaccinations and in addition to this we have vaccinated almost 0.4 million residents
against flu.
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COVID-19 vaccination clinics were initially established by our hospital trusts within King’s
College Hospital (Kings), Guy’s and St Thomas’ hospital sites (GSTT), and Lewisham
and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT), and very soon there were services within all of our
boroughs. Our Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and community pharmacy colleagues
quickly established a significant network of clinics which enabled our residents to access
services close to home. Some of these were in NHS properties including community
clinics and GP practices, others transformed community venues such as mosques,
church halls, leisure and shopping centres, and civic centres.
A dedicated and committed workforce ensured that all of these centres were able to
meet the needs of their local community. This meant that many people needed to be
trained, not only to vaccinate but to support all of the other elements of the service from
the administration to the meet and greet and guiding the public through the
service. There was an amazing response and with the help of our whole system we
were able to mobilise a workforce made up of clinicians, vaccinators, pharmacists,
administrators, volunteers, and support staff. By January 2022 we had:
o
o
o

46 pharmacies (with a further 6 sites due to go live)
26 Primary Care Network (PCN) sites
6 vaccination centres run by three hospital trusts: Denmark Hill (King’s), Bromley
Civic Centre (King’s), Guy’s Hospital (GSTT), St Thomas’ Hospital (GSTT),
Lewisham Hospital (LGT), Queen Elizabeth Hospital Woolwich (LGT).

As the year went on more age cohorts became eligible with the school programme for
those children aged between 12-15 starting in October 2021 and continuing into the new
year.
In February 2022 those children aged 5-11 who were either clinically vulnerable or living
with someone who was immunosuppressed became eligible which resulted in many staff
and sites undertaking additional training and assurance.
During the past year we have seen some great examples of innovation and creativity
which have resulted in many people taking up the offer of vaccination as they felt they
had the right information to make their decision and trusted the service to look after
them. Buses were deployed, pop-ups popped up, supermarket pods emerged and civic
centres and town halls transformed into vaccination centres. We had some large events
including The Tate Modern, The Oval and Charlton Athletic and Millwall Football
Clubs. The services were welcomed into places of worship and workplaces to enable
local residents to access a vaccination at a convenient time in a familiar place.
The flu vaccination programme made use of lessons learnt from the 2020/21
programme, the largest ever flu vaccination programme in the UK, and the learning from
working closely with communities throughout the COVID-19 vaccination programme.
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Flu vaccination uptake is challenging in south east London, and this year 71.5 % of over
65 year olds, and 41.7 of under-65s at risk were vaccinated. However, we rolled out an
innovative campaign with Mumsnet, and Facebook Live events, which included live
access to expert clinical advice. This was aimed at families and those planning to start a
family, and also colleagues within maternity services in order to support them to have
conversations with these groups. This year, 7,167 pregnant women were vaccinated.
South east London has invested and made use of local pharmacies to reach out and
support people in having conversations about both vaccination programmes. Across the
boroughs, wider conversation have been undertaken around general health and
wellbeing with a focus on developing and nurturing relationships with our communities.
The system came together to support the needs of local residents and produced a
number of innovative multi-channel award-nominated and award-winning campaigns and
we are grateful to all the local people who have shared their thoughts, questions and
stories so openly.
Local Government and NHS teams came together to pool their resources and expertise
to reach into communities to share information on the vaccine and service
provision. Our public health colleagues utilised every opportunity to share detailed data
on take up so that local services could be planned and delivered at a hyper-local level.
During this time the services were also promoting and delivering flu vaccinations across
south east London through GP practices and community pharmacies.
The service continues to ensure that the offer of vaccination remains when our staff and
residents decide they would like to have it, in addition to providing services to any newly
eligible people and to those who require information to make their decision. It has been a
huge effort by many people and organisations and the residents of south east London
which has resulted in over 3.9 million COVID-19 vaccinations being given.
Our COVID-19 vaccination programme would not have been possible without the help of
our incredible volunteers, who worked tirelessly alongside staff to help protect the
population of south east London. We would like to thank them for all they have done,
and continue to do, to make this vital work possible, and are delighted that some have
since taken up permanent roles with us and the wider NHS.
3.2.3.

Provider performance

NHS Constitution standards and national performance indicators in 2021-22
The 2021/22 priorities and operational planning guidance identified six priorities for the
year:
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•

Supporting the health and wellbeing of staff and taking action on recruitment and
retention

•

Delivering the NHS COVID-19 vaccination programme and continuing to meet the
needs of patients with COVID-19

•

Building on what we have learned during the pandemic to transform the delivery
of services, accelerate the restoration of elective and cancer care and manage
the increasing demand on mental health services

•

Expanding primary care capacity to improve access, local health outcomes and
address health inequalities

•

Transforming community and urgent and emergency care to prevent inappropriate
attendance at emergency departments (ED), improve timely admission to hospital
for ED patients and reduce length of stay

•

Working collaboratively across systems to deliver on these priorities.

Acute and urgent and emergency care services
Elective care
The 2021/22 priorities and operational planning guidance asked systems to plan for the
highest possible level of elective activity. The updated guidance for the second half of
the financial year (H2) for 2021/22 set the ambition for systems to:
a. eliminate waits of over 104 weeks by March 2022 (except where patients choose to
wait longer),
b. hold or where possible reduce the number of patients waiting over 52 weeks,
c. stabilise waiting lists around the level seen at the end of September 2021.
With increased COVID-19 cases over winter 21/22 there was a high level of staff
sickness and self-isolation. At the height of the Omicron wave, some routine elective
activity was paused for a limited period of time.
South east London trust-wide referral to treatment performance (percentage of
incomplete pathways waiting less than 18 weeks) was consistently between 67% and
73% during 2021/22, which is below the 92% standard. There was an increase in waiting
list size over the year, with 227,058 patients on the waiting list in March 2022 compared
to 182,009 at the end of March 2021.
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The number of people waiting over 52 weeks decreased to 4,240 in March 2022,
compared to 13,915 at the end of March 2021. At the end of the year there remained a
cohort of 112 patients waiting more than 104 weeks across south east London providers.
All three south east London acute providers continue to work collectively under the
governance of the Acute Provider Collaborative (APC). Work is being carried out with the
APC to reduce the number of people waiting over 104 weeks to zero by the revised
deadline of the end of quarter 1 2022/23. This does not include patients who choose to
wait longer than 104 weeks.
SEL CCG continues to support the APC with the development of an SEL Patient
Tracking List (PTL). This PTL is updated on a weekly basis and allows detailed review
and monitoring of booking profiles, key procedures and will allow actionable reports to be
provided to the various elective recovery workstreams.
The south east London Planned Care Board, which brings together provider and
commissioner leads, meets on a monthly basis. Workstreams include the delivery of
clinical advice and guidance / clinical triage, patient initiated follow up (PIFU) and the use
of virtual and telephone appointments to help improve the planned care position.
Diagnostics
The March 2022 SE London Trust-wide diagnostic performance position was 6.6%,
which is above the target of 1%. Routine activity was stood down in December 2021 and
January 2022, due to the staffing shortages resulting from the latest covid wave.
In March 2022, 2,134 patients were waiting over 6 weeks. This is a reduction compared
to the 7,393 waiting in March 2021. Improvement plans and additional capacity and
activity are planned across acute and community sites to address this backlog during
2022/23.
Urgent and emergency care
The 2021/22 priorities and operational planning guidance set the following priorities for
the year:
a. Transforming community and urgent and emergency care to prevent inappropriate
attendance at emergency departments (ED),
b. improve timely admission to hospital for ED patients and reduce length of stay.
A&E attendances had dropped significantly during 2020/21 due to the earlier COVID-19
waves. Attendances increased during 2021/22 until October 2021 then decreased each
month to February 2022. However, attendance numbers increased again in March 2022
to 72,074 across south east London Trusts. This was the highest number of A&E
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attendances during 2021/22 and a large increase when compared to March 2021 when
there were 53,599 people attending A&E.
The south east London trust-wide performance against the standard of 95% of
attendances being admitted, transferred or discharged within four hours, deteriorated
during the first half of 2021/22. Performance stabilised from October 2021 to February
2022. However, performance deteriorated again in March 2022 to 69.3%.
Staff Covid-related absences added to ongoing capacity challenges at acute, mental
health and community providers and social care. This impacted the timely flow of
patients out of emergency departments and increased the number of 12-hour trolley
waits. In March 2022, there were 724 12-hour trolley waits across all south east London
trusts.
Provider and commissioner leads meet regularly to address performance issues,
improve flow and increase bed availability. Urgent and Emergency Care (UEC)
improvement plans and processes are in place at each acute provider and are closely
monitored to assess whether the plans and processes are effective.
Discharges from hospital continues to be an area of focus. During 2021/22 NHSE/I set a
target to reduce the number of patients not meeting ‘the criteria to reside in hospital’ but
were not discharged by 30%. Performance against this target was reviewed in January
and south east London (SEL) achieved the target. SEL continues to monitor
performance against this.
SEL CCG continues to work with mental health providers to develop and improve mental
health crisis services and to provide higher levels of care out of hospital. All south east
London sites with an emergency department are now delivering some mental health
assessment capacity so that presenting patients can be seen in an appropriate
environment away from the main emergency departments.
Cancer
The primary focus during the last year was backlog reduction and maintaining or
increasing activity levels (diagnostic, outpatients and treatments) and meeting the 28 day
Faster Diagnosis Standard (FDS).
During the most recent wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, patients on cancer pathways
continued to be prioritised and cancer services sustained. COVID-19 related staff
absences were high during the end of December 2021 and start of January 2022. In
response to this, the SEL Cancer Alliance stood up an urgent Clinical Prioritisation
Group.
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The trust-wide position for the percentage of patients seen within 2 weeks of an urgent
GP referral was 81.3% in March 2022 against a target of 93%. The percentage of
patients with first treatment within 62 days of urgent GP referral was 68.7%, against a
target of 85%.
The 2021/22 priorities and operational planning guidance set the objective to meet the
Faster Diagnosis Standard (FDS) from Q3, ensuring at least 75%
of patients will have cancer ruled out or diagnosed within 28 days of referral
for diagnostic testing. This was achieved as an overall position for south east London
trusts between June and August 2021. However, in March 2022 the trust-wide position
was 71.4% against this objective.
A number of service and process improvements made during the response to the first
wave of COVID-19 were continued in 2021/22. These include:
•

Adapting the Cancer IT system to support the national clinical prioritisation model

•

Relaunch of the holistic needs assessment for cancer patients

•

Faster roll out of virtual colorectal clinics which facilitate progressing patients
along their pathway in a more timely way

•

Improvements in the prostate joint clinic waiting time (a challenging area preCovid)

•

Improved attendance rates for virtual clinics

An SEL system Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) is now in place and workstreams
are monitored and reviewed via the Cancer 62 day Leadership Group. The PIP plan has
actions covering 2ww/FDS, 31 day / 62 day standards, backlog reduction, inter trust
transfers and whole pathway reviews.
Mental health care services
During 2020/21, the COVID-19 pandemic impacted the delivery of mental health care
services and the ability for patients to access them. Not only was the delivery of services
affected, COVID-19 is thought to have contributed to an increased demand for mental
health care.
The ambitions set out in the Mental Health Implementation Plan 2019/20–2023/24, which
sought to expand and transform services, remained the foundation for the NHS’s mental
health response to COVID-19. The plan required local systems to expand capacity,
improve quality and tackle the treatment gap.
A trajectory was agreed to improve the overall south east London access rate to IAPT
services to 6.9% by quarter four 2021/22. The trajectory was achieved in quarter one.

Page 26

However, performance deteriorated to 4.6%, below a trajectory of 6.25%, in quarter
three. This is the latest available data at the time of publication.
The overall south east London IAPT recovery rates and waiting times performance are
compliant with national targets. There remains, however, variation between providers. In
February 2022, south east London achieved a recovery rate of 50.9% which was above
the national target of 50%. IAPT services also delivered timely access to care with
90.1% of patients entering treatment in six weeks against a target of 75%, and 98.9% of
patients entering treatment in 18 weeks against a target of 95%.
From August 2021, NHS South East London CCG met the dementia diagnosis rate
target of 66.7%. In March 2022, the SEL performance was 69.1%.
Throughout 2021/22, the proportion of people on the severe mental illness (SMI) register
receiving an annual physical health check remained below the national standard of 60%.
Performance was impacted by the pandemic and the subsequent drop in face-to-face
GP appointments which are required to carry out some of the tests. Despite an
increased number of checks throughout the year (achieving 33.4% of people on GPs’
SMI registers by the end of 21/22) there is more to do to increase both service capacity
and uptake.
To help drive improvement longer term, the CCG has established a steering group which
has representation from across the SEL health system. The group has captured good
practice being implemented in parts of SEL and will be working with boroughs to
implement good practice more consistently across SEL to drive improvement. The
steering group will also oversee the implementation of a population health management
approach to improving the uptake of SMI physical health checks with an initial focus on
improving the capture and use of data.
The number of inappropriate out of area placements (OAPs) bed days in mental health
services has decreased significantly since March 2021. At the end of February 2022
there were 1,035 bed days reported which was, however, above the local plan of 450
and the national aim of eliminating OAPs by March 2022. Providers are focused on
reducing length of stay and improving flow within their inpatient wards to free up capacity
and reduce OAPs.
Performance against the Children and Young People (CYP) access standard was 37.5%
in February 2022 and is compliant with target. There are challenges in meeting CYP
eating disorder waiting times for both routine referrals and urgent referrals with
performance across 2021/22 of 41.2% and 27.3% respectively against a target of 95%.
Investment has been agreed to support capacity expansion and pathway and access
improvements.
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In February 2022 65.2% of patients in SEL were treated within two weeks of referral
achieving the target of 60% for Early Intervention In Psychosis (EIP) waiting times.
Learning Disability and autism
The Learning Disability and Autism (LDA) programme during 2021/22 continued to focus
on Long Term Plan (LTP) commitments and priority actions, working to achieve
mandatory priorities such as reducing reliance on inpatient care and annual health
checks (AHCs).
The LDA priority actions focus on:
•

Early intervention and admission prevention

•

Delivering co-ordinated care for people with learning disability and autism

•

Commissioning to improve community capacity

Last year the LDA programme focused on activities to reduce admission to hospital and
on Care, Education and Treatment Reviews (CETRs) to support discharge from hospital.
During 2021/22, there was a reduction in admissions to hospitals. This follows a
significant increase in the previous year. During 2021/22, the programme was able to
successfully discharge a large number of patients. The programme expected to end the
year close to the target of no more than 69 people with a learning disability, autism or
both, in a hospital providing specialist learning disability or mental health care.
Care Education Treatment Reviews (CETRs) completion remained steady allowing the
target to be achieved during the year. AHCs have been completed despite pressures in
general practice.
The LDA programme registered several key achievements over the course of the
year, which included:
•

A successful Learning Disability Big Health Week, which was hosted online for the
second year running.

•

Achievement of CETR targets.

•

Implementation of the South East London Education Care Treatment (SELECT)
Key working service – recruitment and operationalised.

•

Recruitment of additional Specialist Pharmacist role to ensure SEL-wide coverage
and support for Stopping The Over Medication of People with a learning disability,
autism or both / Supporting Treatment and Appropriate Medication in Paediatrics
(STOMP/STAMP) workstream and CETR process.

•

Commissioning of Autism Support Service multidisciplinary teams.
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•
•

3.2.4.

Adult autism spectrum disorder (ASD) waiting list clearance plans approved for
implementation
Extension of Positive Behaviour Service (PBS) for children and young people
contract and developed plans to procure a service for children and young people
up to 25 during 2022/23.
Quality Assurance of commissioned care

The Quality team have worked collaboratively with commissioned providers, particularly
to manage the impact on business as usual activities throughout the COVID-19
pandemic. The focus was on ensuring oversight to the most urgent and pressing of
issues.
The team continued to attend provider led Quality Committees as well as having informal
conversations to discuss areas of concern and risk. This process will also support future
ways of working as the CCG develop systems and processes to move towards the
establishment of integrated care boards.
The CCG has continued to review serious incidents and quality alerts which are
mechanisms used when the quality of services falls below acceptable standards and
patients may suffer from harm or not have the expected quality of service. Serious
Incident reporting supports our local services to investigate and identify “lessons” – the
things that we can do to prevent the incident reoccurring.
During 2021/22 the CCG was advised of 639 Serious Incidents across southeast London
commissioned services. 16 of these were “Never Events” - so called because they are
defined as wholly preventable and as such commissioned providers have failed to
implement national processes and guidance. The team also received 1264 quality alerts,
in 2021-22 an increase on 2020-21 which saw approximately 800.
When the quality of healthcare within a service in south east London raises concerns,
there is an escalation process in place to NHSE/I for support. The forum where this
occurs is the Joint Strategic Oversight Group. This London-wide group triangulates
known concerns in healthcare providers and members of the Group can co-ordinate
support to drive forward improvements.
The Local Maternity and Neonatal System Surveillance Committee has been convened
and had its inaugural meeting in December 2021. All providers of maternity services are
members of the committee and will support feedback on key themes and trends, and
lessons learned over the south east London system.
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3.2.5.

Infection Prevention and Control

Infection prevention and control (IPC) activities have focused on supporting health and
social care organisations in our continued response to COVID-19. Providing expert IPC
advice and support in situations as they arise for example, outbreaks and other COVID19 queries from primary care and community care settings. This also included close
working with Asylum seekers and refugees’ accommodation providers where visits were
made to assess IPC measures in place as well as compliance and to advise on
necessary IPC improvements where required.
Key IPC work programmes continued alongside the COVID-19 response. Presentations
and updates were provided at various meetings such as borough protected learning time
and practice nurse forums throughout the year. GP audits were conducted to advise and
support continued IPC improvements.
Introducing the MEG mobile app to primary care which is an audit and inspection module
which replaces a paper-based system, it will be used to support IPC compliance and
CQC readiness. The MEG app can be used on smartphones, desktop and tablet devices
making it easier to use anywhere. The app generates reports and quality improvements
plans accessible to all users once the audit has been completed. This would enable a
greater proportion of practices to be audited to provide assurance and improve quality
and patient safety. It also uses a quality improvement tool to generate action plans to
drive forward improvements.
The University of East London (UEL) Core Infection prevention and control (IPC) course
was commissioned for community staff with an interest in IPC to develop and assist in
undertaking IPC related activities within their workplace.
SEL CCG has developed and implemented a training programme for IPC champions in
general practice and care homes staff with an interest in IPC.
The South East London Integrated Care System Infection Prevention and Control (SEL
ICS IPC) forum was established in September 2020, initially weekly to support the
COVID-19 pandemic but now continues monthly to provide a platform for organisations
to share learning, identify risks and implement guidance in a consistent way across the
sector.
The forum developed an outbreak reporting template that was used by all south east
London commissioned providers to support COVID-19 outbreaks but will be used for all
outbreak reporting that have system and disruption to services implications. This report is
now being used across London. A monthly report is shared at the forum
to support partners from across the south east London system to identify patterns of
outbreaks across different care settings and share learning, intelligence, and
improvement across the system to inform ongoing improvement.
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To support infection, prevention and control ambitions locally and nationally and where
The NHS Standard Contract 2022/23 includes quality requirements for NHS foundation
trusts to minimise rates of both Clostridioides difficile (C. difficile) and Gram-negative
bloodstream infections to threshold levels set by NHSE/I. A monthly ICS Health Care
Associated Infection report was developed and is reviewed at the SEL ICS IPC forum to
ensure system oversight, early mitigations and sharing of learning/best practice.
3.2.6.

Safeguarding

The corporate responsibilities for safeguarding children and adults at risk are explicit and
are informed by legislation and national directives. Essential to corporate business is the
requirements defined in the statutory guidance on safeguarding and promoting the
welfare of adults and children under The Care Act 2014 and Section 11 of the Children
Act 2004.
We are statutorily responsible for ensuring that the organisations from which we
commission services provide a safe system that safeguards vulnerable adults and
children at risk of abuse or neglect. This includes specific responsibilities for looked after
children and the Child Death Overview process which includes sudden unexpected
death in childhood.
These duties include:
•

A clear line of accountability for safeguarding properly reflected in our
governance arrangements (i.e., having a named executive lead to take overall
leadership responsibility for the organisation’s safeguarding arrangements)

•

Ensuring that all health providers from which services are commissioned (both
public and independent sector) have comprehensive and effective single and
multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in place

•

Clear policies in place setting out our commitment, and approach, to
safeguarding including domestic abuse, workforce policy, supervision policy, safe
recruitment practices and arrangements for dealing with allegations against
people who work with children and adults as appropriate

•

A clear statement of our commitment to safeguarding adults and children and
modern slavery which is accessible to the public

•

Ensuring staff are trained in recognising and reporting safeguarding issues in line
with the intercollegiate document’s 1,2,3, appropriate supervision and ensuring
that their staff are competent to carry out their responsibilities for safeguarding

NHS South East London CCG’s safeguarding team are working to ensure we fulfil
these responsibilities and are responsive to national and local developments and
priorities. During 2021/22 we have made significant progress in work that aligns to both
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national priorities, as well as the priorities of Safeguarding Partnerships and NHS
England.
Key achievements and developments during the year include:
• continued development of the Safeguarding partnership
• continued delivery of the NHS South East London CCG Safeguarding sub-committee
To strengthen the developments of provider safeguarding oversight provider portfolios
were assigned to each of the borough safeguarding teams to prevent duplication and
promote stronger relationships.
•
•
•
•
•
•

Guys and St Thomas’s NHS Foundation Trust – Lambeth
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust - Southwark
Kings College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust – Bromley
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust – Bexley
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust - Greenwich
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust – Lewisham

Regional and national priorities have been identified and safeguarding designates have
taken lead responsibility for exploring learning and improvement within:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Domestic Abuse
Modern Slavery
Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR) / Serious Case Review (SCR) / Domestic
Homicide Reviews (DHR) themes and learning
Do not attempt cardiopulmonary resuscitation (DNA/CPR)
Child Sexual Abuse
Serious Youth Violence and Multi-agency Child Exploitation (MACE) panels

Asylum Seekers and Afghan Refugees Programme Board
SEL ICS now has 12 Home Office commissioned Initial Accommodation Centres and
Afghan Refugee Hotels across 4 boroughs. A board has been established with four
subgroups to oversee the quality and safeguarding of health services for the transient
population of circa. 1,816 adults and children.
Safeguarding Tracker activity
We are conducting analysis of historic SCRs, SARs, DHRs and have identified themes
and learning that can be shared across the 6 boroughs. When complete, this will form
part of our priorities for 2022/23.
NHSE/I have introduced a national safeguarding tracker that captures details on SCRs,
SARs and DHRs that is being rolled out across London CCGs/ICBs. This will improve
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future reporting, identifying trends and themes as well as providing the
opportunity to compare regional and national data.
Deep dives into both adult and children serious case reviews highlighted key priority
areas for SEL CCG/ICB highlighted in the table below for the year 2022/23.
Adults

Overlapping themes

CYP

Mental capacity

Neglect

Familial violence

Self-neglect

Think Family

Serious Youth violence

Lack of SG policies
and processes

Professional Curiosity

Sexual abuse

Care Leavers

Domestic Abuse

Child
criminal exploitation

Mental Health

SEND

Information sharing

Self-harm

Children Looked After
The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the children looked after population in numerous
ways: foster carer’s resigning, mental and emotional impact of not being able to see
birth family, significant delays in legal proceedings and therefore permanency planning.
The stand down of certain procedures has also meant delays in assessments. In south
east London, we are completing an audit to understand our looked after children’s
populations health needs to support working towards greater compliance of our
statutory duties. We have identified two issues: children placed out of borough (a longstanding challenge but increasing numbers) and young people in unregulated
placements (a significant increase emerging post pandemic). Unregulated placements
can impact the administration of prescribed medication amongst other challenges for
best health outcomes.
Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS)
A Designated Lead – Mental Capacity Act and Liberty Protection Safeguards has
begun in post and made good headway in ensuring readiness for LPS implementation.
The pandemic has delayed the publication of guidance and implementation date – now
October 2022. SEL have a working group including all stakeholders CHC, local authority
social services, providers and agreed process and pathways for LPS implementation.
This is ongoing work with training needs and IT systems being discussed.
Special Education Needs and Disabled people (0 – 25 years) SEND
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The duties for SEL CCG fall under the Children and Families Act 2014, Equality Act
2010, NHS Act 2006, Health and Social Care Act 2012, Care Act 2014 are to:
•
•
•

•
•

Commission services jointly for children and young people (up to age 25) with
SEND, including those with Education Health and Care (EHC) plans
Work with the Local Authorities to contribute to the local offer of services
available
Ensure that health providers inform parents and the appropriate local authority
where they think that a young child under compulsory school age has, or
probably has, special educational needs and/or a disability
Have mechanisms in place to ensure practitioners and clinicians support the
integrated EHC needs assessment process
Agree personal budgets, where they are provided for those with EHC plans.

We are using the NHSEI maturity matrix to evaluate the SEL SEND landscape and
identify areas for development. There is a mixed picture across the 6 boroughs with
developing collaboration and sharing of best practice. We are developing the interface
and collaborations with the Learning Disability and Autism programme. The team have
been members on the ICS Oversight Panels for the Safe & Wellbeing reviews completed
by the Learning Disability and Autism programme.
3.2.7.

Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Borough-level joint strategic needs assessments and health and wellbeing strategies
identify borough-specific issues and challenges related to the health and wellbeing of
local communities. The delivery of these plans attempts to address some of these
issues.
The CCG contributes to the development and delivery of a Health & Wellbeing strategy
in all SEL boroughs. The CCG’s operational plans additionally identify a number of
issues across south east London which are reflected in the varied challenges of
improving the health and wellbeing of local people. These issues relate to the safety,
quality, effectiveness and accessibility of health services. SEL partners recognise that
health and wellbeing of our communities is best addressed by collective action across
the health and integrated care system.
Examples of work targeted at supporting people to improve health and wellbeing in SEL
boroughs is reflected in individual borough highlights (pages 53 to 69).
3.2.8.

Engaging with our local population

Working with partner organisations to engage with local communities to build confidence
in the COVID-19 vaccines was a key focus of engagement activity in the first part of the
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year with a range of activity taking place across all boroughs in south east London,
including:
•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Engaging with faith leaders and organisations to have vaccination clinics in
mosques, temples and churches and to host webinars to address confidence in
the vaccine and answer questions.
Deep dive conversations / listening events with, for example, Nepalese, Somali,
West African, Caribbean, Latin American, LGBTQ+, migrant refugees and
asylum seekers, Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities.
Deep dive insight work with young people, seldom heard and underserved
communities.
Supporting the development of community champions programmes and their
engagement in supporting the roll out of the vaccine programme.
Working with specific younger people’s organisations to do deep dive focus
groups with young people to gain insight.
Face to face engagement at information pods, outside supermarkets and on the
streets.
Listening events / working with local organisations such as Black Thrive Lambeth
to understand lack of vaccine confidence across our local communities.
Working with voluntary and community sector organisations to organise specific
sessions to listen and talk to people with learning disabilities, mental health
needs and carers.
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You can read more about engagement in the vaccination programme in the paper that was
discussed at the CCG’s Engagement Assurance Committee in May 2021, which is
available on the NHS SEL CCG website. Slides and recording of webinars that have taken
place on a south east London basis are available on the COVID-19 vaccination programme
working with people and communities page of the CCG’s website.
The CCG engagement team continues to support the development of the Engagement
Assurance Committee, following on from the successful recruitment of a diverse public
membership the previous year. Membership includes Healthwatch, the clinical lead for
engagement, the CCGs lay member for patient and public involvement, who chairs the
Committee. The committee has met six times this year to provide assurance on the CCG’s
engagement activity and agenda items have included the CCG’s engagement self
assessment as part of the assurance process with NHS England, the internal audit on
stakeholder engagement, ratifying the CCG’s expenses policy, discussing and informing
the ICS approach to working with people and communities which is a standing agenda
item.
Following the publication of the Integrated Care System (ICS) implementation guidance on
working with people and communities, we set up a steering group chaired by Anu Singh,
Director of Patient and Public Participation at NHS England, as sponsor, to develop the
ambition for this area of work in south east London. Steering group membership included
local people, engagement practitioners across partner organisations, the CCG’s lay
member for patient and public involvement and a colleague from a local university. In
addition to ongoing conversations with the membership of the CCG’s Engagement
Assurance Committee, discussions have also taken place with the Healthwatch South East
London Patient Group, the South London Partnership Portfolio Board, the newly
established ICS Engagement Practitioners’ Network and the ICS Executive. Discussions
have centred around accountability and governance around engagement; the need to
engage with people from communities who experience the greatest health inequalities, who
may have trust and confidence issues in health and care services and from whom we do
not traditionally hear; broadening the reach of our engagement work and the need to
include people with lived experience in programme decision making. These discussions
have shaped the emerging vision, mission and operating principles for working with people
and communities.
In early 2022, the ICS commenced a project with local community organisations to carry out
funded community engagement work with communities and people across south east
London to understand how people’s day to day life affects their health and wellness, what
makes it difficult, what health and care services could do to make it easier and what do we
need to do differently to support people to share their experiences and views and work with
us to make a difference. The outcomes of this engagement will inform the ICS working with
people and communities strategy and the development of the ICS strategic plan.
The community engagement work builds on discussions that took place at two public
engagement webinars about the creation of the South East London Integrated Care System
in early March 2022, which had 170 people in attendance. Discussions and questions
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focussed on outlining what an ICS is and understanding the added benefit that working as
an integrated care system brings to local people. Conversation was encouraged via use of
an interactive poll, with the option to ask questions and comments virtually via the webinar
link. The draft ICS constitution was also sent out to everyone who registered for their
comments. A recording of the 1 March webinar is available here and you can listen to a
recording of the 9 March webinar here. Further information is also available on the CCGs
website - Residents given the opportunity to find out more about the creation of a new
statutory integrated care system - South East London CCG (selondonccg.nhs.uk)
The webinars aimed at members of the public followed on from two webinars that took
place earlier on in the year for the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector
(VCSE) which were planned and delivered in partnership with the six borough VCSE
umbrella organisations. The sessions covered topics such as what is the ICS and the work
that is taking place with the sector to develop a VCSE leadership role on a south east
London basis and the structures to support this role. The sessions were well received with
more than 100 VCSE organisations and groups in attendance.
The ICS has set up a Diabetes and Obesity Delivery Board (DODB) and has recruited
people living with diabetes to form a south east London group of community members with
lived experience of diabetes or pre-diabetes. The purpose of the group is to feed
community members’ views and voices into the delivery board and local diabetes boards on
how to improve healthcare and experiences for individuals living with diabetes and/or
obesity and to provide expertise and knowledge on ways to reach different communities
across south east London, particularly those most impacted by health inequalities. A key
area of work of the delivery board over the next few months will be to develop an outcomes
framework which will include outcomes that matter to local people living with diabetes or
pre-diabetes. The delivery board working with the group of community members has
commissioned a local trusted voice organisation to carry out community engagement to
listen to local people living with diabetes or who are prediabetic to understand what is
important to them and to develop I statements to inform the outcomes framework.
In December 2021 the South East London Dermatology Network carried out two focus
groups to gain input and feedback from the public regarding the proposed teledermatology
pathway. Participants were also sent a draft leaflet and an example outcomes letter to
read beforehand to discuss in the focus groups. Feedback on the proposed pathway was
positive and seen as an exciting way of screening. Useful feedback was received on the
leaflet and letter including the use of language and the need for diagrams and pictures.
Participants have continued to comment electronically on further iterations of the leaflet and
are interested in heaping with the production of a video to explain the new proposed
pathway to other patients. You can read a report of the focus groups on the CCG website
here.
The ICS is developing a Musculoskeletal (MSK) Network that will review the MSK pathway
across the six boroughs in south east London. As part of the development of the network
and to understand the views of people to inform the review, two workshops with people with
lived experience of MSK conditions took place on 29 March (daytime) and 31 March 2022
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(evening). We also discussed setting up a MSK patient group to provide a lived experience
voice to this work and participants were invited to become members.
The CCG / ICS is developing an online engagement platform Let’s Talk Health and Care
South East London to help us broaden our reach and help make it easier for people to give
their views and experiences. The platform has a number of ways in which we will be able
to gather views including open and closed chat functions, quick polls, question and
answers, giving stories and ideas. The platform also enables us to use videos, photos and
images so our projects can be more accessible and engaging. The CCG / ICS has also
been awarded funding form NHS England to develop a People’s Panel which will be hosted
on this platform.
3.2.9 Patient experience, complaints, and Patient Advice and Liaison Services
As part of our commitment to continually improve the quality of local health services we
value all feedback we receive, either as a compliment or a complaint. This information is
used to help us manage our performance and highlight any areas where we could make
improvements. All complaints received are responded to individually via our complaints
process.
Our complaints policy and procedure has adopted the principles as outlined in the
Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman’s principles of good complaints handling,
principles of good administration and principles of remedy.
We work closely with local health service providers, monitoring the standard of complaints
handling, ensuring all complainants are informed of their statutory rights under the NHS
Constitution. This includes being given the information about the NHS complaints service
provided by a local advocacy team and the option to take their complaint to the
Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman if they are not satisfied with the way the complaint
has been dealt with.
The complaints we receive and manage are about the services we commission locally,
whilst complaints about GP services are handled by NHS England.
Last year, between 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, we received 237 formal complaints. Of
these, 81 related to issues for which CCG is responsible for investigating and responding
to. We also received 156 complaints relating to issues which we are not directly responsible
for, which were forwarded to the appropriate organisation for investigation and reply. These
included complaints for NHS provider Trusts, GPs, dentists and community pharmacies.
For those complaints that were within the CCG's remit, the most commonly complained
about areas were:
•
•
•

Continuing healthcare (assessment for eligibility process, payment),
Mental health commissioning (access to services, availability and funding)
Individual Funding Requests - Assisted conception (eligibility criteria)
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The CCG recognises the importance of complaints and aspires to resolve all at a local
level. However, there are occasions when complainants remain unhappy with the outcome
of our investigations and approach the Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO)
for a review of their concerns. Of the complaints we received in 2021/22, one case has
been referred to the PHSO.
We very much value the views of patients and other people who experience the services
we commission. We consider any complaint or enquiry about these services as a vital part
of reviewing and, where necessary, improving them. Our Patient Experience service
(including complaints and Patient Advice and Liaison Services (PALS)) provides valuable
insight into the day-to-day experiences of patients accessing and using the services we
commission.
This intelligence is used throughout the CCG in planning future services, quality monitoring
and service improvement. Softer intelligence is discussed on a weekly basis at Senior
Team meetings and escalated which helps identify issues early and minimise any adverse
impact for patients and the public.
Patient Advice and Liaison Services
Patient Advice and Liaison Services (PALS), which are led by our Patient Experience team
always listen carefully to the concerns raised by patients and provide advice where
possible, as to the best way forward for the patient or member of the public. Whilst it is not
always possible to resolve a concern to the service user’s satisfaction, the Patient
Experience team can give information about support services and voluntary organisations
that may be able to help. We believe that a successful PALS service helps reduce anxiety
for those who use our services and helps people navigate the health and care system,
whilst also reducing the number of issues that go on to become formal complaints.
The Complaints and PALS service also deal with a significant number of enquiries and
informal concerns, from MPs. During 2021/22 there were 306 such contacts. The areas
giving rise to most contacts were COVID-19 and primary care access.

3.2.10 Focus on equalities, diversity and managing health inequalities

Meeting our equalities and health inequalities legal duties
This section explains how the CCG has discharged its duty under Section 14T of the
National Health Service Act, having regard to the need to reduce inequalities and ensuring
compliance with the specific duties of the Equality Act 2010. The CCG publishes a Public
Sector Equality Duty (PSED) Report annually. The report outlines how the CCG is
considering equalities and health inequalities in all it functions. It also includes an update on
actions to address our equality objectives. The 2021/22 report can be found here.
Equalities governance
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An Equalities Committee was established in 2020 as a sub-committee to the Governing
Body (GB) to oversee and progress equalities activities in the CCG. The committee has a
workforce and patient equalities focus and is co-chaired by a GB lay member with
responsibility for equality and diversity and patient and public involvement and clinical lead.
The committee meets monthly bringing together a broad range of representatives from
across the CCG including quality, human resources, organisational development, patient
and public engagement, and members from the Integrated Care System, Healthwatch and
chair of our BME staff network. The committee provides leadership, oversight and
accountability on matters related to equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI).
Through the development of an annual workplan, the CCG ensures all statutory duties and
reporting are undertaken and that the CCG is embedding a culture of EDI through all its
functions. This includes monitoring progress of equality objectives, deep dives into
commissioning areas of special interest to the group and reporting to the Governing Body
on progress.
Demonstrating equalities progress
In 2021/22 significant progress has been made in implementing the CCGs Equalities
Delivery Plan (EDP) which sets out a series of commitments against specific objectives.
Each commitment has an executive/governing body member lead, with specified targets
and delivery dates. External ICS commitments are also included in this plan, with monthly
reporting on progress.
The EDP has recently completed an annual review and refresh with progress reported
through several channels including the monthly Equalities Committee, Race Equality
Executive, Race Equality Forum and other forums and meetings where relevant. The
progress of the implementation of the EDP has also been discussed at each of our public
Governing Body meetings.
Equality Assessment process (EA)
In 2020 we implemented a refreshed and strengthened Equality Assessment (EA) process
to understand the potential impact of proposed service change or policy developments on
protected groups, also covering health inequalities and human rights. A toolkit has been
developed which is for use by commissioners and policy authors to support them to
demonstrate how they have considered any consequences in relation to legal duties.
In addition, a suite of EA training to support awareness and develop skills to carry out
assessments has been designed and delivered. Sessions cover different roles in the
process, with one course supporting EA authors and another for EA reviewers.
Reducing health inequalities
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The CCG aims to reduce health inequalities and improve health outcomes for its patients.
This involves ensuring thorough engagement with, and drawing on, the expertise of
residents, patients, services providers and third sector organisations. This is critical in
shaping services that are high quality, value for money and that reflect the needs of our
diverse population.
Part of our role as a CCG is to reduce inequalities between patients in the access,
experience, and outcomes of the services. To help us respond to health inequalities in the
population, equality assessments (EAs) are carried out for all services we commission. EAs
identify the likely positive and negative impacts on different groups of people locally. They
also identify actions to spread positive impacts more widely, and to avoid or reduce
negative impacts on any groups of people.
The CCG is also working with the ICS to develop plans for integrated care. ICS working
promotes a ‘joined up’ and collaborative approach with partners across south-east London
and provides a platform to tackle deep-rooted health inequalities addressing wider social
determinants to improve population health.
The ICS population health and equality programme has 3 (inter-related) areas of work:
1. Population Health Management (PHM): developing a PHM infrastructure and
ensuring the approach is adopted by Primary Care Networks.
2. Prevention and Equalities: includes work to identify priority initiatives to address ‘the
Vital 5’ (smoking, alcohol, obesity, high blood pressure and mental health)
3. Making the most of our assets: establishing a SEL People Board and undertaking
work to promote and benefit from the Anchor system concept

The following case studies demonstrate the CCGs commitment to addressing health
inequalities:
Population Health Management (PHM) transformation pilots
A series of pilots are being rolled out to support a system-wide approach to PHM. Eight
pilot ‘PHM transformation pilots’ projects have been selected on the basis they are
‘powerful’ enough to influence change and ICS development, have ‘possible’ achievements
which can be realised now and are ‘participative’ by supporting ICS development and build
momentum by requiring teams from different organisations to work together on a common
problem. They enable us to learn through action.
Projects include:
• Learning Disability health checks: ensuring proactive health and care for a
population facing healthcare inequalities.
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•
•

Diabetes: high clinical significance and incidence particularly amongst
disadvantaged populations
Vaccination programme: a Covid vaccination and booster programme which
addresses inequalities.

Vaccine Programme
In the midst of responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, we continued to deliver services –
often adapting them – to continue reducing health inequalities. It became apparent very
early on that certain people were disproportionately affected by the COVID-19 virus. We
used the learning from this evidence to target certain groups for vaccination.
Lack of vaccine confidence stems from a number of different reasons, including
misinformation, mistrust in the NHS or deep-seated cultural beliefs. SEL has run
engagement initiatives, such as webinars, outreach to community and faith groups to
provide accurate information and answer questions.
The programme has also delivered vaccine clinics in a range of community and faith
settings to encourage take up including roving models such as the Greenwich Bus, the
vaccination van in Southwark, satellite clinics in mosques, temples and churches. GPs are
also having one-to-one conversations with patients to improve uptake and there are also a
number of initiatives with community champions/ambassadors across the boroughs around
having conversations about the vaccine.
South East London Maternity Network System (LMNS)
Evidence has shown that maternal and perinatal mortality rates are higher for women,
birthing people and their babies if they are Black, Asian, mixed-race and/or living in
deprivation, compared to white women, and that mortality involving COVID-19
disproportionately affects those from an ethnic minority background. In light of this
evidence LMNS have been working on a number of projects and initiatives to raise
awareness and make changes to redress the balance and ensure women and families from
ethnic minorities receive appropriate, evidence based and unbiased care:
•

•

To develop pathways, prioritising the offer of continuity of carer, to women and birthing
people from ethnic minorities, those living in the most deprived areas and those most
vulnerable within our local population.
Implementation of perinatal support for ethnic minority women and birthing people
during the COVIID-19 pandemic including: improved communication highlighting the
increased chance of being unwell with Covid, in particular the use of infographics
helping to share this important information; increasing clinician’s awareness in regard to
a lower threshold around care provision for pregnant ethnic minorities with COVID-19;
ensuring the recommendation of Vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy and
accurate collection of each Trust’s ethnicity data.
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•

•

An inequalities working group has been established to focus on perinatal support for
women and birthing people from ethnic minorities and those living in deprivation during
COVID-19 and beyond. This working group is made up of clinicians and Maternity
Voices Partnership (MVP) representatives.
The LMNS held a webinar ‘Increasing Equity in Maternity Services’ attended by over
150 people across London. We have commissioned FiveXMore Training (cultural
awareness/sensitivity training) for staff of Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT)
and Kings College Hospital (KCH) following the successful delivery of this at Guys and
St Thomas (GSTT). Colourful wallets, with particular messaging targeting Black, Asian
and Ethnic Minority women and birthing people, were implemented for use across KCH.

Addressing health inequalities in north Lewisham
North Lewisham Primary Care Network (NLPCN) covers 80,000 residents in South-East
London. Our population has a high proportion of non-white and migrant residents, high
levels of socioeconomic deprivation and high prevalence of inclusion health groups. There
is low uptake of health promotion, high burden of cardiovascular disease and lower life
expectancy compared to national averages.
NLPCN have developed an innovative programme to address these health inequalities,
placing co-production and community engagement at the centre. Initial steps included rapid
engagement of 115 community organisations on their views on the causes of health
inequalities.
Current work streams include:
1) improving access to GP services through training administrators and reviewing
triage/appointment booking systems.
2) Co-creating and running a community forum to engage the local community and coproduce our purpose, vision and strategy.
3) Hiring a social prescribing community link worker specifically to be the bridge between
primary care and the community.
4) Developing a data strategy to identify and proactively manage residents at risk of health
inequalities.
Outcomes from this programme include: greater engagement in north Lewisham through
the development of two community forums; improved vaccine take up and an increase in
targeted health checks; creation of PCN wide messaging on GP access and a series of
workshops to develop administration access champions; and development of a data
strategy, piloted and being expanded across NLPCN.
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Equalities in the workplace
The CCG has developed a comprehensive programme of learning, development,
engagement and health and wellbeing support for staff in 21/22. Further information about
staff engagement and organisational development activities can be found on page 46.
All CCG staff are required to undertake equality and diversity training on appointment,
which is refreshed every three years, this includes PREVENT (safeguarding those
vulnerable to radicalisation) awareness training.
The CCG uses a blended approach of staff engagement and equality data to implement
equality actions. These actions focus on levelling up the core offer for all staff and actions
focused on individual characteristics.
Other discrete projects have included commissioning equalities training for the Governing
Body and staff, a review of equalities in recruitment and selection and developing a
programme around menopause in the workplace.
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)
The NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) highlights the differences between
the experience and treatment of white and black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) staff
with the aim of closing any identified gaps. The WRES requires NHS organisations to
demonstrate progress against nine race equality indicators.
In September 2021, SEL CCG published its second WRES report for the financial year April
2020-March 2021, covering all six boroughs. Overall BAME staff representation has
increased from 33% to 36% since the previous report. This has allowed us to share
learnings across boroughs, as well as throw collective weight behind addressing some of
the embedded equalities issues this data identifies. The WRES Action Plan has been
developed using data and staff lived experience to understand key themes and priority
areas for action, with the majority of proposed actions based on staff feedback.
In 2021/22, progress has been made in improving the diversity of the workforce particularly
at senior levels through use of a specialist recruitment agency, carrying out a recruitment
audit to de-bias and improve recruitment and selection processes, improving leadership
and staff understanding of the issues facing ethnic minority staff through dedicated training,
and in better supporting ethnic minority staff to progress internally through coaching and
mentoring schemes. Our Beyond BAME group and Race Equality Forum have also been
key channels to engage with staff.
The NHS South East London CCG 2021 WRES Report and Action Plan can be found here.
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Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES)
The Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES), introduced in 2019, is a data-based
standard which uses a series of measures (Metrics) to compare the experiences of
disabled and non-disabled staff in the NHS.
Results of the annual NHS staff survey show that disabled staff consistently report higher
levels of bullying and harassment and less satisfaction with appraisals and career
development opportunities. The purpose of the WDES is to improve the experience of
disabled staff working in, and seeking employment in, the NHS.
SEL CCG introduced and published its first WDES in November 2021. This report is nonmandatory, and the CCG wanted to demonstrate a clear commitment to promoting disability
equality by voluntarily completing this standard. From 1 April 2022, the CCG will also
advertise all vacancies using a disability focused jobs boards called Evenbreak.
The CCG has also signed up to the Sunflower Hidden Disabilities scheme and will be using
this scheme and resources to promote a better understanding of hidden long-term illnesses
and creating a more compassionate workplace.
During the development of the WDES report the CCG raised awareness of the WDES
through all staff briefings and networks, improved disability declaration rates on Employee
Staff Records (ESR) encouraging staff to complete the NHS Staff Survey and setting up
WDES engagement with the Age and Ability Staff Champions group and also an all staff
session with 100 attendees.
The WDES Action Plan has been developed using NHS Staff Survey, ESR, and recruitment
and selection data with input from key stakeholders, including staff with a disability or longterm condition. As part of drawing up the plan we considered best practice examples from
other NHS employers.
The SEL CCG 2021 WDES Report and Action Plan can be found here.
Gender Pay Gap reporting
All organisations within the United Kingdom with more than 250 employees have been
required since April 2017 to publish details of their gender pay gap. The specific
requirements of the Equality Act 2010 Act (Gender Pay Gap Regulations) 2017 are to
publish information for six specific measures.
This is the second year that the CCG is publishing data on Gender Pay. Some areas of
focus for the CCG have included: actively monitoring the staff representation level and
recruitment appointments compared to south east London population demographics and
any proportional positive action to take to address any under-representation; analysed
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Governing Body representation and pay; reviewing the lived experience data of staff
through the NHS Staff Survey results; holding an engagement session with female
colleagues to discuss gender equality issues.
The CCG pays females and males the same pay (equal pay) however there is a 12%
average hourly “typical” pay differential. The significant driver for this differential is the
representation of males in lower paid roles at the CCG. The staff engagement feedback
also raised suggestions to improve inclusivity at work.
The planned actions that have been developed are from a blend of staff feedback and data
analysis. Further details can be found in the CCG’s 2021-22 Gender Pay Gap Report and
Action Plan can be found here.

3.2.11 Staff Engagement and Organisational Development Activities
Organisational development in 2021/22
The continued focus of organisational development (OD) in 2021/22 has been on
supporting the workforce through the pandemic and roll-out of the vaccination programme.
This has included:
• Ensuring that staff have access to health and wellbeing tools to support their
physical and mental wellbeing, with a dedicated fortnightly health and wellbeing
newsletter issued to all staff
• Coordinating the redeployment of staff to support the COVID-19 vaccination
programme
• Asking staff for their feedback on home working and planning the return to office
working
• Continued coordination of staff engagement activities, with a focus on equalities
In addition, the OD team has also been supporting the change management processes
relating to the move to Integrated Care Systems.
Staff engagement – staff champions
Despite the pressures facing our workforce to deliver the vaccination programme across
south east London, staff engagement has continued to be a priority for our organisation.
The diagram below highlights the staff engagement groups in place and how they feed
into the wider executive committees:
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In addition to creating a safe space for members of staff to share their lived experience,
the staff champion groups had made the following progress by March 2022:
Staff
champion
group

2021/22 progress
•

Staff network

•
•
•

Beyond BAME
•
•
•

Inputting into the development of a ‘violence and aggression –
health and safety strategy’, as well as the establishment of a
health and safety committee
Return to office working engagement and the coordination of allstaff surveys
The NHS staff survey – resulting in the CCG having one of the
highest completion rates in London (see section below for
figures)
Implementing a development programme focusing on:
o Coaching – five Black, Asian and Minority ethnic staff
completing and passing an advanced certificate in
executive coaching to strengthen the CCG’s coaching
offer
o 80 staff benefitted from four self-development sessions,
which focused on self-awareness, situational awareness,
reflective listening and empathy
o Implementing mediation training (which will commence in
2022)
Launched a podcast for staff titled ‘Done with race?’
Supporting actions from the Workforce Race Equality Standard
The development of agendas for the CCG-wide Race Equality
Forums (REFs) – which have taken place monthly throughout
the year
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•

LGBTQ+ staff
champions

•

•

Women and
•
parent leaders’
staff champion
group
•
Age and ability •
champions

•
Sustainability
champions

Supported by the CCG’s senior responsible officer for equalities,
LGBTQ+ staff champions held a CCG-wide event to mark ‘Pride
in the NHS week’, which led to more staff joining the group and
electing a chair – more than 100 staff attended the event to
learn more about the lived experiences of staff
In support of the CCG’s work on the transgender agenda (which
will be a priority for the group in 2022), the group championed a
briefing paper for all staff, which explained the importance of
pronouns to mark National Pronoun Day
Helped to raise awareness of the LGBTQ+ work plans by
celebrating LGBT history month – all staff had access to a
newsletter full of useful resources e.g. book recommendations,
podcasts
Champions have spent time supporting the development of a
menopause policy and plan to launch it with all CCG staff by
implementing a series of engaging training
Champions supported a CCG-wide engagement event focusing
on the Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES), which
more than 100 members of staff attended
The group have championed a series of recommendations to
support WDES progress in future years e.g., development of
case studies of our staff and implementing the Sunflower
Project (globally recognised symbol for non-visible disabilities),
specialist training for leadership teams
Despite this group only being established in December 2021,
staff have improved sustainability by focusing on our office
space i.e. looking to improve recycling facilities, reduction in
single use plastics and printing, and looking to refresh the cycle
to work scheme and identify a cycle to work champion. Staff
have also made individual sustainability pledges as part of a
wider project involving staff from organisations across the SEL
health community.

Staff engagement – briefings and surveys
A programme of staff engagement has continued in 2021/22 to ensure staff – who have
predominantly been working from home – felt connected and had a clear understanding
of the organisation’s priorities. Every other month, all staff are invited to join a south east
London-wide briefing, where the accountable officer and other key staff provide relevant
updates. Staff briefings also take place in south east London-wide directorates and with
borough-based teams lead by directors.
Throughout the year, staff have been invited to take part in surveys to help the executive
team understand:
• How staff could be better supported to work from home
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•
•

The health and wellbeing of staff and what activities could support their physical
and mental wellbeing
How staff felt about returning to the office – both short term and longer-term
approaches

The national NHS staff survey also took place in 2021, reflecting on the 2020/21 year.
The CCG undertook the staff survey with Picker – 39 other CCGs also used Picker to
conduct their independent survey. The CCG also receives benchmarking data of its
results against 52 CCGs who took part in the staff survey, which is analysed by the NHS
Staff Survey team.

Four hundred and forty-one staff members (out of 518) completed the survey, providing
a response rate of 85%, which is above the medium average (78%) of the 52 CCGs we
are benchmarked against. NHS South East London CCG had the highest response rate
in London.
In terms of the results:
•

Most improved scores are linked to teams having a set of shared objectives,
organisation acting fairly on career progression, immediate managers giving clear
feedback on work and having adequate materials/supplies

•

Most declined scores link to people feeling enthusiastic about their job, satisfied with
flexible working patterns and adequate adjustments

The results of the NHS Staff Survey are measured against the seven People Promise
elements and against two of the themes reported in previous years (staff engagement
and morale). The results of the staff survey for the South East London Integrated Care
System, which includes NHS South East London CCG, are comparable with scores
across London ICSs.

Appraisals, training and development
The OD team has continued to work with teams across the organisation to remind them
about the importance of the CCG’s appraisal process, which was co-produced with staff
in 2020.
The CCG is committed to developing a learning culture where work-based learning is
considered equal to formal learning and is valued and recognised as an essential part of
the individual’s Continuing Professional Development. The CCG relaunched its training
programme in June 2021 with a supportive framework, which helps staff and their line
managers apply for funding for courses. Each month, a panel made up of the chief
financial officer (also the CCG’s equalities lead), director of commissioning system
reform and the assistant director of organisational development, meet to discuss the
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applications submitted. Where the course is above a certain value, the panel is extended
to include a governing body GP clinical lead and the chair of the Beyond BAME staff
group. This is to ensure that there is equity where decisions for the funding of a course is
required. The panel also requires staff to have completed their appraisal, and evidence
that the course is required via a personal development plan. The equalities committee
has been updated on the first six months of this new process to ensure it is inclusive and
accessible.
The CCG has also piloted a coaching programme, which more than 20 members took
advantage of. The programme was commissioned to provide three 60minute coaching sessions. The results of this pilot will be used in 2022/23 to develop an
in-house coaching offer.
Staff health and wellbeing
The CCG has continued its focus on staff health and wellbeing throughout the pandemic
and in addition, this was an area of the 2019/20 staff survey which required more
support.
Some of the tangible activities that have taken place in 2021/22 include:
• Supporting managers via line manager training to have health and wellbeing
conversations – in line with the NHS People Plan.
• Fortnightly newsletters distributed to all staff promoting the services, tools and
apps available to the workforce. These newsletters also include videos from
members of the leadership team to promote messages of health and wellbeing
whilst staff have been working from home.
• Focus on mental health awareness days promoting local services staff are able to
access e.g. IAPT and low-level counselling.
• Providing staff with the equipment they need to be able to comfortably work from
home – in line with the health and safety (Display Screen Equipment) regulations.
• Virtual exercise classes (outside of work time) e.g. yoga and High-Intensity
Interval Training (HIIT) classes to encourage staff to be more active and step
away from their home-working environment.
• Working with South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM) to
implement the emotional and wellbeing called ‘Keeping Well in SEL’.
• Delivered in-house line manager training in attendance management/stress
management in the workplace.
• Embedded a new occupational health and employee assistance programme.
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3.2.12 Financial performance

The CCG commissions healthcare services to meet the needs and improve the health of
the population of South East London. The main NHS providers are Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Trust, Guy’s and St.Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, Kings College
NHS Foundation Trust, South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust; and Oxleas
NHS Foundation Trust. In addition, the CCG funds the prescribing costs of South East
London GP practices and holds delegated responsibility, from NHS England, for
commissioning primary care services within South East London.
During 2021/22 the CCG has continued to operate within national funding and
contracting arrangements put in place to ensure that the NHS had the necessary
resources to support delivery of the wider COVID-19 pandemic response. During the
year, the CCG has received funding to support its core healthcare services; plus
additional funding to support the health economy in its wider COVID-19 response; and
specific funding relating to patients discharged from hospital, to ensure patient flow from
hospital was maximised.
Within this environment the CCG has delivered a breakeven position for 2021/22. This is
in line with the expected reporting position.
The CCG is required to achieve several specific financial targets. These are summarised
in the table below:
CCG financial targets 2021/22

Target
(£’000’s)
Deliver statutory

Agreed Surplus

0

Page 51

Actual
(£000’s)
462

Achieved

financial duties

Deliver
administrative duty
under the better
payments practice

Expenditure not to
exceed income

4,089,175

4,088,713

Achieved

Operate Under
Resource Revenue
Limit

4,050,994

4,050,532

Achieved

Not to exceed Running
Cost Allowance

36,863

36,602

Achieved

Operate under Capital
Resource Limit

-

-

n/a

95% of NHS creditor
payments within 30
days

95%

97.63%

Achieved

95% of non-NHS
creditor payments
within 30 days

95%

97.03%

Achieved

As reported above, we are pleased to confirm that the CCG has delivered all its financial
performance targets for 2021/22.
CCG running costs
The CCG’s running cost allocation in 2021/22 was £36.86m. The CCG has been able to
underspend its allocation by £0.26m.
Future years
In 2022/23 and beyond, the NHS is returning to more regular funding arrangements but
under new organisational arrangements with increased partnerships working within local
health systems. There will be a renewed focus on ICS strategic priorities including
sustained recovery in health services, the efficient use of our resources, financial
balance and additional investment in primary care, community and mental health
services. This will include movement towards the strategic direction as set out in the
South East London Long Term Plan.
Other matters
Remuneration paid to external auditors in relation to audit work for 2021/22 was
£237,500 (excluding non-recoverable VAT). Remuneration for non-audit work was
£30,000 (excluding non-recoverable VAT), for work undertaken in relation to the Mental
Health Investment Standard. The CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on
setting charges for release of information.
Annual Accounts
The full annual accounts together with the Statement of Accountable Officer’s
responsibilities and Independent Auditors Report are included in Sections 4 and 5.
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3.2.13

Highlights from our borough teams

Bexley Borough
Bexley’s successful programme has been achieved through strengthening and building on
system collaboration through the Bexley Local Care Partnership (LCP). The LCP is
represented by 17 local organisations, groups, and stakeholders. This year’s programme
has been possible due to the resilience, commitment and flexibility of staff and partners
across the local system, who have worked together to combine strategically planned
activity with reactive work, responding to the second and third waves of the pandemic and
resulting national, south east London, and borough priorities.
COVID-19 Vaccination Programme
Bexley has remained one of the highest performing boroughs in
London for delivering the COVID-19 vaccination. Partnership
working to deliver the vaccination programme has included:
•

•
•

•
•

The delivery of 443,738 COVID-19 vaccinations by the four
Primary Care Networks, and the integral contribution of
community pharmacists in delivering flu and COVID-19 jabs
for residents.
Our medicines management team have provided clinical and
operational support to our vaccine sites including providing
hands-on vaccination support.
We have worked closely with our local schools, Guy’s & St
Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, community safety, education
colleagues from Bexley Council to deliver the 12-15 year old
vaccination programme. This included hosting a ‘family vaccination day’ for 12–15 year
olds and their family members.
We have delivered dedicated vaccination clinics combined with essential services and
health checks for vulnerable communities, such as homeless people, travellers and
those with learning and physical disabilities.
We developed a local ‘vaccine confidence’ programme to reach out to and work with our
diverse communities to better understand factors and barriers that influence vaccine
take-up, and support residents to feel confident and to make an informed decision. This
included the ‘Let’s Talk’ vaccine outreach and testing bus and a programme of door
knocking which reached more than 10,000 residents.
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We will continue to deliver the vaccination programme,
ensuring our diverse communities have equal access, and
supporting those who may have questions or concerns to
make an informed decision.

Bexley Local Care Partnership
The Bexley Local Care Partnership has continued to support residents during the
pandemic, with an emphasis on the critical need to address health inequalities brought
under focus by the pandemic, including mental health and wellbeing, digital access and
supporting our most vulnerable communities:
•
•

•

•

We have worked with voluntary partners and local carers to understand carers’
experiences of the pandemic and co-produced an action plan to address those
emerging needs.
Our digital inclusion programmes have continued to grow: Bexley’s Digital Inclusion
Network was re-established in October to bring together the local authority, CCG, local
NHS Trusts and voluntary sector to work together strategically to address digital
inclusion needs across the borough. In partnership with Bexley Mencap and Mind in
Bexley, the Bexley team secured a £60,000 award to help people with learning
disabilities or severe mental illness access GP services digitally. Outputs have included
people with learning disabilities working with Mencap to produce videos about
accessing healthcare, and the development of more accessible GP websites.
The Bexley Mental Health Support team (MHST) completed the scheme’s pilot year with
a ministerial visit at one of Bexley’s local secondary schools, where the Minister for
Children and Young families, Will Quince, joined students, school staff and the MHST to
recognise the impact that the pandemic has had on the mental health of children and
young people, and discuss the impact of the programme on the school.
We have continued to support the increasing numbers of residents during the pandemic
who have been victims of domestic abuse by setting up a local group to oversee
delivery of the health response.
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•

Following the success of the ‘Let’s Talk
Vaccine’ bus, in response to community
insights on access to information and
support, we relaunched the vaccine bus
as the Health and Wellbeing Bus to
provide residents with general information
and advice on their physical health and
wellbeing alongside information on the
vaccine, with a concentration on areas of
the borough and communities most
impacted by health inequalities.

The partnership has acted to strengthen joint working across our local health and care
system, which includes revisiting our system priorities, partnership identity, governance and
how we continue engage local people in the Integrated Care System. We are committed to
achieving a shared vision for Bexley as a borough where people start well, live well, and
age well. We will continue to do this through delivering locally bound-together services,
designed through understanding and engagement with local communities.
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Bromley Borough
Over the last year we have continued to manage the
extraordinary ongoing challenges of the COVID-19
pandemic. Together, across the One Bromley place
based integrated care system, excellent results have
been achieved, rapidly transforming services to care for
significant numbers of people affected by the virus,
whilst delivering one of the highest performing vaccination programmes in London. Our
integrated hospital discharge and support to care homes during the pandemic were both
recognised at the national Municipal Journal awards as best care
and health integration.
The ramifications of COVID-19 continue to be wide ranging and
have accelerated new ways of working to provide care whilst
keeping staff and patients safe. More appointments are being
provided using phone and video and remote monitoring is proving
successful in managing people with the virus. We continue to work
together to seek the best possible outcomes for our population,
maximising collaborative working across care pathways.
COVID-19 VACCINATION PROGRAMME
Due to a committed and resilient workforce, Bromley is
one of the best performing boroughs in London for
uptake of the COVID-19 vaccination. Organisations and
teams worked collaboratively and tirelessly together to
protect residents from the
virus.

The Penge Vaxi Taxi event was one example of outreach
into lower uptake area and aimed to reduce inequalities
in vaccination.

Vaccinations are available through
a variety of accessible sites as
well as in numerous pop-up clinics in areas of lower uptake,
roving clinics for vulnerable communities such as the homeless,
care homes, housebound visits, and a schools vaccination
programme.
Initiatives to increase uptake of the vaccine, particularly in those groups who were more
hesitant or harder to reach, were developed with Bromley partners
and included:
•
•

A street vaxi taxi event in Penge in partnership with the
Covid Crisis Rescue Foundation, London Fire Brigade and
other partners, offering health checks and the vaccine.
Street information teams promoting local walk-in services.
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•
•
•
•

Door knocking and leaflet distribution in areas of lower uptake.
A doctor-led information pod in the Bromley Glades shopping centre.
Collaboration with faith and community groups.
High profile campaigns for various age groups focused on personal stories and
experiences were widely promoted through radio, print, online and outdoor
advertising.

Examples of other achievements over the year include:
•

•

•

•

•

•
•

Vulnerable but medically fit patients were safely discharged from hospital with
ongoing care through the integrated Single Point of Access. In the first ten months
of the reporting year, there was a 25% reduction of time spent in hospital, 48% of
those needing community support were discharged within six hours of being
medically fit and 80% were discharged on the same day.
A new integrated care home support programme was mobilised during the pandemic
to support all Bromley care homes. This continued through the second wave and
provided proactive and reactive support to prevent the
spread and impact of the virus in care homes, provide
additional training for staff in infection control and deliver
additional personal protective equipment.
A collaborative approach to managing winter pressures
included a range of innovative winter schemes to support
patients and services. A keeping well through winter
health leaflet was posted to every household.
Bromley had the best flu uptake across all cohorts in
south east London and was one of the best performing
boroughs in London for delivering the flu vaccination to
those aged over 65 years and 2-3 years.
Improved integrated care for children and young people
included the new Hospital@Home service, a third mental
health support team made available to Bromley schools Provides information and advice on keeping
and a new group bringing together school leaders with
well over winter and using the right service
when you are ill
mental health practitioners.
Additional community services set up to support adults
with mental health challenges and eight new mental health practitioners working in
primary care services.
The Bromley COVID-19 Community Management Service continued to care for highrisk people with mild symptoms of COVID-19, and those who need a clinical
assessment. During the second wave of the pandemic, capacity increased, and
referrals received from hospital, GPs and NHS 111. Over 6,000 people used the
Oximetry@Home service to monitor their oxygen levels at home .

Our priorities for 2022/23 will through One Bromley, focus on further integration across care
pathways, full recovery of services following the pandemic, expanding urgent and
emergency care offers to reduce pressure on hospital services and continued
transformation programmes to deliver high quality care which embed best practice and
deliver the national Long Term plan priorities.
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Greenwich Borough
This year in Greenwich a great deal has been achieved, despite the challenges brought by
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and two significant waves of high infections. The
Healthier Greenwich Partnership (local care partnership) has been strengthened through
establishing pooled budgets for services jointly commissioned and recruiting permanently to
three jointly appointed Integrated Commissioning Director roles for Adult Services;
Prevention, Primary Care and Population Health; and Children’s Services. Partners across
the health and care system have worked together to continue to respond to the pandemic,
deliver the vaccination programme and cope with winter pressures.
As part of work to reduce health inequalities, CCG staff joined up with Royal Borough of
Greenwich (RBG) and Charlton Athletic Community Trust to carry out a massive
programme of work to give people the chance to discuss any concerns about Covid
vaccinations. This included the ‘Let’s Talk About the Vaccine’ programme where Vaccine
Champions knocked on more than 70,000 doors in areas where uptake of the vaccine was
lower. Also in partnership with RBG, staff from across GP services in the borough ran five
large Vaccination at The Valley events where they vaccinated or boosted thousands of
residents. Teams have also run vaccination clinics in places of worship, Greenwich Park
and at the University of Greenwich as part of
Freshers Week. Also in partnership with RBG,
CCG staff have been carrying out deep
engagement work in seven neighbourhoods
where deprivation is high and recruiting
champions from communities who are
disproportionately affected by COVID-19 such
as: Nepali, Bangladeshi, Somali, Eastern
European, etc. This has helped reduce barriers
to access and played an essential role in
building confidence and increasing uptake in
Staff and volunteers at one of the Vaccination at The Valley events
COVID-19 vaccinations. The success of this
work was demonstrated by data published in the autumn which compared Greenwich to ten
boroughs with similar populations, identifying Greenwich as having the highest uptake rate
amongst Black African, Black Other, Mixed White and Black, Mixed Other, Mixed White and
Asian, Pakistani and Other Asian populations in those aged 40 and above.
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As the Covid pandemic continued, so did strong partnership working to ensure people were
able to continue to access services in their local communities. A key part of this was to
ensure ongoing support to care homes and
home care providers. The Omicron wave meant
many experienced high rates of infection and
staff absences. Colleagues across the system
came together to support those settings and to
ensure alternative provision was in place to
prevent people being admitted to already busy
hospitals, or to enable them to return to the
community.

To encourage younger adults to get vaccinated we ran
clinics in Greenwich Park

System wide working also included looking at
how home care providers and their care
workforce could be deployed to support
workforce shortages elsewhere, including in
acute hospitals. There was a continued focus on
ensuring adequate provision of discharge to
assess capacity, as well as short term support
to enable people to return home such as
Reablement. System partners collaborated to
deploy resources where they were most
needed.

Staff have continued to successfully implement the Home First initiative. The CCG invested
in a wide range of health and care services in the community which have supported more
Greenwich residents to avoid being admitted unnecessarily to hospital, or to return home
sooner and remain out of hospital.
The Community Champions programme has grown in strength during the year with over
450 people helping the CCG and RBG to reach seldom heard and vulnerable communities.
They supported by sharing health and COVID-19 messages to over 60,000 residents. They
also provided valuable insights and helped tailor communications to be accessible.
A Greenwich Mental Health Alliance has been established with commissioners and
providers of services working together to improve services and outcomes for residents. The
objectives include reducing health inequalities, improving access to services and the
experience of residents who are from Black, Asian and other ethnic minority communities,
improving standards of care, delivering a seamless and truly integrated service with health,
social care, voluntary and community services, improving care pathways and signposting,
and proactively engaging with residents. Partners have been working together on a
programme to transform community mental health services. A new service model, informed
by engagement with service users and people with lived experience of mental ill-health, is
being implemented.

Page 59

Greenwich services for Children and Young People are beginning to see the benefits of
working in a more joined up way across the system. Highlights this year include
successfully bidding for, and launching, the borough’s third Mental Health in Schools Team.
There has also been investment in services for autistic spectrum disorder (ASD) and
attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) which has already led to a reduction in
waiting times.
In the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, where many people have lost loved ones,
positive work has been carried out to encourage and support residents to talk about and
think about death and to signpost them to bereavement and other services available. CCG
staff ran webinars and discussions with faith leaders linked to Dying Matters Week and two
well attended Death Café events.
Good progress has been made in partnership across health and care, to improve services
and outcomes for people with diabetes, or at risk of developing diabetes. Our work with
Greenwich Health Ltd (GP Federation), public health and primary care teams has seen an
improvement of more than 320% in performance against targets in the NHS Diabetes
Prevention Programme (compared to 2020/21). This work identifies people at high risk of
developing diabetes and supports them to prevent this. An important part of improving
patients’ health outcomes is engaging people with lived experience and learning from them
what improvements could be made. Patients have been involved throughout, from the
board decisions to helping to develop communications to patients and tailor support
available to manage their care. Investment has been made to expand the multidisciplinary
team who are recruiting to a number of new, specialised roles. Specialised diabetes training
was also provided to primary care staff.
Primary care services have made significant advances in several key areas. The six
primary care networks have embraced working with partners to develop a neighbourhood,
community based focus. All Greenwich practices now use the same clinical records system
which is enabling them to better understand and plan for the needs of their populations and
reduce health inequalities. They are building on the outreach work from the Covid
vaccination programme which has brought valuable learning and insight. They have
developed neighbourhood delivery teams with multi-professional workforces now including
Live Well coaches, mental health workers and other professionals. Working together with
residents is an important part of this work. For example, Blackheath and Charlton Primary
Care Network has developed their community approach following an event attended by
staff and residents. They are focussing on developing volunteer roles including practice
champions, skills sharing, exercise classes in practices and intergenerational activities.
In partnership with Royal Borough of Greenwich, CCG staff have developed the new
integrated health, wellbeing and community centre at Kidbrooke Village which is expected
to open in late summer 2022. This is great news for residents as it will provide a new,
purpose-built home for the Kidbrooke Village Medical Centre GP practice, a dentist and a
pharmacy as well as facilities for a range of community activities. Also, good progress has
been made on plans to redevelop the Gallions Reach Health Centre site in Thamesmead to
deliver better health and wellbeing services and community facilities. A feasibility study is
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being run to identify the options for the site. When this is complete work will be carried out
with local residents to shape these plans and inform the strategy to reduce health
inequalities in the area.
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Lambeth Borough
Lambeth Together partners have worked throughout the year to address the
immediate challenges from the coronavirus pandemic and to deliver improvements
in wider health and care services, recognising the imperative to address those
health inequalities that have been further exacerbated by the pandemic.
We have worked together to build upon our strong partnership foundations and to ensure
that Lambeth is ready to secure the benefits of enhanced integration at a borough level and
system-wide collaboration across south east London. In January 2022, we relaunched
our Lambeth Together Care Partnership, with a refreshed partnership Pledge and are now
operating in shadow form, in readiness for placing the Integrated Care Board on a statutory
footing from July 2022. In doing so, we are seeking to strengthen the voice of our
communities and widen clinical and professional leadership within our activities.
Meeting residents’ needs and protecting health – our work with local partners has
included:
•

•

•

•

•

Working together across NHS and Council teams through our Outbreak Control Plan
to respond rapidly to surges in infection from Delta and Omicron variants and
support residents to stay safe, seek help and support, get tested and get vaccinated
to minimise serious illness.
Coordinating the delivery in Lambeth of the COVID-19 vaccine to communities
across more than 20 sites including those led by general practice, pharmacies, and
hospitals, and including ‘pop-up’ opportunities in the Civic Centre, libraries, mosques
and The Oval cricket ground, and a roving pharmacy service from the Lambeth
Health and Wellbeing Bus that has worked with Age UK and other community
partners to offer advice on mental health, smoking and financial support, alongside
flu and COVID-19 jabs
Ensuring that homeless people and asylum seekers in hostels and temporary
accommodation awaiting resettlement received appropriate healthcare including GP
registration, vaccination and support to prevent and manage infection, working with
GPs, Guy’s and St Thomas’ Health Inclusion Team, the Council, the Greater London
Authority and others
Supporting discharge from hospital and care homes – working closely with partners
in Guy’s and St Thomas’ and King’s College hospitals, and with Southwark
colleagues, there has been improved timely transfer of Lambeth residents from
inpatient services back to home and community support. To support this we have
arranged additional capacity, such as extra nursing beds when required.
Working with Council partners to agree a new suicide prevention plan to promote
individual and neighbourhood resilience. With an explicit focus on improving mental
health and wellbeing among working age men, Lambeth’s Plan includes actions to
support people who have been affected by economic insecurity and to improve
support for people in crisis and for those who have been affected by the death by
suicide of a loved one - working with a voluntary organisation with expertise in this
area

Page 62

Implementing Lambeth’s COVID-19 Health and Care Recovery Plan focused effort on
restoring access to services and developing and building capacity where it is most needed.
Key achievements taken forward through our Delivery Alliances are described in the
Lambeth Together COVID-19 Health and Care Recovery Plan – Review and include:
•

Children and Young People’s Alliance - new mental health support teams in
schools have run group sessions and provided individual support to over 275
children and young people across eight schools in the programme’s first nine
months; small grants enhancing digital services to reach more LGBTQ+ young
people; and improved support for young adults between the ages of 16 and 25 with
recruitment to a dedicated post.

•

Lambeth Living Well Alliance - launch of the Culturally Appropriate Peer Support
Service, developed with Black Thrive and South London and Maudsley NHS
Foundation Trust to better support the needs of Black mental health service users
and carers in the community; significant progress with SLaM on plans to reprovide
outdated inpatient services at Lambeth Hospital in purpose-built facilities at Denmark
Hill, opening in spring 2023; and better access for people from the south of the
borough to mental health support and treatment, with the opening of the new Living
Well Network Hub at the redeveloped Gracefield Gardens centre in Streatham –
which has also delivered improvements to the GP practices housed within the
building. Read more in the Living Well Network Alliance progress report.

•

Neighbourhood and Wellbeing Alliance - the Thriving Communities programme
focuses on connecting groups, services and individuals within neighbourhoods to
learn more about one another, share information about what they do and to generate
ideas and plans for joint activities and events to support community health and
wellbeing at the very local level. This year we piloted a way of working with primary
care networks to understand the needs of older people experiencing multiple health
conditions and loneliness and match this with networked support from communities
and from services. This will inform the development of a new loneliness strategy for
Lambeth next year. Following on from this work, we have now expanded this
community development approach to cover five of our Primary Care Networks and
nearly 75% of the Lambeth population. Read more in the Neighbourhood and
Wellbeing Alliance progress report.
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Lewisham Borough
The response to COVID-19 has continued to be the priority with a key focus on the
vaccination programme and tackling inequalities. CCG staff have continued to work closely
through Lewisham Health and Care Partners (LHCP) as well as the voluntary and
community sector, Healthwatch Lewisham and other stakeholder groups such as our
Primary Care Networks, to convey positive public health messages, engage with our local
communities and tackle misinformation.
LHCP continued to make good use of the population health and care data system ensuring
that communities experiencing deprivation and exclusion, where vaccine take up has been
lower, have access to appropriate information and support.
As well as PCN-run COVID-19 vaccination clinics and community outreach work, notably
by North Lewisham PCN, pop up clinics have taken place across the borough in community
settings such as parks, Lewisham shopping centre and Millwall football club.
Many CCG teams, including primary care and communications, have been involved across
a wide range of areas, identifying needs, commissioning and planning the initiatives and
working closely with provider and partners.
COVID-19 community treatment centres
Introduced in April 2020, two community treatment centres (hot hubs) represented part of
Lewisham’s COVID-19 Emergency Response. The hot hubs were at the Waldron Health
Centre and Marvels Lane. The Marvels Lane Centre continues to care for patients who are
very unwell, are suspected of having COVID-19 and require medical attention. Throughout
the pandemic the service has alleviated pressure at local hospital sites.
Pulse oximetry
The pulse oximetry service, managed by One Health Lewisham (OHL) was introduced in
February 2021. This service monitors patients during the acute phase of COVID-19 at
home with the use of a provided oxygen saturation probe to establish whether they need
extra oxygen. This helps to keep patients at home safely and highlights any deterioration to
identify anyone who may require further assessment/treatment.
Respiratory Hub Service
The Respiratory Hub Service, provided by OHL, provides care for patients with chronic
respiratory symptoms, such as asthma and Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
(COPD). The hub works alongside existing community services and in collaboration with
secondary care respiratory services. The Respiratory Hub has managed over 2,000
referrals, 1,682 of them since April 2021.
The core primary care teams worked closely together throughout pandemic – triaging to
best meet patients’ needs, including referring patients if they experienced Covid symptoms
or providing virtual /face-to-face appointments for non-Covid needs.

Page 64

Long COVID
The OHL Long COVID service supports patients with ongoing COVID-19 symptoms such
as fatigue, breathlessness, low mood and ‘brain fog’ via a multidisciplinary team for up to
12 weeks.
Rough sleepers and vaccination programme.
Targeted COVID-19 vaccination sessions have been delivered for the homeless and
asylum seeker population. The appointment of a rough sleeper outreach nurse has seen
huge benefits in early identification and treatment of healthcare needs for people living on
the streets. Working directly with the COVID-19 outreach team, the nurse has prevented a
significant deterioration in patients’ health.
Social prescribing
Social prescribing is a way to refer people to a link worker who connects people to
community groups and statutory services for practical and emotional support. LHCP now
has 15 link workers based in Primary Care Networks who work alongside practice staff. The
service is provided by Lewisham and Southwark Age UK.
The Safe Surgeries Scheme
The Safe Surgeries Scheme, from charity Doctors of the World, aims to reduce the barriers
that many migrants and vulnerable people face in accessing healthcare. As a minimum, the
GP practice declares itself a 'Safe Surgery' and ensures that lack of ID or proof of address,
immigration status or language are not barriers to patient registration. To date 90% of
Lewisham GP practices have signed up.
Lewisham Community Dermatology Service
Lewisham Community Dermatology Service provided by OHL went live in November 2021.
It provides a specialist-led intermediary service managing a broad range of skin conditions
and allowing patients to be seen quickly, closer to home. The service works closely with the
dermatology team at Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust to provide an integrated
pathway across Lewisham.
Inequalities work
At the September 2021 meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board, a series of Lewisham
Health Inequalities summit events were agreed to plan the next steps for the Board’s work
to address local health inequalities. From this, alongside joint work between Public Health
in Lewisham and Birmingham, a number of workstreams have been set up including
equitable health services, health equality teams, community development and community
of practice. These will be developed over the year.
Three Beacon health hubs are now running in Lewisham. These work to help people,
including those from Black communities, to improve their health, increase vaccine
confidence and signpost to mental health and wellbeing resources. This type of model will
be continued as we move forward, incorporating wider health check monitoring, building
upon the learned experience of the hubs.
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Engagement
In 2021, LHCP commissioned an independent review of its approach to community
engagement during which the CCG played an integral role. This is now being taken forward
with a view to streamlining our engagement work and across multiple partners, sharing
intelligence and engaging with all Lewisham’s communities.
The CCG’s pivotal involvement has enabled a ‘holistic’ view of citizen and community
engagement in Lewisham using qualitative and quantitative data from multiple sources
including interviews, workshops and desktop research.

Page 66

Southwark Borough
The development of our local care partnership as a vehicle to tackling inequalities in health
and care plus delivery of core services have continued against the background of the
pandemic and the vaccination programme.
Throughout the pandemic in Southwark 32 practices and 51 pharmacies remained open to
continue to provide care, support and information when many were asked to stay home to
stay safe. Despite dealing personally with an unknown virus and mutations of it, staff met
the challenges of the national emergency. The physical presence of doctors and allied
health professionals who work as Southwark’s Care Home Practice in residential and
nursing homes settings also brought comfort and confidence to staff, residents, and their
loved ones.
Primary care networks created safe spaces for patients to attend with covid symptoms in
the community, many unnecessary hospital admissions were averted and people and
families who were fearful of going to hospital alone received care advice and assurance.
We also worked with the London Taxi Service to transport people safely; an innovative
approach that has been replicated.
Practices and Primary Care Networks mobilised and trained staff to deliver vaccinations in
record time to specific vulnerable groups and communities in our borough before opening
up to the whole population. Highlights include vaccinating a patient who had not seen a
clinical professional for twenty years, delivering 100 community outreach sessions in
Peckham and mass vaccinations events at Millwall FC and the Tate Modern.
We continue to deliver the COVID19 vaccination programme to our communities. We have
vaccinated thousands of people and had a positive impact on people lives in many ways,
but we must, and we will, do better to reduce the health inequalities this virus has brought
into sharp focus. We will continue to reach out to communities across the borough to hear
and address concerns and provide support and information to people who aren’t confident
in the vaccines. We are proud of the joint working that each practice in Southwark has
started with Public Health and other system partners to support this.
Partnership Southwark
The Partnership continues to deliver work within its population-based workstreams ‘Start
Well, Live Well, Age Well, and Care Well’ and has developed robust governance
arrangements to ensure a managed transition of responsibilities from the CCG to the newly
formed Integrated Care Board from 1 July 2022. A Partnership Southwark Strategic Board
has been established, we are co-producing a Lived Experience Assembly with service
users, carers and community representatives, and a joint statement of intent from the
designate Chief Executive Officer of the Integrated Care Board, Chief Executive of
Southwark Council and Strategic Chair of Partnership Southwark has confirmed our
fundamental commitment to move to more joined up leadership and governance
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arrangements across health and care to improve Southwark residents’ health and wellbeing
and take action to reduce health inequalities.
Partnership Southwark has also been selected as the ‘place’ within the SEL ICS to
participate in a joint NHSE/I, NHS X digital and Local Government Association development
programme. This will support our Local Care Partnership development and is focused on
leadership and culture change, governance, finance and decision making, and driving more
integrated working across health and care in neighbourhoods through a population health
management approach.
Safeguarding
Working with the Southwark Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and Safeguarding Adults
Board, the partnership launched the Southwark Violence Against Women and Girls
(VAWG) Strategic Group with a wide range of stakeholders to develop a coordinated
response to all forms of VAWG.
Recognising the increase in youth violence across England NHSE launched a Vanguard
with a vision to facilitate trauma-informed systems and multiagency working which enables
vulnerable children and young people affected by violence to thrive. ICS’s were invited to
bid for funding to support this. Southwark Borough Base’s working group, including
safeguarding leads and children’s commissioner, contributed to the successful funding bid
for south east London that worked on a trauma informed model.
Digital Health Check
Working with Southwark Council Public Health we have developed a digital version of the
NHS Health Check, enabling lower risk residents to have their risk of Cardiovascular
disease (CVD) and Type 2 Diabetes assessed online and access support without having to
visit a GP surgery. A pilot was launched in February 2022 with four GP surgeries inviting
1,000 patients to complete the tool and receive personalised results with specific lifestyle
advice and signposting. The full evaluation report will be available in April 2022.
CHILDS framework
The Child and Young People’s Health Partnership (CYPHP) programme delivered the
CHILDS framework (Child Health Integrated Learning and Delivery System (CHILDS)). This
improves outcomes and reduces inequalities in access to care. This holistic approach
explores and treats a range of physical, mental and emotional, and social factors that are
affecting a child, going beyond treatment of health conditions. The model comprises local
child health clinics and targeted early intervention care for children with long-term
conditions. Examples of the impressive impact of the model include a 49% reduction in
emergency department contacts and a 45% reduction in non-elective admissions to
hospital for asthma patients seen by the service.
Diabetes Prevention Programme

Page 68

A centralised call and recall service provided by Southwark PCNs is having a positive
impact on the number of people choosing to start the course, resulting in improved
outcomes and quality of life. The service has the highest rate of people starting courses in
South London and is being seen as an exemplar in SEL, south London and regionally. The
model of service delivery is being rolled out in PCNs across SEL.

Out of hospital models of care pilot
The NHS South East London CCG Out of Hospital Models of Care Pilot has been led by
Lewisham and Lambeth and implemented the expansion of the King’s Health Partners
(KHP) Homeless Team to provide advice and support to all other south east London acute
hospitals. This is so rough sleepers and homeless clients are not discharged without
support. Additional care and support staff have been recruited to the KHP Homeless Team
and the Red Cross has been commissioned to provide staff that will provide care navigation
and support for clients as they transfer to bed if they are not able to access secure
accommodation. The service has been fully operational since January 2022 and will run
until November 2022 and one of several pilots that is being evaluated by King’s College
around the country.
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3.2.14 Sustainable development
The CCG has had a significant focus on sustainability this year and has led the process to
develop a sustainability plan across the ICS. This plan outlines how the CCG will work with
partners towards the NHS target of net zero carbon by 2045. The timeframe of this plan is
three years in which time we need to make specific progress as the expectation is that
within the above target, we need to demonstrate an 80% reduction by 2032, and to reached
net zero carbon for what we directly control by 2040.
Developing this plan included an assessment of the carbon footprint of the ICS (769,652
tCO2e a year) and within that the CCG (43,912 tCO2e a year), as well as the identification
of a number of actions to undertake both individually and collectively. The CCG has and will
continue to ensure that the ICS is a leader in this area – having:
a) Been the first ICS in London to publish the ICS sustainability plan; and believes it is
one of the most ambitious in the country
b) Gone beyond the NHS requirements both in terms of including non mandated areas
of focus (air quality and green and blue space) and developing and publishing a plan
and toolkit specifically for Primary Care
c) In addition to working across the NHS organisations, the CCG is developing a
programme joint with the six councils to jointly deliver on key priorities
The objective is for the ICS to make sustainability part of our core business. South East
London ICS is seeking to protect the health of, and provide high-quality healthcare to, our
population, whilst doing this in a way which helps us to live within our financial budgets and
enables us to add social value and support our communities wherever possible.

3.2.15 Forward View for 2022-23
The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to impact on our communities and the delivery of
health services to our population again in 2021/22. During the year we managed further
waves of the pandemic whilst also managing a clear bounce back in non COVID-19
demand across multiple areas such as primary care, mental health and urgent and
emergency care and working to reduce the backlog of planned care patients that had built
up over 2020/21.
Our system has worked collaboratively and with purpose over the last year to ensure we
have been able to respond to these multiple challenges in the best way possible, with the
aim of ensuring that our communities can access the care and support they need in a
timely way. We are immensely proud of the way people across south east London have
come together and our health, care and other vital local services have responded to the
unprecedented pressures that we have faced since March 2020. We are however on a
recovery journey and the impact of the pandemic has been so profound that the full
restoration of pre COVID-19 services, capacity and waiting times is going to take some time
to secure – we are not there yet.
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We also recognise the tragic cost to south east Londoners and the toll the last two years
has taken on our workforce too. Our entire community has been impacted but we also know
that the pandemic has disproportionately affected older people, people living with one or
more long-term conditions or disabilities, those from a black and/or minority ethnic
background, people living in areas of existing deprivation, children and young people and
key workers. People have been impacted by COVID-19 itself, but the pandemic has also
shone a light on existing and exacerbated inequalities and impacted negatively on broader
health and wellbeing. A key priority for 2022/23 and beyond is to ensure that we are taking
action to reduce inequalities in access, experience and outcome for our population to
address population need and demand, including unmet and pent-up demand and
diagnostic and treatment backlogs. We will also continue our work to provide staff with
proactive wellbeing support and to improve staff resilience, recruitment, and retention.
In doing so we will be working as part of the South East London Integrated Care System,
recognising that the challenges we are facing and their solutions lie in working
collaboratively across the health system and with Local Authority and voluntary and
community sector partners, alongside the participation of our people and communities.
2022/23 sees significant changes to the system architecture of south east London, the most
notable of which is the establishment of the SEL Integrated Care Board on 1 July 2022.
CCGs will be disestablished at that point and CCG functions taken on by the new
Integrated Care Board. The Integrated Care Board will have responsibility for managing the
south east London health system working alongside Local Authorities and other partners as
part of a wider Integrated Care Partnership. We have been and will continue to focus on
ensuring a safe transition for our staff and functions to the new Integrated Care Board.
Whilst the 1 July represents a formal legislative change south east London has been
working as an integrated care system for many years, a way of working that accelerated
during the pandemic, so we have great foundations from which to build. These include our
vibrant borough based Local Care Partnerships, who have been working to secure local
integrated solutions to population need and inequalities and our Provider Collaboratives
and Networks who have been working to ensure we are able to optimise our recovery and
capacity through system approaches and solutions.
Over Quarter 4 of 2021/22 the CCG has been working alongside ICS partners to develop
our operational plan for 2022/23. This sets out the outcome commitments we are making as
a system with regards service delivery, performance, activity and finance. Our plan will set
out a range of ambitious deliverables which will require us to work together to address
some of our key challenges: capacity constraints; long waiting lists; workforce and
recruitment challenges; our ability to embed pathways, service transformation and
productivity improvement plans at speed; future winter pressures; finite financial and staff
resources and on going COVID-19 related support, both preventative and for those with
COVID-19. A key focus for 2022/23 will be securing the commitments we have made
within these operational plans and if we are successful we will have incrementally improved
our access and waiting times, our service offer to patients and our underlying sustainability
with regards capacity, workforce and finance. We will also have secured a step change in
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our focus on prevention and inequalities as part of a longer term programme of work to
address these two key areas that will ultimately drive improved health outcomes for the
population.
2022/23 will also see the Integrated Care System start to focus away from the immediate to
the medium term. We will work with partners in our Integrated Care Partnership to develop
a five year integrated care strategy, using this as a vehicle to deepen our relationship and
engagement with our communities, to be clear on our vision, objectives and ambition
around health improvement and reducing inequalities plus the key changes we will make to
the way we deliver services to ensure they are responsive, support timely and equitable
access and drive outcome improvements. Linked to the integrated care strategy NHS
partners will work together to agree an underpinning Integrated Care Board medium term
plan that ensures the NHS is able to implement the key actions required of it to deliver the
integrated care strategy, alongside ensuring an ability to respond effectively to wider NHS
priorities.
As we transition from our current system to our new Integrated Care Partnership and Board
the skills and expertise of those who have worked in and been part of the South East
London CCG will be vital. We will be building from the best of the CCG as we develop our
new system as well as making sure we are harnessing the skills, expertise and full
participation of our partners and our population as part of a collaborative endeavour to
improve health and health outcomes in south east London.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
20 June 2022
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4 Accountability Report
4.1 Corporate Governance Report
NHS South East London CCG was first authorised on 1 April 2020.
The area covered by NHS South East London CCG is coterminous with the boundaries of
the London Boroughs of Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and
Southwark.
The CCG is a membership organisation. All practices that provide primary medical
services to a registered list of patients under a General Medical Services, Personal
Medical Services or Alternative Provider Medical Services contract in the six boroughs in
the CCG area are eligible for membership of this CCG.
Our aim is to work with our partners to improve care and health outcomes for local people.
CCGs are local, clinically led, statutory NHS bodies. We are led by a governing body made
up of local GPs drawn from across our boroughs, other clinicians, executives and lay
members.

4.1.1

Members Report

4.1.1.1

Member profiles

Primary Care Networks (PCNs) in south east London
There are 35 PCNs across South East London and the contracts formalising these
arrangements between local GP practices went live on 1 July 2019.
As part of a PCN, GPs are recruiting multi-disciplinary teams, including pharmacists,
physiotherapists, paramedics, physician associates and social prescribing support
workers, freeing up family doctors to focus on the sickest patients.
The focus of PCNs over the past year has been on optimising current services across
the network, such as the provision of extended opening hours for local practices and the
development of clinical pharmacists and social prescribing link workers. In addition they
have taken a leading role in the provision of covid vaccination services. The maturity of
PCNs is increasing as they move to deliver fully integrated community-based care that
meets the needs of our local populations.
The table below, provides a high-level overview of the number of PCNs agreed in each
borough across South East London.
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Name of SELCCG borough
division

No. of practices
(including branches)

No. of Primary
Care Networks

Bexley

21 (35)

4

Bromley

44 (47)

8

Greenwich

31 (49)

6

Lewisham

41 (46)

9

Lambeth

29 (38)

6

Southwark

32 (40)

2

198 (255)

35

Total
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4.1.1.2

Member practices

The list of member practices (and their branch sites) in our boroughs is as follows:
Bexley:
Name of PCN

North Bexley PCN

Clocktower PCN

APL PCN

Frognal PCN

Independent

Main Practice /Branch Name

❖Northumberland Heath Medical Centre
❖Lakeside Medical Practice
❖Belvedere Medical Centre
❖Bexley Medical Group
- Hurst Place Surgery (branch)
- Erith Health Centre (branch)
❖Slade Green Medical Centre
- Colyers Lane Medical Centre (branch)
❖Riverside Surgery
- Mill Road Surgery (branch)
- Bulbanks Medical Centre (branch)
❖Crayford Town Surgery

❖The Westwood Surgery
- Pickford Lane Surgery (branch)
❖Bellegrove Surgery
❖Welling Medical Practice
- 3 Hook Lane (branch)
- Holly House Surgery (branch)
❖Bexley Group Practice
- Station Road (branch)
❖Dr Davies and Partner
❖The Albion Surgery
- Stanley Terrace (branch)
❖Plas Meddyg Surgery
❖Lyndhurst Medical Practice
❖Bursted Wood Surgery

❖Barnard Medical Group
- Marlborough Park Avenue (branch)
❖Sidcup Medical Centre
- Thanet Road Surgery (branch)
- Crook Log (branch)
- Burnt Oak Lane (branch)
❖Station Road Surgery
❖Woodlands Surgery
❖Ingleton Avenue Surgery
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Bromley:
Name of PCN

Penge PCN

Mottingham, Downham and
Chislehurst (MDC) Network
PCN

Bromley Connect PCN

Beckenham PCN

Hayes Wick PCN

Five Elms PCN

Orpington PCN

Main Practice /Branch Name

❖Park Group Practice
❖Robin Hood Surgery
❖Highland Medical Practice
❖Anerley Surgery
❖Oakfield Surgery
❖Sundridge Medical Centre

❖Links Medical Practice
- 198 Court Farm Road (branch)
❖Chislehurst Medical Practice
❖Woodlands Practice

❖South View Partnership
❖Dysart Surgery
❖London Lane Clinic
❖Manor Road Surgery
❖Eden Park Surgery
❖Cornerways Surgery
❖Elm House Surgery
❖St James' Practice
❖Cator Medical Centre

❖Station Road Surgery
❖Addington Road Surgery
❖Forge Close Surgery
❖Pickhurst Surgery
❖Wickham Park Surgery

❖Stock Hill Medical Centre
❖Summercroft Surgery
❖Southborough Lane Surgery
❖Bromley Common Practice
❖Norheads Lane Surgery

❖Family Surgery
❖Chelsfield Surgery
❖Knoll Medical Practice
❖Tudor Way Surgery
- Bromley Park Medical Centre (branch)
❖Ballater Surgery
❖Bank House Surgery – AT Medics
❖Whitehouse Surgery
❖Green Street Green Medical Centre
❖Bromleag Care Practice
❖Highland Medical Practice, Orpington (branch)
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The Crays Collaborative
PCN

❖Derry Downs Surgery
❖Broomwood Health Centre
❖Gillmans Road Surgery
❖Poverest Medical Centre
❖St. Mary Cray Practice
❖The Crescent Surgery

Greenwich:
Name of PCN

Blackheath and Charlton PCN

Greenwich West PCN

Eltham PCN

Riverview Health PCN

Heritage PCN

Main Practice /Branch Name

❖Manor Brook PMS
❖Blackheath Standard PMS
❖Vanbrugh Group Practice
❖Fairfield PMS
❖Primecare PMS (South Street)
❖Burney Street PMS
- Wallace Centre (branch)
❖Plumbridge Medical Centre
❖Blackheath PMS
❖Greenwich Peninsula
❖Eltham Palace PMS
❖Everest Health Partnership
- White Horse Hill (branch)
- Coldharbour (branch)
- Kidbrooke Village (branch)
❖New Eltham and Blackfen Medical Centre
- New Eltham and Blackfen (branch)
❖Elmstead Medical Centre
- The Hill Surgery (branch)
- Campus Surgery (branch)
❖Eltham Medical Practice
- 180 Well Hall Road (branch)
- 46 Westmount Road (branch)
❖Thamesmead NHS Health Centre – AT Medics
❖Royal Arsenal Medical Centre
❖St. Marks PMS Medical Centre
- Nightingale Surgery (branch)
❖Valentine Plus PMS
- Holburne Road Surgery (branch)
❖Conway PMS
- 7 Day Healthcare (branch)
❖Thamesmead Med Associates PMS
- Heronsgate Medical Centre (branch)
❖Triveni PMS
- 34 Plumstead Common (branch)
❖Waverley PMS
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Unity PCN

- The Surgery (branch)
❖Abbeyslade PMS
❖Bannockburn Surgery
❖Abbey Wood Surgery
❖Plumstead Health Centre
- Garland Road (branch)
❖The Trinity Medical Centre
❖All Saints Medical Centre PMS
❖Glyndon PMS
- 123 Samuel Street (branch)
❖Mostafa PMS
- 253 Wickham Lane (branch)
❖Malling Health at Clover Health Centre

Lewisham:
Name of PCN

North Lewisham PCN

Lewisham Care Partnership
PCN

Lewisham Alliance PCN

Sevenfields PCN

Main Practice /Branch Name

❖The Queens Road Partnership
❖Kingfisher Medical Centre
- Kingfisher Surrey Docks (branch)
❖Clifton Rise Family Practice
❖New Cross Health Centre (Hurley Group)
❖Grove Medical Centre
❖Deptford Medical Centre
❖Deptford Surgery
❖Vesta Road Surgery
❖Amersham Vale Training Practice

❖The Lewisham Care Partnership at St John’s
- The LCP at Hilly Fields (branch)
- The LCP at Honor Oak (branch)
- The LCP at Morden Hill (branch)
❖ The LCP at Belmont Hill (branch)

❖Lewisham Medical Centre
❖Burnt Ash Surgery
❖Lee Road Surgery
❖Triangle Group Practice
❖Woodlands Health Centre❖Nightingale Surgery
❖Torridon Road Medical Practice
❖Downham Family Medical Practice
❖Moorside Clinic ICO Health Group
- Dr Malik’s Practice (branch)
- Dr Lingarajah’s Practice (branch)
- Boundfield Surgery (branch)
❖Parkview Surgery
❖Novum Healthcare Partnership

Page 79

- Baring Road Site (branch)
❖Oakview Family Practice
❖SEL Special Allocation Practice
Modality PCN

Aplos Health PCN

❖The Jenner Practice
❖South Lewisham Group Practice
❖Bellingham Green Surgery

❖Sydenham Green Group Practice
❖Woolstone Medical Centre
❖Wells Park Practice
❖The Vale Medical Centre

Lambeth:
Name of PCN

StockWellBeing PCN

Clapham PCN

Main Practice /Branch Name

❖Stockwell Group Practice
❖Beckett House Practice
❖Binfield Road Surgery
❖Springfield Medical Centre
❖The Grantham Practice

❖Clapham Family Practice
- Manor Health Centre (branch)
❖Sandmere Practice
❖Grafton Square Surgery
❖Dr Curran & Partners

Brixton & Clapham Park
PCN
AT Medics Streatham PCN

Streatham PCN

North Lambeth PCN

❖Hetherington Group Practice
❖Clapham Park Group Practice
❖Hetherington at the Pavilion
❖Streatham High Practice
❖Edith Cavell Practice
❖ Streatham Place Surgery (branch)

❖Streatham Common Group Practice
- 293 Streatham High Street (branch)
❖Prentis Medical Centre
❖Palace Road Surgery
❖Valley Road Surgery
❖The Exchange Surgery
❖The Vale Surgery
❖The Streatham Hill Group Practice
❖Hurley & Riverside Practices
- Hobart House (branch)
❖Lambeth Walk Group Practice

❖The South Lambeth Road Practice
❖The Vauxhall Surgery
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❖Mawbey Group Practice
❖Waterloo Health Centre

Fiveways PCN

Hills, Brooks and Dales
(HBD) Group PCN

Croxted PCN

❖Vassall Medical Centre (Dr Patel & Cresswell)
❖The Corner Surgery
❖Minet Green Health Practice
❖Herne Hill Road Medical Practice
❖Akerman Medical Practice
❖Herne Hill Group Practice
❖North Wood Group Practice at Crown Dale
- North Wood Group Practice at Tulse Hill
(branch)
❖Brixton Hill Group Practice
❖Knights Hill Surgery
❖The Deerbrook Surgery
❖Lambeth Healthcare Practice
❖Brockwell Park Surgery
❖The Old Dairy Health Centre
❖Paxton Green Group Practice

Southwark:
Name of PCN

North Southwark PCN

Main Practice /Branch Name

❖Trafalgar Surgery
❖Falmouth Road Group Practice
❖Princess Street Practice (Nexus Health Group)
- NHG - Surrey Docks Health Centre (branch)
- NHG - Sir John Kirk Close Surgery (branch)
- NHG - Manor Place Surgery (branch)
- NHG - Dun Cow Surgery (branch)
- NHG - Decima Street Surgery (branch)
- NHG - Commercial Way Surgery (branch)
- NHG - Artesian Health Centre (branch)
❖Old Kent Road Surgery
❖Penrose Surgery
- Penrose Surgery 10 Maddock Way (branch)
❖Silverlock Medical Centre
❖Park Medical Centre

❖Albion Street Group Practice

❖Bermondsey Spa Medical Practice
❖The Villa Street Medical Centre
❖Blackfriars Medical Practice
❖New Mill Street Surgery

❖301 East Street Surgery
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❖Southwark Care Home

South Southwark PCN

4.1.1.3

❖Forest Hill Road Group Practice
❖Acorn and Gaumont Surgery
❖Camberwell Green Surgery
❖Parkside Medical Centre
❖DMC Chadwick Road
❖Queens Road Surgery
❖St Giles Medical Centre
❖Elm Lodge Surgery
❖3-Zero-6 Medical Centre
❖Sternhall Lane Surgery
❖The Tessa Jowell Surgery
❖ Dr Arumugaraasah’s Practice
❖The Gardens Surgery
❖Dulwich Medical Centre - Crystal Palace Road
❖The Lordship Lane Surgery
❖The Nunhead Surgery
❖Lister Practice
❖St Giles Surgery (Dr Rosemen)

Composition of Governing Body

Chair and Accountable Officer
The CCG Chair is Dr Jonty Heaversedge.
Andrew Bland is the Accountable Officer for the CCG.
Governing Body Members
The Voting members of our governing body are as below:
Dr. Jonty Heaversedge
Andrew Bland
Usman Niazi
Dr Siddharth Deshmukh
Dr Clive Anggiansah
Dr Andrew Parson
Dr Ruchira Paranjape
Dr Krishna Subbarayan
Dr Sabah Salman
Dr Adrian McLachlan
Dr Di Aitken
Dr Faruk Majid
Dr Jacky McLeod
Dr Nancy Kuchemann

Chair
Accountable Officer
Chief Financial Officer
GP Clinical Lead - Bexley
GP Clinical Lead - Bexley
GP Clinical Lead - Bromley
GP Clinical Lead - Bromley
GP Clinical Lead - Greenwich
GP Clinical Lead - Greenwich
GP Clinical Lead - Lambeth
GP Clinical Lead - Lambeth
GP Clinical Lead - Lewisham
GP Clinical Lead - Lewisham
GP Clinical Lead - Southwark
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Dr Robert Davidson
Shelagh Kirkland
Joy Ellery
Peter Ramrayka
Professor Simon Mackenzie
Mary Currie
Dr Angela Bhan
Stuart Rowbotham
Neil Kennett – Brown *
Jackie Davidson *
Martin Wilkinson **
Andrew Eyres
Sam Hepplewhite **
Non-Voting Members:
Dr Nada Lemic
Folake Segun
Dr Simon Parton

GP Clinical Lead - Southwark
Lay member - Governance and Audit
Lay member - Patient and Public Involvement
Lay member - Primary care and Commissioning
Secondary Care Specialist
Registered Nurse
Place Based Director - Bromley (joint with Council)
Place Based Director – Bexley (joint with Council)
Place Based Director – Greenwich
Interim Place Based Director - Greenwich
Place Based Director - Lewisham (joint with
Council)
Place Based Director, Lambeth (joint with Council)
Place Based Director - Southwark

Public Health Representative
Healthwatch Representative
LMC Representative

Details about the members of the CCG’s Governing Body are available on the website:
Our Governing Body - South East London CCG (selondonccg.nhs.uk)
CCG directors
The other non-voting directors of the CCG are as follows:
Sarah Cottingham
Executive Director of Planning and Commissioning
Christina Windle ***
Chief Operating Officer
Michael Boyce ***
Chief Operating Officer (interim)
Kate Moriarty-Baker
Chief Nurse and Caldicott Guardian
Theresa Osborne
Director of Commissioning System Reform
Notes
* Mr Kennett-Brown fulfilled the role of Executive Director for Winter at Lewisham and
Greenwich NHS Trust on a secondment for the period October 2021 to March 2022.
During this time the role of Borough Director was covered by Jackie Davidson.
** In response to the increase in activity on vaccinations, Sam Hepplewhite adopted the
role of Executive Director of Primary Care and Vaccinations from 6 December 2021, with
Martin Wilkinson acting as Borough Director for both Lewisham and Southwark boroughs
from this date.
*** Michael Boyce acted as interim Chief Operating Officer while Christina Windle was
on maternity leave. Ms Windle returned to her position as Chief Operating Officer on 28
October 2021.
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4.1.1.4

Committee(s), including Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee are as follows:
Shelagh Kirkland – Lay member for Audit and Governance (Chair)
Joy Ellery – Lay member for Patient and Public Involvement (Vice-Chair)
Peter Ramrayka – Lay member for Primary care (Additional lay member)
Mary Currie – Registered Nurse on Governing Body
In attendance are GP leads (a maximum of one from each borough).
For details of all other CCG’s committees, please see pages 91 to 95.
4.1.1.5

Register of Interests

The register of interests for our Governing Body is available here. A register of interests
for all staff is maintained by the governance team and is available on request.

4.1.1.6

Personal data related incidents

There have been no CCG data incidents this year that have met the threshold of being
reportable to the to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO).
4.1.1.7

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:
• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report
• the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s
auditor is aware of it.
Modern Slavery Act
NHS South East London CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate
modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing
an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery
Act 2015.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
20 June 2022
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4.1.2

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed Andrew Bland to be the Accountable Officer of NHS South East London
Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:
• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer
is answerable,
• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to
ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
•

The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to
223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed
each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of
accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts
are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure,
Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
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• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material
departures in the accounts; and,
•

Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and

• Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts
and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.
As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make
myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that NHS South East
London CCG’s auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.
I also confirm that as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the
steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.

Andrew Bland
20 June 2022
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4.1.3

Governance Statement

4.1.3.1

Introduction and context

NHS South East London CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1
April 2020 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The
CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to
such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local
population.
As on 1 April 2021, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act
2006.
COVID-19
Following the emergence of COVID-19 in the UK in January 2020, the NHS declared a
Level 4 incident, which meant the CCGs control environment was dictated by the
national incident command and control structure, led by a National Strategic
Commander. Following a brief step down to a level 3 incident in the summer of 2021,
level 4 status was reinstated on 13 December 2021. To enable staff to focus on the
Covid response, many of the CCGs regular meetings were cancelled, with a focus
remaining on clinical safety, public engagement and equality, and the maintenance of
local decision-making capability. Extensive use of virtual meetings was maintained to
provide a platform for key decisions to be made within the existing governance
framework. The CCG also circulated governance and performance papers to committee
members for their review and comments even when meetings had been stood down.
Most committees were stood back up by the end of the financial year.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies,
aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in
Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning
group as set out in this governance statement.
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4.1.3.2

Governance arrangements and effectiveness

Governance Framework of the CCG:
The CCG is a membership organisation and its member practices are accountable for
exercising statutory functions. The CCG has delegated authority to the following, to act
on behalf of its member practices in order to discharge its functions and responsibilities:
a) Council of Members;
b) Governing Body;
c) CCG employees;
d) Committees and sub-committees of the Governing Body;
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically, and complies with such generally accepted principles of
good governance as are relevant to it.
CCG Constitution:
The Constitution sets out the terms on which NHS South East London CCG shall
exercise its statutory function of commissioning services for the purposes of the health
service in England. It has been agreed by all member practices.
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation (SoRD):
The constitution contains the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation which sets out the
key functions of the CCG and to whom the CCG has delegated responsibility for fulfilling
them.
Council of Members:
The Council of Members is constituted of healthcare professionals from each of the
CCG’s member practices (See Member’s Report Section 4.1.1). Members choose one
healthcare professional per practice (and a deputy) as their representative at Council of
Members’ meetings. The Chair of Council of Members is currently Dr Sadru Kheraj.
The Council of Members has decision-making powers in relation to the governance and
membership arrangements for the CCG, and oversight of the overall strategic direction
of the CCG.
The Council of Members are required to meet once annually as a minimum, and this
occurred on 30 September 2021
To support members to understand the wider views of practice staff, each borough
operates a borough divisional membership forum, which is open to all practice staff. The
borough-based fora do not form part of the organisation’s Schedule of Reservation and
Delegation and are not decision making.
Full details on the role of the Council of Members; its membership and the process for
convening meetings is detailed in the CCG’s Constitution.
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Governance Structure:

Governing Body
The CCG’s Governing Body has statutory responsibility for ensuring that the CCG has
appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and in accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance. It also
assumes a specific responsibility for determining the remuneration, fees and other
allowances payable to employees or other persons providing services to the CCG and
the allowances payable under any pension scheme established. (with recommendation
from the remuneration committee as appropriate). The CCG’s membership has
delegated additional functions to the Governing Body, which are detailed in the CCG’s
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, Appendix 5 of the CCG’s constitution.
Full details on the Governing Body structure and membership as well as its detailed
procedures are set out in sections 5.4 to 5.7 of the CCG’s constitution; the Standing
Orders (Appendix 3 of the constitution) and Standing Financial Instructions (Appendix 4
of the constitution).
Membership of the Governing Body is detailed in Section 4.1.1.3.
There were five meetings in public of the Governing Body. In recognition of the ongoing
COVID-19 advice, all of the meetings were held online. However, members of the public
were able to submit questions in advance in writing, and these questions were either
responded to at the meeting or in written form afterwards and made available on the
website. Members of the public were able to watch the meetings live online and raise
written questions during the event via an online messaging portal.
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Governing Body Attendance: The table below shows attendance of the governing
body members at the five meetings held in public.

Name
Dr Jonty
Heaversedge
Andrew Bland
Usman Niazi
Dr Clive Anggiansah
Dr Sid Deshmukh
Dr Ruchira Paranjape
Dr Andrew Parson
Dr Sabah Salman
Dr Krishna
Subbarayan
Dr Dianne Aitken
Dr Adrian McLachlan
Dr Faruk Majid
Dr Jacqueline
McLeod
Dr Robert Davidson
Dr Nancy Küchemann
Folake Segun
Shelagh Kirkland
Joy Ellery
Peter Ramrayka
Dr Simon Parton
Stuart Rowbotham
Dr Angela Bhan
Neil Kennett-Brown
Andrew Eyres
Martin Wilkinson
Sam Hepplewhite
Dr Nada Lemic
Mary Currie
Prof Simon
Mackenzie
Kate Moriarty-Baker
Theresa Osborne
Christina Windle/
Michael Boyce

Position
Chair
Accountable Officer
Chief Financial Officer
GP clinical lead – Bexley
GP clinical lead – Bexley
GP clinical lead – Bromley
GP clinical lead – Bromley
GP clinical lead – Greenwich
GP clinical lead – Greenwich
GP clinical lead – Lambeth
GP clinical lead – Lambeth
GP clinical lead – Lewisham
GP clinical lead – Lewisham
GP clinical lead – Southwark
GP clinical lead – Southwark
Healthwatch representative
Lay member – Governance and Audit
Lay member – Patient and Public
Involvement
Lay Member Primary Care and
Commissioning
LMC representative
Place Based Director, Bexley
Place Based Director, Bromley
Place Based Director, Greenwich
Place Based Director, Lambeth
Place Based Director, Lewisham
Place Based Director, Southwark
Public Health Representative
Registered Nurse
Secondary Care Specialist
Chief Nurse, SELCCG
Director, Commissioning System Reform,
SELCCG
Chief Operating Officer, SELCCG
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Total
meetings
attended
5
4
5
4
0
1
4
5
4
4
5
5
5
2
5
4
5
5
5
3
4
4
5
5
5
5
2
3
5
3
4
4

Sarah Cottingham

Executive Director of Commissioning and
Planning, SELCCG

4

Contents of the meetings included a regular update on CCG activity from the
accountable officer and borough directors, review of performance and governance
matters, an update on the COVID-19 and flu vaccination programmes, review of the
Board Assurance Framework, and reports from subject matter experts and guests from
organisations across the ICS.
Prime Committees:
The CCG operates with six prime committees. The Audit Committee, Primary Care
Commissioning Committee and Remuneration Committee are required under statute
and their terms of reference are incorporated directly into the CCG’s constitution.
The three other prime committees: Integrated Governance & Performance Committee,
Commissioning Strategy Committee and the Borough Based Boards (one in each
borough) have been established by the Governing Body to enable it to undertake its
roles in respect of internal assurance; strategic planning and development and borough
involvement & engagement. A summary of the role and purpose of all the CCG’s
committees is provided below with terms of reference included as appendices where
these are not already included as part of the CCG’s constitution.
Integrated Governance and Performance Committee (IGPC):
The Integrated Governance & Performance Committee is established to oversee the
activities of the CCG and its providers in respect of finance, QIPP, performance,
governance, risk management, quality and safety. Associated with this, it is responsible
for assuring the effective functioning of the CCG’s operations in respect of
safeguarding, information governance, the equality delivery system, emergency
planning and business continuity and patient engagement and experience.
The members of the committee are: Lay members (one of whom is the Chair), the
secondary care Specialist, our governing body registered nurse, two Governing Body
clinical leaders (with a further four invited as optional participants), Accountable Officer,
Chief Finance Officer, Executive Director of Commissioning & Planning, Chief Operating
Officer, and Chief Nurse.
The committee met seven times during the year and received reports on performance,
finance, the Board Assurance Framework and workforce equalities. It approved key
governance and human resources policies, and received reports key areas of CCG
activity such as sustainability and emergency planning.
To ensure sufficient focus is given to all aspects of the wide ranging portfolio of the
IGPC, a number of sub-committees of the IGPC operate. These are:
•

Quality and Safety sub-committee (QSSC) – providing assurance that
commissioned services are safe and of high quality and that adequate plans are
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•

•

•

in place to respond to issues of poor quality. QSSC also provides a forum for
promoting quality improvement within the CCG; and identifying, investigating and
learning from poor quality via system-wide learning
Information Governance sub-committee (IGSC) - responsible for ensuring that
information held and / or processed by the CCG is efficiently managed in line
with legal requirements and best practice.
Medicines Optimisation Committee (MOC) - responsible for providing clinically
led expert advice and decisions under delegation for matters related to drugs and
prescribing on behalf of the CCG.
Safeguarding Sub-Committee: in place to ensure that the CCG fulfils its
statutory responsibilities as outlined in the Care Act 2014; Mental Capacity Act
2005; Children Act 2004; and Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013;
Children and Social Work Act 2017, and publication of Working Together to
Safeguard Children 2018, promoting the safety and welfare of adults and children
with care and support needs across all commissioned and contracted services,
the health and wellbeing of looked after children in accordance with statutory
guidance, and to identify resulting actions following serious case reviews,
independent management reviews and other relevant safeguarding incidents and
develop policies and procedures relating to safeguarding practice.

Commissioning Strategy Committee (CSC):
The Commissioning Strategy Committee is responsible for overseeing the creation and
delivery of a commissioning strategy to deliver the CCG’s organisational objectives and
improve patient outcomes, in the context of the boroughs’ health strategy defined by the
health and wellbeing board.
Membership includes CCG Chair (chair), one Clinical lead per borough, the Secondary
Care Specialist, our GB registered nurse, Lay member for Patient and Public
Involvement, Lay member for primary care and commissioning (deputy chair),
Accountable Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Executive Director of Planning &
Commissioning or deputy, Chief Operating Officer or deputy and Chief Nurse.
During 2021/22, the committee met six times and the meeting was quorate on all
occasions. Areas of discussion included a range of primary care capital investment
projects, the ICS core vision, values and purpose, a new IFR policy, and pathology
services provision.
Borough Based Boards:
These boards are prime committees of the Governing Body with delegated
responsibility for the commissioning of local services as part of the overall
commissioning plans of the merged CCG. In each borough they may meet in common
with the Local Authority, however, each organisation (the CCG and the local authority)
retains responsibility for their own organisation’s budgets.
The borough meetings cover a range of local issues and seek to offer a platform for the
local community to engage with and influence their health services.
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee (PCCC):
This committee has been established by the CCG and NHS England to enable
decisions to be made jointly on the commissioning of primary medical care. It reports to
both NHS England and the Governing Body. The membership includes: two Lay
Members (excluding the lay member for governance who cannot chair or vice chair the
committee), CCG GP Chair, the governing body registered nurse or secondary care
doctor (single member), Accountable Officer, Chief Finance Officer, Executive Director
for Commissioning and Planning and the six Borough Based Directors.
These meetings are held in public and occurred six times in 2021/22. Similarly to
governing body meetings this year, all meetings were held virtually, with members of the
public able to view the meeting online as it happened, and ask questions in advance in
writing, or during the meeting via an online portal.
Papers for this committee are available on the CCG website.
Audit Committee:
The Audit Committee provides the Governing Body with an independent and objective
view of the CCG’s financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws,
regulations and directions governing the CCG in so far as they relate to finance, and
assurance on risk and fraud issues. The core membership of the Audit Committee
consists of the three lay members of the Governing Body, and the Governing Body
Registered Nurse. Two Governing Body clinical leads from each borough are invited to
attend the meeting. The meeting is also attended by the Director of Finance, Associate
Director for Corporate Operations, auditors and counter fraud and security management
specialists.
The committee met twice on 22 April and 10 June 2021 to approve the 2020/21 annual
report and accounts. Thereafter it met quarterly in September 2021, December 2021
and March 2022 to consider:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Internal audit reports and implementation of recommendations. There were also
Benchmarking Reports supplied by the auditors.
Annual financial reporting
Service auditor reports review
External audit progress updates, audit plan
Conflict of interest updates
Scrutiny of Contract Waivers, Chair’s Actions
Review of the effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal control
Counter fraud arrangements
Security Management Arrangements
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Remuneration Committee:
The committee is established to determine the remuneration, fees and allowances
payable to the employees of the clinical commissioning group or to other persons
providing services to it. It also makes recommendations to a private session of the
Governing Body regarding the adoption of standard NHS pay and remuneration
frameworks and will additionally advise the Governing Body about appropriate
remuneration, the appointment, termination and terms and conditions of the
Accountable Officer, Executive Directors, Clinical Leads and other senior managers with
locally determined contracts described by the NHS Very Senior Managers Pay
Framework.
The membership of the committee is the Lay member for patient & public involvement
(Chair), one GB clinical lead, the lay member for primary care and commissioning, and
GB Secondary Care Specialist. In 2021-22, the group met 11 times, all of which were
quorate meetings. The group discussed redundancy payments, clinical leads payments,
responsibility allowances and the annual pay increase for Very Senior Managers.
Advisory and Executive Groups:
Engagement Assurance Committee:
The Engagement Assurance Committee has been established as an advisory
committee to the Governing Body to provide advice, monitor and provide assurance to
the Governing Body that the CCG is involving and engaging patients and the public in
developing its plans and putting in place services; ensuring best practice patient
engagement and ensuring statutory duties for engagement are met. It is chaired by the
Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement and membership includes the Clinical
Lead for Engagement, Healthwatch, the Assistant Director of Engagement and two local
members from each borough.
In 2021/22, the committee met six times and covered a range of subjects, with regular
reports from the equalities committee and Healthwatch, together with a particular focus
on developing the engagement strategy for SEL ICS, designing and implementing an
online engagement platform called “Lets Talk Health and Care South East London”, and
implementing a policy for expenses.
Equalities Committee:
The Equalities Committee (EC) is established to support the CCG in making
demonstrable improvements in equality, diversity and inclusion for the organisations
staff, as well as for patients, service users and carers that are affected by the activities
of the CCG. The membership includes: the Lay Member for Patient and Public
Involvement (co-chair), GP Lead (co-chair); an additional GP Lead; Chief Operating
Officer (or delegated deputy); Chief Nurse (or delegated deputy); Healthwatch
Representative, Director of HR & OD, Assistant Director of Engagement, NELCSU
Equalities Specialist, Head of Equalities and Patient Experience and Freedom to Speak
Up Champions (from boroughs).
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During the year, the committee received regular updates on equalities matters affecting
the CCG and considered areas such as equalities in recruitment, the outcome of the
gender pay gap report, the Workforce Race Equality Standard, and Workforce Disability
Equality Standard.
Auditor Panel:
The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 specifies that all local public bodies
covered by the legislation must have auditor panels to advise on the selection,
appointment and removal of external auditors, and on maintaining an independent
relationship with them. The auditor panel’s key role is to check that:
• The procurement and selection of external auditors are appropriate
• The relationship and communications with the external auditors are professional
• Conflicts of interest are effectively dealt with.
• Establishing and monitoring the CCG’s policy on the awarding of non-audit services.
There were no meetings of the Auditor Panel during the year.
Conflict of Interests Panel:
The panel’s role is to support the CCGs committees to ensure that any actual or
perceived conflict of interest to the business of the CCG are managed effectively in an
open and transparent way by recommending how to manage any specific conflicts if
asked.
There were no meetings during the year.

4.1.3.3

UK Corporate Governance Code

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing
upon best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance
Code that we consider to be relevant to the CCG and best practice.
This Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate how the CCG has regard for the
principles set out in the code as considered appropriate for CCGs for the financial year
ended 31 March 2021.
4.1.3.4

Discharge of Statutory Functions

In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning
group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations.
As a result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the
legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
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Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
NHS South East London CCG’s approach to risk management and board assurance is
in accordance with legislation, national and local guidance. It seeks to embed
recognised and developed best practice through a process of on-going review and
improvement and underpins the production of the Annual Governance Statement.
The Integrated Risk Management Framework for the CCG has been established to
ensure that the principles, processes and procedures for best practice in risk
management are consistent across the organisation and fit for purpose.
The framework lays down risk management duties and responsibilities for staff at
different levels in the organisation as well as Governing Body members including clinical
leads. It presents a framework for CCG policies designed for proactive and reactive risk
management to the CCG’s objectives.
The CCG systematically identifies, at all levels, those risks that could affect these
objectives and takes every reasonable step to control risk. This includes a process to
monitor and, if necessary, improve how risks are being managed and demonstrate how
this is occurring.
The CCG leadership team employs effective techniques for risk management,
supported by good information systems, discusses and shares risk information amongst
themselves and trains and supports all their staff to an appropriate level of expertise.
NHS South East London CCG also requires that the organisations and people it
commissions to provide health services operate demonstrably effective risk
management systems.
NHS South East London CCG is committed to the application and embedding of best
practice principles across all services and actively communicating these principles with
NHS stakeholders to share best practice risk management activities.

4.1.3.5

Identification and evaluation of risk

The risks to which the CCG is exposed are identified by:
• internal methods – such as audits, evaluating CCG’s commissioning plans, QIPP
plans, Project Initiation Documents, patient satisfaction surveys, whistle-blowing,
complaints and monitoring the quality of commissioned services
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• external methods - such as service auditor reports for commissioning support
services, CQC inspections, media, national reports, new legislation, reports from
assessments/inspections by external bodies, reviews of partnership working
• liaison with practices through Council of members, practice visits, locality meetings,
GP Forum meetings, patient engagement forums, practice feedback and practice
meetings.
NHS South East London CCG has adopted the Australia/New Zealand (AS/NZS
4360/1999) standard as shown below which it applies to all risk assessment and
management including corporate, financial, clinical, operational and reputational risks.
Figure 3 – Risk Management Process

Risk scoring and grading
The CCG has adopted a 5x5 matrix for scoring risks, consistent with the National
Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) guidelines (January 2008). The risks scored for
likelihood and impact are graded as below:
Grade
Red
Amber
Yellow
Green

Definition
Extreme Risk
High Risk
Moderate Risk
Low Risk
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Risk Score
15-25
8-12
4-6
1-3

Extreme risks are those that attract the highest scores, are graded ‘red’ and therefore
warrant immediate attention by relevant personnel.
Risk reporting and management structure
The CCG has systems to ensure the identification, analysis, scoring and recording of
risks and the consequences of their potential impact. Risk registers are maintained at
each level in the organization. Risks which affect the achievement of the CCGs strategic
objectives are recorded on the Board Assurance Framework, which is reviewed
regularly by each individual director, the Integrated Governance and Performance
Committee and the CCG Governing Body. As of 31 March 2022, the highest scoring
risks were assessed as:

The risk that SEL does not recover its performance against the CHC quality
premium measures in 2021/22

15

The growth in waiting times and delays to routine treatment caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic may result in harm to patients.

12

The risk is that learning disability and autism programme (LDAP) will not
achieve the Long Term Plan (LTP) inpatient target of 62 Adults and 7 CYP by
March 2022.

12

The risk that the ICS system is unable to deliver the ambitions of the SEL H2
Operating Plan, submitted on 9 November 2021. The delivery period for the
operating plan runs until March 2022.

12

Waiting time for a diagnostic assessment for Autistic Spectrum Disorder
(ASD) for adults (>18 yrs.)

12

IAPT access, recovery and waiting times are not consistently achieved
across all boroughs.

12

There is a low proportion of people on the SMI register receiving a
comprehensive physical health check in South East London. The life
expectancy for people with SMI is 15–20 years lower than the general
population.

12

‘* It is noted that three of the BAF risks relate to target to be achieved by the end of the 2021/22 financial
year. At the time of writing the performance data to validate the crystallisation of these risks remains
outstanding. They are included in the above table for full transparency of all BAF risks managed within the
year.
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Operational risk registers are maintained at borough, directorate and team level. To
support operational management, one-to-one meetings take place regularly with risk
owners, and an internal Risk Forum group meets monthly to provide a platform for peer
challenge and information sharing, supporting consistency approach to risk
assessment.
All staff are responsible for managing risks within the scope of their role and
responsibilities as employees of the CCG and as professionals working to professional
codes of conduct. The Governing Body promotes reporting of incidents, risks and
hazards. This is supported by a range of policies which are in place for the CCG.
The CCG utilises a risk management system call Datix, this allows the CCG to actively
manage, review and escalate risk across the CCG. The system empowers risk owners
and sponsors to manage their risk actively and regularly. This ensures that risks remain
current and enables the CCG to highlight areas that require further Risk Management
intervention.
Prevention of risk
Prevention is viewed as a key element of risk management and is embedded within the
operation of the CCG through:
Policies
Several policies are in place to support risk management within the CCG. These are
Information Governance, Counter Fraud, Conflict of Interest policies, Whistleblowing
policy, Children and Adult Safeguarding policies, Incident Reporting policy to name a
few. These policies are reviewed regularly and are available on the staff intranet.
Equality impact assessments are considered for all new policies and policy revisions.
Mandatory Training
CCG staff completed the following mandatory training during the year:
•

Conflicts of Interest

•

Counter Fraud and Anti-Bribery training

•

Equality and Diversity in the Workplace

•

Fire safety (face to face, and online)

•

Health, Safety and Welfare

•

Information Governance – Data Security Awareness training

•

Moving and Handling

•
•

PREVENT awareness (training to safeguard vulnerable people from being
radicalised to support terrorism)
Safeguarding Adults – Level 1 and Safeguarding Children – Level 1
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•

Unconscious Bias in Recruitment Awareness

Equality Impact Assessment
The CCG completes an Equality Impact Assessment for all policies and redesign of
services. Equality and Diversity support is provided on incident reporting and
management.
Stakeholder involvement
The Engagement Assurance Committee has been established to provide advice and
assurance to the governing body on the CCGs approach to stakeholder engagement.
The Annual Governance Statement will be presented to the Audit Committee (including
the CCG’s internal and external auditors), the Integrated Governance and Performance
Committee and the CCG Governing Body before being signed off by the Accountable
Officer.
Counter fraud arrangements
NHS South East London CCG has a nominated Local Counter Fraud Specialist and
has a risk-based work plan in place to identify and respond to fraud risk.
The Chief Financial Officer is the Executive Lead for counter fraud. The CCG has also
appointed the Director of Commissioning System Reform as the organisations Counter
Fraud Champion.
NHS South East London CCG has an Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and a
Fraud Response Plan in place to support the CCG's stance of zero tolerance to fraud
and corruption. The CCG’s counter fraud activities are informed by best practice
guidance provided by the NHS Counter Fraud Authority. NHS South East London CCG
is compliant with the Bribery Act 2010.
Emergency Planning and Business Continuity
As with all NHS organisations, NHS South East London CCG needs to ensure that it
has plans in place to be able to respond to a wide range of incidents that could impact
on community health, patient care or the operation of the CCG itself. This has been
emphasised on a huge scale by the national response required of the NHS in relation to
the COVID-19 pandemic over the last two years. The CCGs response to this, and the
escalation of the response back to a Level 4 incident, which meant that command and
control of the incident for the NHS was managed nationally, invoked an organisation
wide response from CCG staff, providing not only local commissioning of services in
response but a co-ordination of services and resources across the ICS footprint.
As a commissioner of health services, the CCG is classified as a Category 2 responder
under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and is required to cooperate with and support
partner organisations such as the local authority and NHS England in delivering an
incident response and co-ordinating activities in the local health economy. The CCG is
required to identify an Accountable Emergency Officer to assume executive
responsibility for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) matters,
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and an independent lay member for support. These roles are filled by the Chief
Operating Officer and Lay Member for Commissioning and Primary Care respectively.
The CCG has reviewed and updated its Business Continuity and EPRR plans in the
year and participated in both local and regional exercises to test and challenge plans.
The CCG is an active member of all six south east London Borough Resilience Forums
and liaises regularly with the regional NHS England EPRR team.
The risk that the CCG is not prepared to respond to any incidents is mitigated through
the appointment of experienced EPRR practitioners in the organisation, regular testing
and exercising of plans and processes, and annual assurance review by NHS England.
In 2021, the CCG was assessed as providing a “full” level of assurance, meeting all
NHS England core standards for emergency planning for CCGs.

Conflicts of Interest
The CCG has put in place numerous controls to manage the conflicts of interest risks
involved in the course of its commissioning duties. In addition to reviewing its policies, it
has put in place a Conflicts of Interest (CoI) panel and is guided by the Conflicts of
Interest Guardian, the lay member for governance.
Conflicts of interest Module 1 is part of mandatory training for all staff, Governing Body
members and relevant individuals participating in CCG’s committees and subcommittees.
An online system for declaration of interests has been implemented across the CCG to
make it easier for staff to declare and review their declarations of interests, gifts and
hospitality. Registers of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions is
published on the CCG website, as required by NHSE/I.
PREVENT Awareness
The CCG has a PREVENT programme lead who is also the Head of Safeguarding
Adults and Children. All CCG staff are required to complete the PREVENT training as
part of annual mandatory training.
Whistleblowing arrangements/ Freedom to Speak Up
The CCG has appointed a Freedom to Speak Up (FTSU) Guardian - Joy Ellery, Lay
Member on the SEL CCG Governing Body - and has borough Freedom to Speak Up
(FTSU) Champions.
Our team of FTSU Guardians and Champions comprises of individuals from diverse
backgrounds in terms of sex, age, ethnicity and professional experience both at work
and in their personal lives. The aim of having diversity in the team is to ensure that staff
have choice in the guardian they approach for any concerns they might have.
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The CCG also has Freedom to Speak Up/ Whistleblowing Policy to comply with national
guidance and requirements.

4.1.3.6

Capacity to Handle Risk

Leadership of the risk management process is provided by the Governing Body, its
various committees and the directors managing teams and departments.
The Governing Body is responsible for setting the strategic direction for risk
management and overseeing the arrangements for identifying and managing risk across
their organisation. Management of all risks is delegated to the Integrated Governance &
Performance (IGP) committee. The CCG’s Governing Body will receive regular reports
on risk – including the current status of the organisation’s Board Assurance Framework
– from the IGP committee as part of the regular prime committee report. Recognising
the specialist nature of some risks, the IGP committee uses the expertise of its subcommittees, such as quality and safety, to support the management and monitoring of
those related risks.
The Accountable Officer has overall responsibility for ensuring there is an effective risk
management assurance framework in place within the CCG, for meeting all statutory
requirements, adhering to guidance issued by the Department of Health in respect of
Governance, and is required to sign the Annual Governance Statement.
The Accountable Officer is accountable to NHS England. All staff, Executive Directors
and Senior Managers are responsible for:
• Ensuring that appropriate and effective risk management processes are in place
within their designated area(s) and scope of responsibility.
• Ensuring all staff are made aware of the risks within their work environment and of
their personal responsibilities.
• Preparing specific directorate/team policies and guidelines to ensure all necessary
risk assessments are carried out within their directorate/team in liaison with
appropriate identified relevant advisors where necessary.
• Implementing and monitoring any identified and appropriate risk management
control measures within their functions and scope of responsibility.
• Ensuring that in situations where significant risks have been identified and where
local control measures are considered to be potentially inadequate, Directors and
senior managers are responsible for bringing these risks to the attention of the
Executive team and the Governing Body
• Ensuring that all staff are given the necessary information and training to enable
them to undertake effective risk management practices.
• Ensuring that a risk register is maintained for each area of responsibility
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4.1.3.7

Other sources of assurance

NHS South East London CCG’s internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is
designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
The CCG has put in place a suite of policies, processes and reporting procedures to
ensure adequate oversight of the CCG’s control environment by governing body
members. The CCG has put in place various committees and sub-committees to
support its internal control framework.
The CCG’s Risk Management Framework and Board Assurance Framework are the
main mechanisms used by the CCG for providing assurance to the Governing Body that
an effective system of internal control is adopted and embedded.
Internal audit review has given “substantial assurance” on CCG’s controls to ensure
effective governance arrangements, which is the highest possible rating. The
governance review found satisfactory evidence that the CCG had put in place
consistent policies, governance structures, clear decision-making responsibilities
through Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, and a good system of information
distribution to its committee members.
Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published
June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
The CCG’s internal auditors have conducted an annual internal audit of conflicts of
interest management. The main objective of the audit was to assess whether a robust
framework is in place to manage conflicts of interest and gifts and hospitality, including
compliance with statutory guidance. The audit received “Reasonable Assurance”, with
one medium and one low action raised as recommendations.
Data Quality
The data provided to the membership body and governing body is generated from a
variety of sources and is reported internally and externally through monthly reports and
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a summary of the year end performance data is included in this report.
The CCG has robust processes and governance arrangements in place to ensure that
the quality of data used by the membership body and Governing Body is accurate and
fit for purpose. There are processes to ensure that all data that is forwarded to the
Governing Body has been sourced from credible sources, discussed, analysed and
minuted at committee meetings prior to being submitted for discussion or noting or for a
formal decision at the Governing Body.
Governing Body papers are made publicly available through the CCG website.
Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance (IG) Framework sets the processes and procedures
by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by the Data Security Protection Toolkit (DSPT). The annual DSPT submission
process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations
and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and
effectively.
There is a complex legal framework governing the way in which the NHS handles
information about patients and employees, including personal confidential data. This
includes the NHS Act 2006, the Health and Social Care Act 2012, the Data Protection Act
2018, UK General Data Protection Regulation, and the Human Rights Act. The DSPT
annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group,
other organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally,
securely, efficiently and effectively. The DSPT allows organisations to measure their
performance against the National Data Guardian’s ten data security standards and to
assist with compliance with the legal framework. All organisations that have access to
NHS patient data and systems must use this toolkit to provide assurance that they are
practising good data security and that personal information is handled correctly. With the
combined efforts of CCG staff NHS SEL CCG achieved Standards Met for the 2021-22
DSPT, publishing on 29th March 2022.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have
established an information governance management framework and have developed
information governance processes and procedures in line with the DSP Toolkit. We have
ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and continuously
update staff information governance guidance on the staff intranet to ensure staff are
aware of their information governance roles, responsibilities, and best practice.
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We have assigned the roles of Senior Information Risk Owner, Caldicott Guardian, and
Data Protection Officer who attend all the monthly Information Governance Sub
Committee (IGSC) meetings to monitor IG compliance within the CCG.
There are processes and polices in place for incident reporting and investigation of
serious incidents within the CCG. We have also developed an information governance
risk register to assess and manage information governance risks to embed an information
risk culture throughout the organisation. The documented risks on the information
governance risk register are reviewed and updated monthly at the IGSC meetings to
ensure appropriate mitigation plans are in place for each risk. We have established
policies for information governance, and for the security, management and quality of
information. Information Governance training is mandatory for all CCG staff, whether
permanent or temporary. Cyber security training has also been made mandatory for all
CCG staff to further bolster their understanding of their information governance roles and
responsibilities. We also have a framework in place for the management of information
governance.
Business Critical Models
NHS England recognises the importance of quality assurance across the full range of its
analytical work. In partnership with analysts in the Department of Health we have
developed an approach that is fully consistent with the recommendations in Sir Nicholas
Macpherson's review of quality assurance of government models. The framework
includes a programme of mandatory workshops for NHS England analysts, which
highlights the importance of quality assurance across the full range of analytical work.
The Macpherson Report on the review of quality assurance (QA) of Government
Analytical Models set out the components of best practice in QA making eight key
recommendations.
Third party assurances
The CCG uses Service Auditor Reports (SAR) to provide assurance on the services
delivered by a number of service organisations, the effectiveness of the control
environment and the adequacy and effectiveness of the key controls in operation.
We commission a range of business and contracting services from NEL Commissioning
Support Unit (NELCSU). Many of the functions performed by NELCSU are integral to
NHS South East London CCG’s business operations. NHS England commissions
Deloitte LLP to undertake Service Auditor Reporting (SAR) to provide this assurance.
The Deloitte’s Service Auditor Report sets out whether the controls are operating as
described against the control objectives identified. Where control exceptions and
qualifications were identified in the SARs they have been addressed by NELCSU. The
Service Auditor Report covers the financial year April 2021 to March 2022.
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The CCG also receives Service Auditor Reports for the provision of financial accounting
and primary care payments services, the operation of prescription services, payroll
infrastructure services and GP payments services. The content of these reports has
been considered in the conclusions drawn about the effectiveness of the CCG’s control
environment.
4.1.3.8

Control Issues

The main risks currently facing the CCG are captured in the Board Assurance
Framework which is updated every month. The main issues relate to the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on:
• achievement of national constitutional standards and recovery trajectories as were
planned ahead of the commencement of 21/22; and
• CCG’s ability to assure itself of the quality of its commissioned services, duty of
continuous quality improvement and all commissioned providers are compliant with their
statutory safeguarding functions for both children and adults.
It is the CCG’s view that the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has been to ‘prejudice
achievement of our priorities’ in respect of the below performance standards for the
population of south east London: A&E 4 hour standard; ambulance response and
handover standards; RTT waiting time and 52 week long wait standards, diagnostic
waiting time standards; cancer 2 week-wait and 62 day waiting time standards.
The CCG has worked with acute trusts and other ICS system partners to plan and
implement mitigating detailed actions over the course of the year. This includes the
establishment of an SEL Incident Control Centre, which has been operational since
spring 2020 and undertakes a coordinating function across system partners in respect
of acute capacity, and operational resilience and mutual aid arrangements.
In addition, a series of ICS-pandemic response workstreams were established to
improve provider performance and enhance resilience in areas including discharge;
urgent care; capacity; workforce and estates. Detailed mitigations in respect of planned
and urgent care were agreed on a system basis as part of ICS phase 3 and 4 recovery
plans, though these plans have been impacted by the increase in COVID-19 admissions
from December to the present time.
It is also our view that the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has required the CCG to
reconsider how it overviews on quality, performance and safeguarding by limiting its
outlook of quality intelligence. Routine Quality Assurance processes such as the
Clinical Quality Review Groups, quality and safeguarding reporting systems have been
stood down to allow a focus on the pandemic response.
To mitigate this, the CCG has worked in close collaboration with all commissioned
providers and partners. In respect of Safeguarding, designates attend local partners and
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system wide safeguarding meetings. The CCG also attends a London pan system
safeguarding meeting where hard and soft intelligence is shared. Safeguarding
designates are not being redeployed due to the pandemic to ensure continuous focus
and dialogue is maintained with system partners. The quality team attend providers'
internal quality committees as well as the sharing of quality and performance data as it
becomes available. The CCG has also revised its Serious Incident and Quality Alerts
policies and procedures as these processes are the CCG's main source of quality
intelligence during this time. This has meant that the CCG has been able to maintain
oversight of the most serious and pressing quality issues as they emerge.
4.1.3.9

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources

The CCG has the following key processes in place to ensure that resources are used
economically, efficiently and effectively.
The CCG has a clear governance framework which is set out in the CCG scheme of
delegation, including an operational scheme of delegation, to ensure the transparency,
clarity and robustness of decision making throughout the organisation.
• The CCG’s governance structures have a strong focus on the effective use of
resources. The Integrated Governance and Performance Committee (IGP) is
responsible for bringing together quality, finance and performance in overseeing the
delivery of the CCG’s activities.
• The CCG has a clearly defined strategic planning process where commissioning
intentions underpin strategic programmes which determine investment and
implementation plans. These are joint programmes with the local authorities for the
integration of health and care through which we can deliver value for money and
improved outcomes for our local population.
• The CCG, as part of the south east London Integrated Care System (ICS) works
through provider and commissioner leadership groups, and with provider and
commissioning finance leads, to deliver plans at scale and at borough level. We are
working to deliver a sustainable healthcare system and live within our means by
transforming services and maximising collaborative productivity across enablers such
as estates.
• The CCG has a robust process for managing financial and performance risk. The
CCG must achieve a range of statutory financial duties and ensure that providers
deliver services that meet national performance standards. The delivery of performance
expectations have been affected by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
CCG’s financial funding flows had been adjusted in-year as part of a national financial
pandemic response.
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Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on our arrangements
As part of the CCG’s temporary governance arrangements in response to the
pandemic, as detailed in Section 4.1.3.1, financial approval limits have been tightened
with all requests for COVID-19 expenditure greater than £50,000 requiring Gold level
command approval. For the 2021/22 financial year, the CCGs received revenue funding
of circa £267.5m in respect of additional COVID-19 expenditure incurred. The relevant
values have been included in the 2021/22 CCG Annual Accounts.

4.1.3.10

Head of Internal Audit Opinion

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system
of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit
concluded that:

FINAL HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the head of internal audit is required to
provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to the work performed, on the overall adequacy
and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and governance processes. The
opinion should contribute to the organisation's annual governance statement.
This document provides our final annual internal audit opinion for 2021/22 up to 31 March 2022.
1.1 The head of internal audit opinion
For the 12 months ended 31 March 2022, the head of internal audit opinion for the South
East London CCG is as follows:
Head of internal audit opinion 2021/22

Please see appendix A for the full range of annual opinions available to us in preparing
this report and final opinion.
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1.2 Scope and limitations of our work
The formation of our final opinion is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, agreed
with management and approved by the audit committee. Our final opinion is subject to
inherent limitations, as detailed below:
•

the final opinion does not imply that internal audit has reviewed all risks and
assurances relating to the organisation;

•

the final opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans
generated from a robust and organisation-led assurance framework. As such, the
assurance framework is one component that the board Body takes into account in
making its annual governance statement (AGS);

•

the final opinion is based on the findings and conclusions from the work undertaken,
the scope of which has been agreed with management / lead individual;

•

the final opinion is based on the testing we have undertaken, which was limited to
the area being audited, as detailed in the agreed audit scope;

•

where strong levels of control have been identified, there are still instances where
these may not always be effective. This may be due to human error, incorrect
management judgement, management override, controls being by-passed or a
reduction in compliance;

•

due to the limited scope of our audits, there may be weaknesses in the control
system which we are not aware of, or which were not brought to our attention;

•

it remains management’s responsibility to develop and maintain a sound system of
risk management, internal control and governance, and for the prevention and
detection of material errors, loss or fraud. The work of internal audit should not be
seen as a substitute for management’s responsibilities around the design and
effective operation of these systems; and

•

our internal audit work for 2021/22 has been undertaken through the substantial
operational disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. In undertaking our audit
work, we recognise that there has been a significant impact on both the operations
of the organisation and its risk profile, and our annual opinion should be read in this
context.
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1.3 Factors and findings which have informed our draft opinion
We have issued the following positive assurance opinions:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Stakeholder Engagement (Substantial Assurance)
Risk Management and Board Assurance Framework (Substantial Assurance)
Financial Planning (Substantial Assurance)
Conflicts of Interest (Reasonable Assurance)
Operational Planning and Performance (Reasonable Assurance)
Primary Care Networks (Reasonable Assurance)
Cyber Security Follow Up (Reasonable Assurance)

We have also issued two Advisory reviews in relation to Leases and IR35
Compliance.
We have not issued any ‘no assurance’ or ‘partial’ opinion reports in 2021/22 to date.
In the audits shown as providing Reasonable and Substantial assurance we have
identified some areas where enhancements are required and in each of these cases
management actions have been agreed, the implementation of which will improve the
control environment.

1.4 Topics judged relevant for consideration as part of the annual governance
statement
Based on the work we have undertaken on the CCG’s system of internal control we
do not consider there to be any issues that the CCG should include within its Annual
Governance Statement. The CCG should consider whether any other issues raised
based upon external reviews or other known control issues should be incorporated
within the Annual Governance Statement.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit
Stakeholder Management
Risk Management Culture and Board
Assurance Framework
Financial Planning
Conflicts of Interest
Operational Planning and Performance
Primary Care Commissioning and Primary Care
Networks
Cyber Security Follow Up
IR35 Compliance
Leases
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Level of Assurance Given
Substantial Assurance
Substantial Assurance
Substantial Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Reasonable Assurance
Advisory
Advisory

Acceptance of internal audit management actions
Management have agreed actions to address all of the findings reported by the internal
audit service during 2021/22.
Implementation of internal audit management actions
Where actions have been agreed by management, these have been monitored by
Internal Audit through the action tracking process in place. During the year progress has
been reported to the audit committee, with the validation of the action status confirmed
by internal audit on a rolling basis.
Our follow up of the actions agreed to address previous years' internal audit findings
shows that the organisation had made good progress in implementing the agreed
actions.
During 2021/22, there were a total of 75 open actions (14 high, 31 medium, 22 low and
eight advisory). This included those actions raised during the year, as well as those
carried forward from previous years.
57 actions (10 high, 24 medium, 19 low and four advisory) have been implemented,
nine actions (three high, three medium and three low) were superseded and nine
actions (one high, four medium and four advisory) were not yet due.

4.1.3.11 Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and
internal control
“My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work
of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of
the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me.
My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual
audit letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls
that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principle objectives
have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the governing body,
the audit committee and quality and safety committee, and a plan to address weaknesses
and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.”
4.1.3.12

Conclusion

There were no significant internal control issues identified.
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Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
20 June 2022
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4.2

Remuneration and Staff Report

4.2.1

Remuneration Report

4.2.1.1

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises of four members and has met ten times during
the past year. A full list of the NHS SEL CCG members and their roles is below.
Name

Role

Joy Ellery

Lay member for Patient and Public Involvement (Chair)

Peter Ramrayka

Lay member Primary Care & Commissioning

Simon Mackenzie

GB Secondary Care Specialist

and

1 GP clinical lead (depending upon availability)

Details on the work of the committee are given on page 90 under section 4.1.3.2.
4.2.1.2

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers

The Committee’s deliberations are carried out within the context of national pay and
remuneration guidelines, local comparability and taking account of independent advice
regarding pay structures. There are no arrangements in place for additional payments
or allowances to staff, at any level, outside of national regulations. The future
remuneration policy is not expected to change.
4.2.1.3

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers

4.2.1.3.1 Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension
entitlements)
All members of the Governing Body, plus those “in attendance” are deemed to be
individuals with significant financial responsibility during the financial year and are
therefore regarded as ‘senior managers’. No other CCG senior managers have
significant financial responsibility.
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Senior Manager Remuneration, including salary and pension entitlements (audited)
Financial Year 2021-22

Name

Andrew Bland
Usman Niazi
Stuart Rowbotham

Dr Angela Bhan

Neil Kennett-Brown

Andrew Eyres

Martin Wilkinson

Sam Hepplewhite

Sarah Cottingham

Kate Moriarty-Baker

Theresa Osborne

Christina Windle

Michael Boyce

Dr Jonty Heaversedge

Dr Siddharth Deshmukh

Title

Accountable
Officer
Chief Financial
Officer
Place Based
Director,
Bexley
Place Based
Director,
Bromley
Place Based
Director,
Greenwich
Strategic
Director
Integrated
Health and
Care, Lambeth
Director of
Integrated
Care and
Commissioning
, Lewisham
Place Based
Director,
Southwark From 15th
April 2020
Executive
Director of
Planning and
Commissioning
Chief Nurse
and Caldicott
Guardian
Director of
Commissioning
System Reform
Chief
Operating
Officer
Interim Chief
Operating
Officer
Chair and GP
Member of the
NHS South East
London CCG
Governing
Body
GP clinical lead
– Bexley

Salary & Fees
Senior
Manage
Other
r
Roles
Total

bands
of
£5,000
175-180

bands
of
£5,00
0
-

155-160
50-55

bands
of
£5,00
0
175180
155160
50-55

Taxable
Benefits

Annual
Performanc
e
Related
Bonuses

Long-term
Performanc
e
Related
Bonuses

All
Pension
Related
Benefit
s

Disclose
d in £ to
the
nearest
£100
0

bands of
£5,000
0

bands of
£5,000
0

bands
of
£2,500
37.5-40

0

0

0

42.5-45

0

0

0

-

Total

bands
of
£5,00
0
210215
195200
50-55

-

95-100

95100

0

80-85

0

0

0

22.5-25

105110

70-75

0

0

0

20-22.5

95100

60-65

0

0

0

17.5-20

80-85

130135

0

0

0

42.5-45

-

175180

130135

0

0

0

40-42.5

-

170175

125130

0

0

0

37.5-40

-

165170

125130

0

0

0

35-37.5

-

160165

70-75

0

0

0

22.5-25

110115

125130

0

0

0

42.5-45

170175

105110

0

0

0

-

30-35

80-85

0

80-85

0

0
-

70-75
-

60-65

95100

-

130-135

130-135

125-130

125-130

70-75
70-75

50-55

105-110

45-50

-

0

0

80-85
-
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105110

Dr Clive Anggiansah
Dr Andrew Parson
Dr Ruchira Paranjape
Dr Krishna Subbarayan
Dr Sabah Salman
Dr Adrian McLachlan
Dr Di Aitken
Dr Faruk Majid
Dr Jacky McLeod
Dr Nancy Kuchemann
Dr Robert Davidson
Professor Simon
Mackenzie
Mary Currie
Shelagh Kirkland

Joy Ellery

Peter Ramrayka

GP clinical lead
– Bexley
GP clinical lead
– Bromley
GP clinical lead
– Bromley
GP clinical lead
– Greenwich
GP clinical lead
– Greenwich
GP clinical lead
– Lambeth
GP clinical lead
– Lambeth
GP clinical lead
– Lewisham
GP clinical lead
– Lewisham
GP clinical lead
– Southwark
GP clinical lead
– Southwark
Secondary care
doctor
Registered
nurse
Lay member –
governance
and audit; also
deputy chair
Lay member –
patient and
public
involvement,
lead for
equalities and
engagement:
also Freedom
to Speak up
Guardian
Lay member –
Primary Care &
Commissioning

45-50

25-30

75-80

0

0

0

75-80
-

55-60

15-20

75-80

0

0

0

75-80
-

45-50

15-20

65-70

0

0

0

65-70
-

45-50

15-20

65-70

0

0

0

65-70
-

45-50

40-45

85-90

0

0

0

85-90
-

45-50
45-50

45-50
10-15

45-50

0

0

0

55-60

0

0

0

45-50

0

0

0

-

70-75
45-50

-

45-50
45-50

45-50
12.5-15

45-50
15-20

0

0

0

45-50
-

65-70

0

0

0

65-70
-

45-50

45-50

20-25

95100
20-25

0

0

0

0

0

0

10-15

0

0

0

-

10-15

-

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

10-15
-

15-20

0

0

0

-

10-15

10-15
-

-

15-20

95100
20-25

15-20
-

10-15
-

0

0

0

10-15
-

Martin Wilkinson was a joint appointment with Lewisham Council. His total salary for
these roles were £125,000 to £130,000, and pension related benefits £35,000 to
£37,500.
Andrew Eyres position was a joint appointment with Lambeth Council. His total salary
for these NHS roles was £145,000 to £150,000, and pension related benefits £42,500 to
£45,000.
Stuart Rowbotham was a joint appointment with Bexley Council. His total salary for
these roles was £165,000 to £170,000.
Neil Kennett-Brown has held the post of Managing Director for Greenwich, and since
1st November, the post of Winter Director at Lewisham and Greenwich Trust (0.8wte,
with the remaining 0.2wte covering his borough duties).
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No Governing Body member, or any other manager, received any performance related
pay or bonus, or taxable benefit.No Governing Body member, or any other manager,
received any performance related pay or bonus, or taxable benefit.
Senior Manager Remuneration, including salary and pension entitlements (audited)

Name

Title

Financial Year 2020-21
Annual
Long-term
Performance Performance All Pension
Related
Related
Taxable
Related
Bonuses
Bonuses
Benefits
Benefits

Salary & Fees
Senior
Manager

Other Roles

Total

bands of
£5,000

bands of
£5,000

bands of
£5,000

Disclosed in £
to the nearest
£100

bands of
£5,000

bands of
£5,000

bands of
£2,500

Total

bands of
£5,000

Andrew Bland

Accountable Officer

150-155

0

150-155

0

0

0

Usman Niazi

Chief Financial Officer

145-150

0

145-150

0

0

0

42.5-45

Stuart Rowbotham

Place Based Director, Bexley

70-75

0

70-75

0

0

0

0

70-75

Dr Angela Bhan

Place Based Director, Bromley

130-135

0

130-135

0

0

0

0

130-135

Neil Kennett-Brown

Place Based Director, Greenwich

130-135

0

130-135

0

0

0

0-2.5

130-135

Andrew Eyres

70-75

0

70-75

0

0

0

10-12.5

85-90

Martin Wilkinson

Strategic Director Integrated Health and Care, Lambeth
Director of Integrated Care and Commissioning,
Lewisham

60-65

0

60-65

0

0

0

30-32.5

90-95

Sam Hepplewhite

Place Based Director, Southwark - From 15th April 2020

125-130

0

125-130

0

0

0

Sarah Cottingham

Executive Director of Planning and Commissioning

125-130

0

125-130

0

0

0

Kate Moriarty-Baker

Chief Nurse and Caldicott Guardian

125-130

0

125-130

0

0

0

Theresa Osborne

Director of Commissioning System Reform

125-130

0

125-130

0

0

0

12.5-15

140-145

Christine Windle

Chief Operating Officer

105-110

0

105-110

0

0

0

27.5-30

145-150

Michael Boyce

115-120

0

115-120

0

0

0

45-47.5

160-165

Dr Jonty Heaversedge

Interim
Chief
Operating
Chair and
GP Member
ofOfficer
the NHS South East London CCG
Governing Body

65-70

0

65-70

0

0

0

0

65-70

Dr Siddharth Deshmukh

GP clinical lead – Bexley

45-50

15-20

70-75

0

0

0

0

70-75

Dr Clive Anggiansah

GP clinical lead – Bexley

45-50

0

45-50

0

0

0

0

45-50

Dr Andrew Parson

GP clinical lead – Bromley

60-65

15-20

80-85

0

0

0

0

80-85

Dr Ruchira Paranjape

GP clinical lead – Bromley

50-55

15-20

65-70

0

0

0

0

65-70

Dr Krishna Subbarayan

GP clinical lead – Greenwich

50-55

10-15

60-65

0

0

0

12.5-15

75-80

Dr Sabah Salman

GP clinical lead – Greenwich

45-50

20-25

65-70

0

0

0

47.5-50

115-120

Dr Adrian McLachlan

GP clinical lead – Lambeth

45-50

0

45-50

0

0

0

0

45-50

Dr Di Aitken

GP clinical lead – Lambeth

45-50

0-5

50-55

0

0

0

15-17.5

65-70

Dr Faruk Majid

GP clinical lead – Lewisham

45-50

0

45-50

0

0

0

0

45-50

Dr Jacky McLeod

GP clinical lead – Lewisham

45-50

0

45-50

0

0

0

0

45-50

Dr Nancy Kuchemann

GP clinical lead – Southwark

45-50

15-20

65-70

0

0

0

Dr Robert Davidson

GP clinical lead – Southwark

45-50

45-50

95-100

0

0

0

0

Professor Simon Mackenzie

Secondary care doctor

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Mary Currie

Registered nurse

10-15

0

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Shelagh Kirkland
Joy Ellery

Lay member – governance and audit; also deputy chair
Lay member – patient and public involvement, lead for
equalities and engagement: also Freedom to Speak up
Guardian

10-15

0

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

15-20

0

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

Peter Ramrayka

Lay member – Primary Care & Commissioning

10-15

0

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15
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120-122.5 270-275
190-195

112.5-115 235-240
92.5-95

220-225

102.5-105 225-230

110-112.5 175-180
95-100

Name

Andrew Bland

Pension Benefits 2021-22
Real
Real
Total
Lump
Cash
Increase Increase accrued Sum at equivalent
in
in
pension age 60
Transfer
pension pension at age
related Value at
at age
lump
60 at
to
31 March
60
sum at
31
accrued 2022
(bands
age 60
March
pension
of
(bands
2022
at 31
£2,500) of
(bands March
£2,500) of
2022
£5,000) (bands
of
£5,000)
£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

2.5-5

0-2.5

45-50

80-85

Cash
equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2020

Real
Increase in
Cash
(Proportion
of time in
Post)
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Employer
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

£'000s

998

934

38

-

608

547

43

-

792

749

24

-

Accountable
Officer
Usman Niazi
Chief Financial
Officer
Neil KennettBrown
Place Based
Director,
Greenwich
Andrew Eyres

2.5-5

0-2.5

2.5-5

-

-

0-2.5

30-35

-

35-40

55-60

65-70

170175

1,527

1,462

43

-

50-55

100105

1,102

1,047

37

-

Strategic Director
Integrated Health
and Care,
Lambeth
Martin Wilkinson

2.5-5

-

Director of
Integrated Care
and
Commissioning,
Lewisham
Sam Hepplewhite

2.5-5

2.5-5

50-55

105110

1,176

1,102

44

-

2.5-5

0-2.5

50-55

105110

1,147

1,078

40

-

Place Based
Director,
Southwark - From
15th April 2020
Sarah Cottingham
Executive Director
of Planning and
Commissioning
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Kate MoriartyBaker
Chief Nurse and
Caldicott Guardian
Theresa Osborne

2.5-5

0-2.5

35-40

95100

886

834

39

-

2.5-5

0-2.5

55-60

115120

1,218

1,162

36

-

-

167

130

25

-

662

600

44

-

373

353

13

-

Director of
Commissioning
System Reform
Christina Windle

0-2.5

-

5-10

Chief Operating
Officer
Michael Boyce

2.5-5

0-2.5

30-35

45-50

15-20

35-40

Interim Chief
Operating Officer
Dr Di Aitken

0-2.5

GP clinical lead –
Lewisham

-

Professor Simon Mackenzie received no payment in 2020/21 from the CCG for this role.

Note: Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.

Neil Kennett-Brown has held the post of Managing Director for Greenwich, and since 1st
November 2021, the post of Winter Director at Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (for 4
days per week). As the pension disclosure represents an actuarial valuation of his future
benefits these have not been allocated across all organisations but are included in full in
each set of financial statements where he has received remuneration.
The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in
pension multiplied by 20, less the contributions made by the individual. The real increase
excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of
pension rights. This value derived does not represent an amount that will be received by
the individual. It is a calculation that is intended to provide an estimation of the benefit
being a member of the pension scheme could provide. The pension benefit table provides
further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual.

4.2.1.4

Cash equivalent transfer values

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits
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valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme
and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures
shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total
membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which
disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits
in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS
pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member
as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their
own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
4.2.1.5

Real increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the
increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).
Due to the introduction of the Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) indexation, also
known as GMP equalisation, the CETV values at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 may
have been calculated using different methodologies; this may have impacted on the real
increase in CETV figure being seen within the report.
4.2.1.6 Pay multiples (audited)
Reporting bodes are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director / member in their organisation against the 25th percentile, median
and 75th percentile of remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. Total remuneration is
further broken down to show the relationship between the highest paid director's salary
component of their total remuneration against the 25th percentile, median and 75th
percentile of salary components of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in NHS
South East London CCG in financial year 2021/22 was £177,500 a 16.3% increase from
2020/21 (£152,500). This change reflects the increased responsibility associated with the
ICB responsibilities for which they are the Chief Executive Designate). In comparison, the
average pay of the organisation increased by 6.5% reflecting the impact of a 3% NHS Pay
Award and the impact of career progression pay increments.
The relationship to the remuneration of the organisation’s workforce is disclosed in the
below table.
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Year

2021-22
2020-21

25th Percentile
Total
Remuneration
Ratio
3.76
3.41

25th Percentile
Salary Ratio

Median Total
Remuneration
Ratio

47,154
44,780

Median Salary
Ratio

2.94
2.75

60,316
55,409

75th Percentile
Total
Remuneration
Ratio
2.17
2.16

75th Percentile
Salary Ratio

81,975
70,641

In 2021/22 no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid member of
the Governing Body. Remuneration ranged from £23,027 to £177,500 (annualised
estimated earnings of highest paid director).
In calculating the relationship between the highest paid person in the organisation and the
median remuneration, the CCG has to remove VAT and an estimate of agency premiums
from the payments for all contractors and treat all appointments and employments as if
they were full-time and for twelve months.
Total remuneration includes salary and pensionable benefits. It does not include
severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer
value of pensions.
Additional guidance for this disclosure requirement is available at Annex 4 of the FReM
which cites the Hutton review of Fair Pay – Implementation Guidance.

4.2.2

Staff Report

4.2.2.1
Number of senior managers
Taking this to be Very Senior Managers (VSM) this is a total of 14 individuals of which 7
are female and 7 are male. See tables at 4.2.2.2. and 4.2.2.3.
4.2.2.2
Gender
Female

Staff numbers and costs
Pay Band
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8A
Band 8B
Band 8C
Band 8D
Band 9
VSM

Female Total
Male
Band 3
Band 4

Headcount
5
14
30
49
60
79
53
44
32
15
7
388
2
5
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FTE
4.1
11.9
28.0
45.8
53.3
71.8
47.8
41.9
30.0
13.2
6.7
354.5
2.0
4.4

Basic Annual Pay
£84,507
£289,491
£812,496
£1,580,701
£2,272,669
£3,521,541
£2,735,747
£2,942,250
£2,541,224
£1,335,548
£843,477
£18,959,652
£40,660
£100,421

Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8A
Band 8B
Band 8C
Band 8D
Band 9
VSM

4
15
26
23
27
17
26
11
7
163
551

Male Total
Grand Total

4.2.2.3

4.0
15.0
24.2
21.9
27.0
16.5
26.0
10.8
7.0
158.8
513.3

£108,499
£501,764
£1,032,645
£1,072,549
£1,529,577
£1,170,241
£2,213,980
£1,098,378
£1,090,622
£9,959,336
£28,918,988

Staff composition

The CCG’s workforce as of 31 March 2022 is set out below by overall employee group and
then broken down by male and female, of which the split is 30/70 respectively.

Clinical Lead
ICS Chair
Governing Body
Governing Body Lay Member
Borough Lay Members
Employee
VSM (inc. ICS chair)
Grand Total

Female

Male

58
0
6
2
2
381
7
456

21
1
9
1
4
156
7
199

Grand
Total
79
1
15
3
6
537
14
655

Approximately one third of the CCG’s workforce are on part-time contracts, broken down
as below.
Employee Category
Full Time
Part Time
Grand Total

Headcount
433
118
551

FTE
433
80.3
513.3

The tables below show the CCG’s workforce broken down by other protected
characteristics.

Disability
Disability

Headcount %
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FTE

No
Not Declared
Prefer Not To Answer
Unspecified
Yes
Grand Total

490
1
10
3
47
551

88.9
0.2
1.8
0.5
8.5
100.0

456.8
1.0
9.3
2.6
43.6
513.3

Gender
Gender
Female
Male
Grand Total

Headcount %
FTE
388
70.4
354.5
163
29.6
158.8
551 100.0
513.3

Sexual Orientation
Sexual Orientation
Bisexual
Gay or Lesbian
Heterosexual or Straight
Not Disclosed
Other sexual orientation not listed
Grand Total

Headcount %
FTE
5
0.9
4.4
19
3.4
18.1
487
88.4
453.3
39
7.1
36.4
1
0.2
1.0
551 100.00
513.3

Ethnicity
Ethnic Group
A White - British
B White - Irish
C White - Any other White
background
CA White English
CB White Scottish
CC White Welsh
CJ White Turkish Cypriot
CU White Croatian
CY White Other European
E Mixed - White & Black African
F Mixed - White & Asian
G Mixed - Any other mixed
background
GC Mixed - Black & White
H Asian or Asian British - Indian
J Asian or Asian British - Pakistani
K Asian or Asian British Bangladeshi
L Asian or Asian British - Any other
Asian background

Headcount %
FTE
296
53.7
276.3
14
2.5
13.5
26
4.7
24.7
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1
1
1
1
1
2
2
4
6

0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.4
0.4
0.7
1.1

1.1
1.0
1.0
1.0
1.0
2.0
2.0
3.7
5.6

1
39
6
9

0.2
7.1
1.1
1.6

1.0
36.5
5.2
8.1

15

2.7

12.3

M Black or Black British - Caribbean
N Black or Black British - African
P Black or Black British - Any other
Black background
PD Black British
R Chinese
S Any Other Ethnic Group
SA Vietnamese
SD Malaysian
Z Not Stated
Grand Total

30
63
2

5.4
11.4
0.4

27.5
61.0
2.0

1
11
7
1
1
10
551

0.2
2.0
1.3
0.2
0.2
1.8
100.0

1.0
8.6
5.7
1.0
1.0
9.5
513.3

Religion
Religious Belief
Atheism
Buddhism
Christianity
Hinduism
Islam
Jainism
Judaism
Not Disclosed
Other
Sikhism
Grand Total

Headcount %
FTE
95
17.2
92.3
7
1.3
5.7
230
41.7
213.3
24
4.4
20.4
26
4.7
24.9
1
0.2
1.0
3
0.5
3.0
116
21.1
109.0
37
6.7
32.2
12
2.2
11.5
551 100.0
513.3

Age Band
Age Band
<=20 Years
21-25
26-30
31-35
36-40
41-45
46-50
51-55
56-60
61-65
66-70
>=71 Years
Grand Total

Headcount %
FTE
3
0.5
3.0
10
1.8
10.0
35
6.4
34.0
74
13.4
71.2
68
12.3
64.2
78
14.2
71.7
73
13.2
68.0
86
15.6
79.2
81
14.7
74.4
36
6.5
32.1
6
1.1
5.0
1
0.2
0.5
551 100.0
513.3

Marital Status
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Marital Status
Civil Partnership
Divorced
Legally Separated
Married
Single
Unknown
Unspecified
Widowed
Grand Total

Headcount %
FTE
5
0.9
5.0
35
6.4
33.3
6
1.1
6.0
253
45.9
229.1
208
37.7
196.5
39
7.1
38.4
2
0.4
2.0
3
0.5
3.0
551 100.00
513.3

4.2.2.4
Sickness absence data
NHS sickness absence and the absence cost is always calculated on a rolling 12-month
basis and is for substantive staff only. The table below shows the sickness absence rates
and cost for April 2021 to March 2022.
Absence FTE %
2.75%

4.2.2.5

Absence FTE
5,172

Available FTE
188,069

Staff turnover percentages

Based on Fixed Term Temp, Non-Exec Director/Chair, Permanent

CCG turnover remained fairly static for most of the year, averaging 12.71% from April to
December 2021. From January 2022 there has been a steady increase in turnover,
although the CCG continues to recruit to its vacancies. The monthly turnover for those in
substantive posts, those on fixed term contracts, non-executive directors and clinical leads
is shown below.
Headcount
FTE
Leavers
Headcount
Leavers
FTE
Starters
Headcount
Starters
FTE
Turnover
Rate
(Headcount)
Turnover
Rate (FTE)
Leavers
(12m)
Leavers
FTE (12m)
Turnover
Rate (12m)
Turnover
Rate FTE
(12m)

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

Sep-21

Oct-21

Nov-21

Dec-21

Jan-22

Feb-22

618

614

619

624

638

640

653

661

658

655

652

655

512.10

509.45

513.28

517.92

529.34

531.67

539.83

545.52

543.64

540.57

536.77

537.17

7

6

7

11

4

9

7

5

9

13

11

9

5.40

5.00

5.80

8.90

4.00

8.10

5.80

5.00

4.88

12.40

10.80

8.40

16

4

9

19

16

12

20

13

2

14

6

8

12.90

4.00

6.50

16.51

13.40

11.20

14.21

10.80

2.00

10.63

4.50

6.40

1.11%

0.95%

1.11%

1.74%

0.63%

1.43%

1.11%

0.79%

1.43%

2.06%

1.74%

1.43%

1.04%

0.96%

1.11%

1.71%

0.77%

1.56%

1.11%

0.96%

0.94%

2.38%

2.08%

1.61%

70

69

69

75

69

72

76

77

80

92

100

98

55.85

55.23

56.53

60.93

56.79

61.35

64.15

65.15

65.02

76.42

84.22

84.48

12.25%

12.11%

11.93%

12.83%

11.43%

11.80%

12.22%

12.27%

12.71%

14.59%

15.81%

15.41%

11.85%

11.74%

11.86%

12.65%

11.39%

12.16%

12.48%

12.59%

12.52%

14.69%

16.13%

16.10%
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Mar-22

4.2.2.6
Staff engagement percentages
The CCG does not participate in the Civil Service People Survey; instead it participates in
the annual national NHS staff survey. For this year’s survey the CCG obtained an
engagement rate of 84.9%, which was the highest across London CCGs, and an
improvement on last year (77%).
4.2.2.7
Staff policies
Further to the development of a suite of HR policies for the new CCG, additional policies
have been developed during 2021/22. These are a new secondment policy, a
redeployment policy, and a policy on mandatory vaccinations in care homes, which then
became surplus to requirements after the change in approach.
The flexible working policy was updated to reflect amendments to Agenda for Change
Section 33: Balancing work and personal life, which was agreed as part of the wider NHS
People Promise work strand on flexible working. The key changes are:
•
•
•

A new enhanced day one contractual right to request flexible working
A revised structure which is aimed at supporting managers to be more
explorative in reaching mutually workable outcomes
A re-emphasis on the importance of monitoring flexible working requests at an
organisational level, to ensure greater consistency of access to flexible working.

Improvements have been implemented in relation to recruitment practices. All roles,
including secondment opportunities, are now advertised internally first, before going to
external advert, unless there is an exceptionally urgent need for a post and/or it requires
specialist skills or qualifies as a hard to fill role. The CCG’s dedicated equalities in
recruitment group continues to meet and identify further improvements, building on the
output of the equalities in recruitment advisory audit.
The HR and OD function have undertaken a self-assessment against the NHS People
Plan and this will form the basis of an OD plan for the new ICB.
4.2.2.8
Trade Union Facility Time Reporting Requirements
The CCG’s Staff Partnership Forum continues to meet regularly and at each meeting there
is an update from the Chief Operating Officer (or deputy) and the Director of HR and OD.
There are no full-time officers within the CCG; however, one member of staff is a
representative for Managers in Partnership (MiP). In 2021/22, this represented two hours
of their paid time per week, this accounts for 0.01% of the CCG total paybill.
4.2.2.9
Other employee matters
The CCG has provided consistent health and wellbeing support and guidance to staff
during the pandemic, as well as regular communications and staff briefings, all of which
have been undertaken virtually.
The CCG continues to make progress against the objectives in its equality delivery plan.
Details of this can be found in our public sector equality duty (PSED) report for this year.
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The work of the staff network and champion groups continues to add value to the work of
the CCG, particularly as regards the equality delivery plan but also in relation to return to
office planning, a sustainable lease car scheme and a broad suite of training programmes
for network group members. Please refer to the organisational development section for
more details.
The CCG has operated entirely in a pandemic since its inception in April 2020; a range of
organisational development interventions have taken place and staff continue to be
encouraged to pursue training and development opportunities. For funded training, a
robust training request panel operates, and the demographic information of those
requesting training is captured and presented to the equalities committee on a 6-monthly
basis.
Staff continue to be supported to work safely at home, with ergonomic needs met through
the occupational health referral process. Staff who have preferred to be in the office have
been accommodated to do so for a range of personal reasons.
The pandemic has also shown more staff are revaluating their work-life balance and due to
the number of retirement enquiries received, the CCG has commissioned some retirement
planning course which will commence in the new financial year.
4.2.2.10 Expenditure on consultancy
A total of £3.8 million was spent on consultancy during 2021/22 (£2.3m in 2020/21). This
relates to services commissioned around the development of the STP and Integrated Care
System (£0.8m); services relating to South East London CCG acting as host for a number
of pan London projects (£0.6m); services relating to various estates (£0.1m) and digital
developments (£0.5m); and for services supporting the health economy in its response to
COVID-19 (£0.4m), and related service transformation (£0.7m); in addition a further £0.8m
was spent supporting various ad-hoc projects.
4.2.2.11 Off-payroll engagements
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements in 2021/22 for more than £245 per day and more than
six months:
Number
Total number of existing engagements, or those that reached six
months in duration, between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022

11

Of which
Number of engagements subject to off payroll legislation and
determined as in-scope of IR35
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0

Number of engagements subject to off payroll legislation and
determined as in-scope of IR35

11

Of which
For less than one year at the time of reporting

8

For between one and two years at the time of reporting

3

Number engaged directly (via Personal Service Company contract
to department) and are on departmental payment

0

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/ assurance
purposes during the year

0

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 following the
consistency review

0

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject to
a risk-based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is
paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
Off-payroll engagement of Governing Body members and senior officials with
“significant financial responsibility” between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022:
Number of off-payroll engagements of Governing Body members, and
senior officials with “significant financial responsibility” during the
financial year

0

Number of individuals who have been deemed Governing Body
members, and senior officials with “significant financial responsibility”,
during the financial year (payroll and off-payroll)

13

Page 127

4.2.2.12 Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
Table 1: Exit Packages
Exit package
cost band
(inc. any
special
payment
element

Less than
£10,000
£10,000 £25,000
£25,001 £50,000
£50,001 £100,000
£100,001 £150,000
£150,001 –
£200,000
>£200,000
TOTALS

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

£s

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

£s

Number of
departures
where special
payments
have been
made
WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

0

1

6,635

0

0

0

0

1

10,667

0

0

35,561

0

0

1

35,561

0

0

-

-

0

0

-

-

0

0

1

106,667

0

0

1

106,667

0

0

-

-

0

0

-

-

0

0

-

-

0

0

-

-

0

0

4

159,530

0

0

4

159,530

0

0

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

1

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

£s

WHOLE
NUMBERS
ONLY

6,635

0

1

10,667

1

Cost of other
departures
agreed

Total
number of
exit
packages

Total cost of
exit packages

Cost of special
payment
element
included in exit
packages

£s

Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of Agenda for Change Terms and
Conditions. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where NHS SEL CCG has agreed early
retirements, the additional costs are met by NHS SEL CCG and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are
met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in the table.

Page 128

Table 2: Analysis of Other Departures
Table 2: Analysis of Other Departures
Agreements

Voluntary redundancies
including early retirement
contractual costs
Mutually agreed
resignations (MARS)
contractual costs
Early retirements in the
efficiency of the service
contractual costs
Contractual payments in
lieu of notice*
Exit payments following
Employment Tribunals or
court orders
Non-contractual
payments requiring HMT
approval**
TOTAL

Number
0

Total Value of
agreements
£000s
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Zero (0) non-contractual payments were made to individuals where the payment value
was more than 12 months of their annual salary.
The Remuneration Report includes disclosure of exit packages payable to individuals
named in that Report.
I hereby sign off the Remuneration Report element of the NHS South East London CCG
Annual Report 2021/22.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
20 June 2022
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4.3

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

NHS SEL CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit
Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts,
and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report in
Section 3 of this report.
A summary of the Head of Internal Audit Opinion is included in this Annual Report on
Page 108.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
20 June 2022
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5. Annual accounts
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NHS South East London CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE
GOVERNING BODY OF NHS SOUTH EAST LONDON CLINICAL
COMMISSIONING GROUP
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS South East London Clinical Commissioning
Group (“the CCG”) for the year ended 31 March 2022 which comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity and Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes, including the
accounting policies in note 1.
In our opinion the financial statements:


give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2022 and of its
income and expenditure for the year then ended; and



have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by NHS
England with the consent of the Secretary of State as being relevant to CCGs in England
and included in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2021/22.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs
(UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the CCG in accordance with, UK ethical
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.
Emphasis of matter – going concern
We draw attention to the disclosure made in note 1.1 to the financial statements which explains
that on 1 July 2022, NHS South East London CCG will be dissolved and its services transferred
to NHS South East London Integrated Care Board. Under the continuation of service principle,
the financial statements of the CCG have been prepared on a going concern basis because its
services will continue to be provided by the successor public sector entity. Our opinion is not
modified in this respect.
Going concern basis of preparation
The Accountable Officer has prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as
they have not been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG
without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. They have also concluded
that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to
continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial
statements (“the going concern period”).
In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to
the CCG’s operating model and analysed how those risks might affect the CCG’s financial
resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period.
Our conclusions based on this work:


we consider that the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate;



we have not identified, and concur with the Accountable Officer’s assessment that there is
not, a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern for the going
concern period.
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However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may
result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they
were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that the CCG will continue in operation.
Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud
To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or
conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity
to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:


Enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and internal audit as to the CCG’s highlevel policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the internal audit
function, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.



Assessing the incentives for management to manipulate reported expenditure as a result
of the need to achieve statutory targets delegated to the CCG by NHS England.



Reading Governing Body and Audit Committee minutes.



Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.



Reviewing the CCG’s accounting policies.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any
indications of fraud throughout the audit.
As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet
delegated statutory resource limits, we performed procedures to address the risk of
management override of controls, in particular the risk that CCG management may be in a
position to make inappropriate accounting entries.
On this audit we did not identify a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because of the nature
of funding provided to the CCG, which is transferred from NHS England and recognised through
the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity. However, in line with the guidance set out in
Practice Note 10 Audit of Financial Statements of Public Sector Bodies in the United Kingdom
we recognised a fraud risk related to expenditure recognition and specifically related to the
existence and accuracy of year end accrued expenditure.
We did not identify any additional fraud risks.
In determining the audit procedures, we took into account the results of our evaluation of some
of the CCG-wide fraud risk management controls.
We also performed procedures including:
 Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries
to supporting documentation. These included journals with unusual account code
combinations and material post close journals.
 Assessing the completeness of disclosed related party transactions and verifying they had
been accurately recorded within the financial statements.
 Identifying expenditure invoices recognised in the period 1 March 2022 to 31 May 2022, to
determine whether the income and expenditure is recognised in the correct accounting
period, in accordance with the amounts billed to the corresponding parties.
 Assessing the outcome of the NHS agreement of balances exercise with CCGs and other
NHS providers and investigated the cause of the variances identified.
 Agreeing a sample of year end accruals to relevant supporting documents and evidence,
including invoices received after year end.
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Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to non-compliance with
laws and regulations
We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a
material effect on the financial statements from our general sector experience and through
discussion with the directors and other management (as required by auditing standards), and
from inspection of the CCG’s regulatory correspondence and discussed with the directors and
other management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and
regulations.
As the CCG is regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the
control environment including the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory
requirements.
We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to
any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit.
The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies
considerably.
The CCG is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
the National Health Service Act 2006 and financial reporting legislation. We assessed the extent
of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial
statement items and our work on the regularity of expenditure incurred by the CCG in the year
of account.
Whilst the CCG is subject to many other laws and regulations, we did not identify any others
where the consequences of non-compliance alone could have a material effect on amounts or
disclosures in the financial statements.
Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation
Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have
detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have
properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example,
the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.
In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are
not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect noncompliance with all laws and regulations.

Other information in the Annual Report
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report
together with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as
explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:
 we have not identified material misstatements in the other information;
 in our opinion the other information included in the Annual Report for the financial year is
consistent with the financial statements; and
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in our opinion the other information has been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2021/22.

Annual Governance Statement
We are required to report to you if the Annual Governance Statement has not been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2021/22. We have nothing to report in this respect.
Remuneration and Staff Reports
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Reports subject to audit have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2021/22.
Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 85, the Accountable Officer1 is
responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view. They are
also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; assessing the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the
CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our
opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS
Opinion on regularity
We are required to report on the following matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
In our opinion, in all material respects, the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.
Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report if we identify any significant
weaknesses in the arrangements that have been made by the CCG to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
We have nothing to report in this respect.
Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
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As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 85, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for ensuring that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically. We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources are
operating effectively.
We planned our work and undertook our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice
and related statutory guidance, having regard to whether the CCG had proper arrangements in
place to ensure financial sustainability, proper governance and to use information about costs
and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
Statutory reporting matters
We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and
Auditor General (‘the Code of Audit Practice’) to report to you if we refer a matter to the
Secretary of State and NHS England under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to
make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful
expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency.
We have nothing to report in this respect.
THE PURPOSE OF
RESPONSIBILITIES

OUR

AUDIT

WORK

AND

TO

WHOM

WE

OWE

OUR

This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS South East London
CCG, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body
of the CCG, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Members of the Governing Body, as a body, for our audit
work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS South East London CCG
for the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Fleur Nieboer
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP,
Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London
E14 5GL
21 June 2022
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NHS South East London CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2022
Note

2021-22
£'000

2020-21
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(37,978)
(203)
(38,181)

(47,937)
(141)
(48,078)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

46,761
4,034,804
1,144
856
4,495
4,088,060

39,851
3,473,649
716
5,758
1,952
3,521,926

4,049,879

3,473,848

653
4,050,532

3,473,848

Total Net Expenditure for the Financial Year

4,050,532

3,473,848

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year

4,050,532

3,473,848

Net Operating Expenditure
7

Finance expense
Net expenditure for the Year
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NHS South East London CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2022
Note

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

2021-22

2020-21

£'000

£'000

9
10

0
(0)
(0)

1,797
(0)
1,797

11
12

14,847
660
15,507

38,622
242
38,864

15,507

40,661

(208,719)
(6,614)
(215,333)

(243,566)
(5,758)
(249,324)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities

(199,826)

(208,663)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(199,826)
(199,826)

(208,663)
(208,663)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

13
14

The notes on pages 142 to 171 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 138 to 141 were approved by the Audit Committee on behalf of the Governing Body on
15 June 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

Andrew Bland
Chief Accountable Officer
20 June 2022

David Maloney
Director of Operational Finance
20 June 2022

Page 139

NHS South East London CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2022
General fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2021-22
Balance at 01 April 2021
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 01 April 2021

Total reserves
£'000

(208,663)
(208,663)

(208,663)
(208,663)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2021-22
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(4,050,532)

(4,050,532)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2022

(4,050,532)
4,059,369
(199,826)

(4,050,532)
4,059,369
(199,826)

General fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Balance at 01 April 2020
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 01 April 2020

Total reserves
£'000

(184,457)
(184,457)

(184,457)
(184,457)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Net operating costs for the financial year

(3,473,848)

(3,473,848)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year

(3,473,848)

(3,473,848)

Net funding

3,449,642

3,449,642

Balance at 31 March 2021

(208,663)

(208,663)

The notes on pages 142 to 171 form part of this statement
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NHS South East London CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2022
Note

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Other Gains & Losses
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

9
9
11
13
14
14

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

12

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 142 to 171 form part of this statement
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2021-22
£'000

2020-21
£'000

(4,050,532)
402
742
653
23,775
34,847
0
856
(4,058,951)

(3,473,848)
716
0
0
4,434
13,824
(1,091)
5,758
(3,450,207)

0
0

(6)
(6)

(4,058,951)

(3,450,213)

4,059,369
4,059,369

3,449,642
3,449,642

418

(571)

242
660

813
242

NHS South East London CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22
Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England and Improvement (NHSEI) has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently,
the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the DHSC Group Accounting Manual 2021-22, issued by the Department of
Health and Social Care (DHSC). The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that
they are meaningful and appropriate to the Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial
Reporting Advisory Board. Where the DHSC Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be
most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been
selected. The particular policies adopted are described below. These have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in
relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
NHS South East London CCG’s annual report and accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. However, the CCG will be dissolved on
30th June 2022; this follows the Health and Care Act receiving royal assent on 28th April 2022. The Act allows for the establishment of the Integrated
Care Board (ICB) across England and will abolish CCGs. ICBs will take on the commissioning functions of CCGs. As a result, the functions, assets and
liabilities of the CCG will therefore transfer to NHS South East London Integrated Care Board. Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns
where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in
published documents. Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether its services will continue to be provided (using the
same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.
Alongside the Long Term Plan, NHSEI also published indicative CCG allocations covering the same 5 years to 2023-24. In February 2021, the
Department of Health and Social Care published the White Paper "Integration and innovation: working together to improve health and social care for
all", setting out proposals for integration and collaboration in health and care. Subject to parliamentary approval, the proposals included in the White
Paper will be implemented with a target date of 1st July 2022. ICB’s will become statutory bodies, responsible for NHS strategic planning and
allocation decisions, and accountable to NHS England. Whilst CCGs will be abolished under the proposals, the White Paper confirms that their
functions and staff will transfer to the new ICB NHS body. It is also intended that ICB’s will additionally take on some of the commissioning
responsibilities of NHS England.
Non-trading entities in the public sector are assumed to be going concerns where the continued provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents. Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the
continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published
documents.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group
As public sector bodies are deemed to operate under common control, business reconfigurations within the DHSC group are outside the scope of IFRS
3 Business Combinations. Where functions transfer between two public sector bodies, the GAM requires the application of ‘absorption accounting’.
Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took place. Where assets and liabilities transfer,
the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give
rise to income and expenditure entries.

1.4

Pooled Budgets
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with each of the 6 local boroughs, namely Bexley, Bromley,
Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark in accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangements, funds are pooled for
Better Care Funds for each borough plus some smaller arrangements and Note 17 provides details of the income and expenditure.
Some of the pools are hosted by NHS SELCCG and some by the individual Local Authorities, the details are provided in Note 17. The clinical
commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified
in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

1.5

Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used within the clinical
commissioning group. NHS SELCCG only has one reporting segment, namely, Commissioning of Healthcare Services.
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NHS South East London CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22
Notes to the financial statements
1.6

Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 several practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
·
As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the Clinical Commissioning Group does not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of
a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less;
·
The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered
in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date;
·
The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group
to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding
is recognised in the period in which it is received.
The majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group's other income relates to transactions with the six London Boroughs in respect of Better Care Fund
and other Section 75 arrangements.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the
customer and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross-government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised
as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, noncash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.7
1.7.1

1.7.2

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the
service is received from employees, including non-consolidated performance pay earned but not yet paid.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes
that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as if they were a defined contribution scheme; the cost recognised in these accounts represents the
contributions payable for the year.
Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for
the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
Some employees within the Clinical Commissioning Group's Borough Integrated Commissioning teams work across NHS SELCCG and the relevant
London Borough. Some of these employees are also members of the Local Government Pension Scheme which is a defined benefit pension scheme
and have a contract of employment with relevant London Borough. The scheme assets and liabilities attributable to those employees cannot be
identified and are not recognised in the CCG accounts, however they form part of the disclosure within the accounts of the relevant London Boroughs.

1.8

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value
of the consideration payable.

1.9

Grants Payable
Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a grant recipient in a specific period, the clinical commissioning
group recognises the expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an accruals basis.
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NHS South East London CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22
Notes to the financial statements
1.10
1.10.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes
·
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group
·
it is expected to be used for more than one financial year
·
the cost of the item can be measured reliably, and either the item has cost of at least £5,000, or collectively, a number of items have a cost of at
least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase
dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as
separate assets and depreciated over their individual useful economic lives.

1.10.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were most
recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the
reporting date.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at
the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined as follows:
·
Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·
Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional
fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into
use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic
cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in
existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised
in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A
revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation
reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset, and thereafter to expenditure. Gains
and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.10.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of
the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
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1.11
1.11.1

1.11.2

Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the clinical commissioning
group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
·
When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical commissioning group;
·
Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
·
Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and
equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets
are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
·
The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
·
The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
·
The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
·
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
·
The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
·
The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the
sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria for recognition are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, where no active market
exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis) and value in use where the asset is income generating. Internallydeveloped software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances.
Revaluations and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment.

1.12

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation or amortisation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets,
less any residual value over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the
assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service
potential from the asset. This is specific to clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful
lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful life.
At each financial year end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment or intangible
non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of such an impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to
determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually at the
financial year end.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been
determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure.

1.13
1.13.1

1.14

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
NHS South East London Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or
finance leases.
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk
of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral
part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at current values.
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1.15

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rates as follows;
·
Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of negative 1.30% (2020-21: negative 0.95%) in real
terms.
All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial
Position date:
·
A nominal short-term rate of 0.47% (2020-21: minus 0.02%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from
Statement of Financial Position date.
·
A nominal medium-term rate of 0.70% (2020-21: 0.18%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years
from the Statement of Financial Position date.
·
A nominal long-term rate of 0.95% (2020-21: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years
from the Statement of Financial Position date.
·
A nominal very long-term rate of 0.66% (2020-21: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of
Financial Position date.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.16

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution (the trading name of the NHS Litigation Authority) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays
an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although
NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.17

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.

1.18

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not
recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present value.
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1.19

1.19.1

1.19.2

1.19.3
1.19.4

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provision of the financial instrument or, in the
case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have
expired or when the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at amortised cost;
·
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristICB of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at
the time of initial recognition.
Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple
debt instruments.
After initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple
debt instruments.
After initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.
Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance
representing expected credit losses on the financial instrument.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment, in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables, contract assets and lease receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition (stage 2), and otherwise at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their
executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds, and Exchequer Funds’ assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The
clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as
the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.20

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.20.1

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.

1.21

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.22

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation.
By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are
handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have
been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue expenditure).
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1.23
1.23.1

1.23.2

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and
assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.
Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the clinical
commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
- The Governing Body does not consider the activity of the Charitable Funds pertaining to Greenwich to represent a significant risk to the group's
accounts. The charitable funds represent approximately 0.2% of the revenues outturn position of NHS SE London CCG. Accordingly the Governing
Body has decided not to consolidate these Charitable accounts with that of the CCG. In February 2022, Greenwich charity sold a property it held for
£4.96m, this receipt went through the CCG bank account but was immediately paid over to the charity's account.
Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
● The largest estimated cost in the clinical commissioning group's accounts relates to the February and March 2021 prescribing accrual totalling
£36.1m. The prescribing accrual however is not deemed to have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. This is consistent with previous year's accounting.

1.24

Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all transactions economically
equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market
value.

1.25

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2021-22. These
Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2022/23, and the The DHSC GAM does not
require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2021-22. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption.
IFRS 16 Leases - The Standard is effective 1 April 2022 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM
The objective of IFRS 16 is to report information that faithfully represents lease transactions and provides a better basis for users of financial
statements to assess the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. To meet that objective, a lessee will recognise assets and
liabilities arising from a lease. For lessors, the distinction between operating and finance leases will remain and the accounting will be largely
unchanged.
Management has in all material respects concluded its review and analysis of the impending changes resulting from this new standard. Accounting
policies will be reviewed and updated in the 2022/23 financial statements once the standard has been implemented. All entities applying the FReM
shall recognise the cumulative effects of initially applying IFRS 16 recognised at the date of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balances
of taxpayers’ equity. Comparatives do not need to be restated.
Short term leases less than 12 months, low value assets less than £5,000 and leasing of intangible assets are exempt from application.
On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the clinical commissioning group will apply the standard retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially
applying the standard recognised in the income and expenditure reserve at that date. For existing operating leases with a remaining lease term of more
than 12 months and an underlying asset value of at least £5,000, a lease liability will be recognised equal to the value of remaining lease payments
discounted on transition at the Trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The Trust's incremental borrowing rate will be defined by HM Treasury. Currently this
rate is 0.91% but this may change between now and adoption of the standard. The related right of use asset will be measured equal to the lease liability
adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments. For existing peppercorn leases not classified as finance leases, a right of use asset will be
measured at current value in existing use or fair value. The difference between the asset value and the calculated lease liability will be recognised in
the income and expenditure reserve on transition. No adjustments will be made on 1 April 2022 for existing finance leases
For leases commencing in 2022/23, the Trust will not recognise a right of use asset or lease liability for short term leases (less than or equal to 12
months) or for leases of low value assets (less than £5,000). Right of use assets will be subsequently measured on a basis consistent with owned
assets and depreciated over the length of the lease term.
The change in lease accounting requires capitalisation of operational lease contracts, which will have an impact on total assets and a corresponding
impact on the total liabilities. IFRS 16 requires the lease payment to be split between a depreciation charge included in operating costs and an interest
expense on lease liabilities shown within finance costs. Under the existing standard the lease payment is charged to operating lease expenditure in
operating costs.
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Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract income
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Other non contract revenue
Total Other operating income
Total Operating Income
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2021-22
Total

2020-21
Total

£'000

£'000

299
31,434
6,245
37,978

1,074
40,678
6,184
1
47,937

203
203

53
88
141

38,181

48,078
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3.1 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Education, training
and research
Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

£'000
299
299

Education, training
and research
Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Over time
Total

£'000
297
2
299
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Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000

Other Contract
income
£'000

4,342
27,092
31,434

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000
4,090
27,344
31,434

2,203
4,042
6,245

Other Contract
income
£'000
5,908
337
6,245

Recoveries in
respect of employee
benefits
£'000
-

Recoveries in
respect of employee
benefits
£'000
-
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total

2021-22
Other
£'000

Total
£'000

32,285
4,039
5,991
163
160
42,638

4,123
4,123

36,408
4,039
5,991
163
160
46,761

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

42,638

4,123

46,761

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

42,638

4,123

46,761

4.1.1 Employee benefits

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total

2020-21
Other
£'000

Total
£'000

27,204
3,337
5,346
1
61
35,949

3,903
3,903

31,107
3,337
5,346
1
61
39,852

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(1)
35,948

3,903

(1)
39,851

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

35,948

3,903

39,851

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2021-22

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000
-
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2020-21

Total
£'000
-

Total
£'000
-

(1)
(1)
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4.2 Average number of people employed

2021-22

Permanently
employed
Number
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged on capital
projects

Other
Number

2020-21

Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

516.00

27.40

543.81

457.48

35.49

492.97

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2021-22
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
1
6,635
1
10,667
1
35,561
1
106,667
4
159,530

2021-22
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Total

2020-21
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
1
8,415
1
20,996
4
146,523
3
247,902
1
160,000
10
583,836

2020-21
Other agreed departures
Number
£
1
1

2021-22
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

2020-21
Other agreed departures
Number
£
1
19,622
1
19,622

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Total

-

-

1
1

Number

Number

2021-22
Total
1
1
1
1
4
2020-21
Total
1
2
4
3
1
11

£

6,635
10,667
35,561
106,667
159,530

£

8,415
20,997
146,523
247,902
160,000
583,837

As a single exit package can be made up of several components each of which will be counted separately in this table, the total number will not necessarily match the total number in the table
above, which will be the number of individuals.
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
The Remuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in that Report.
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4.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules
of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit
schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and
Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to
the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
4.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2022, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2021, updated to 31 March
2022 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS
19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual
NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account
recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay.
The 2016 funding valuation also tested the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 2012
valuation. There was initially a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits
caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.
HMT published valuation directions dated 7 October 2021 (see Amending Directions 2021) that set out the technical detail of how the
costs of remedy are included in the 2016 valuation process. Following these directions, the scheme actuary has completed the cost
control element of the 2016 valuation for the NHS Pension Scheme, which concludes no changes to benefits or member contributions
are required. The 2016 valuation reports can be found on the NHS Pensions website at https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-schemeaccounts-and-valuation-reports.
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5. Operating expenses

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Provider Sustainability Fund
Services from Other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
General Dental services and personal dental services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General Ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Funding to group bodies
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total Purchase of goods and services

2021-22
Admin
£'000

2021-22
Programme
£'000

7,712
599
108
398
2,663
1,098
5
1,799
242

12,298
2,156,466
789,808
501,134
3,160
213,691
962
1,626
314,146
584
4,446
1,140
10,005
77
5,533
-

0
30
797
193
220
15,864

Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
·
Assets carried at amortised cost
·
Assets carried at cost
·
Available for sale financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment properties
Total Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Change in discount rate
Provisions
Total Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Grants to Other bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Expected credit loss on receivables
Expected credit loss on other financial assets (stage 1 and 2 only)
Inventories written down
Inventories consumed
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2021-22
Total
£'000

2020-21
Total
£'000
19,243
1,693,493
697,564
509,611
2,782
214,264
1,041
1,300
295,254
913
7,019
2,318
13,126
248
9,299
267

3,269
16
579
4,018,940

20,010
2,157,065
789,916
501,134
3,160
213,691
962
1,626
314,146
584
4,844
3,803
11,103
82
7,332
242
0
30
4,066
209
799
4,034,804

-

402
742
1,144

402
742
1,144

674
42
716

-

855
855

856
856

5,758
5,758

547
74
(160)
461

52
2,804
1,179
4,035

599
2,804
74
(160)
1,178
4,495

853
482
(149)
766
1,952

16,325

4,024,974

4,041,299

3,482,075

0
3,423
510
1,974
3,473,649

In accordance with S1 2008 NO.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008, the
Clinical Commissioning Group is required to disclose the liability of KPMG, its members, partners and staff (whether in contract, negligence, or
otherwise) shall in no circumstances exceed £2m, aside from where the liability cannot be limited by law. This is in aggregate in respect of all services.
The audit fees above excluding VAT is £241,550.

The Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to obtain assurance from the external auditor over reported compliance with the requirements of
the Mental Health Investment Standard. The Clinical Commissioning Group has accrued for £30,000 (excluding VAT) in relation to this work to be
completed, however, the final fee is yet to be confirmed.
Total operating expenditure includes administration expenses of £36,602k (20/21: £35,553k) which is £261k (20/21: £1,017k) below the administration
expenses allocation for the financial year. The increase in adminstration expenses primarily relates to the 2021/22 NHS 3% Pay Settlement and an
increase in the staffing establishment.

In year the CCG received funding for all system related Covid Payments and support (in 20/21 this was the case from October onwards); this change
accounts for a £354m increase in payments to trusts (NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts) in year. The remaining movements relate to system growth
and centrally funded initiatives to support system recovery following the pandemic (including £54m for the Elective Recovery Fund).
In year the CCG has spent an additional £267.5m supporting the system response to Covid expenditure (£191.7m in 20/21). £224.3m was spent
directly with the CCG's main NHS providers, and an additional £39.2m spent on Covid related costs, of which £27.4m is reported against "Purchase
of Healthcare from Non NHS bodies" (£76.1m in 20/21). This includes payments made to local councils, and other partner organisations. In addition, a
further £4.0m has been spent within primary care, reported against "GPMS/APMS and PCTMS".
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2021-22
Number

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2021-22
£'000

2020-21
Number

2020-21
£'000

57,544
55,833
97.03%

904,328
886,421
98.02%

49,774
48,515
97.47%

811,200
793,064
97.76%

1,600
1,562
97.63%

2,963,569
2,963,434
100.00%

5,299
5,250
99.08%

2,427,869
2,427,166
99.97%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay at least 95% of valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of
receipt, whichever is later.
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7. Other gains and losses

2021-22
£'000

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment assets other than by sale
Total
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653
653

2020-21
£'000
-
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8. Operating Leases
8.1 As lessee
8.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total
8.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Land
£'000

Buildings
£'000
-

Land
£'000

1,291
1,291

Buildings
£'000
-

506
836
122
1,464

2021-22
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
41
41

1,332
1,332
2021-22
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
27
47
74

Land
£'000

533
883
122
1,538

Buildings
£'000
-

Land
£'000

8,009
8,009

Buildings
£'000
-

920
1,016
198
2,134

2020-21
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
19
19

8,028
8,028
2020-21
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
23
55
78

943
1,071
198
2,212

In year, the CCG has reviewed all its lease payments covered by IFRS 16 (Leases); this has led to the re-classification of £5.3m of NHS Property and Community Health Partner Payments as expenditure
on service charges, and not leases. The remaining movement relates to a consolidation of the CCG estate, in particular the vacation of Lower Marsh (Lambeth).
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9 Property, plant and equipment
2021-22

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2021

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£'000
1,008

Plant &
machinery
£'000

Information
technology

Furniture &
fittings

13

£'000
4,166

£'000

Total

706

£'000
5,893

Depreciation 01 April 2021

236

13

3,175

672

4,096

Net Book Value 01 April 2021

772

-

991

34

1,797

Impairments Charged
Depreciation Charged during the year

742
30

-

363

9

742
402

Finance Cost - Accelerated Depreciation

-

-

628

25

653

Net Book Value at 31 March 2022

-

-

-

-

-
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9 Property, plant and equipment cont'd
9.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
Information technology
Total
9.2 Economic lives
Buildings excluding dwellings
Information technology
Furniture & fittings
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2021-22
£'000

-

2020-21
£'000
178
178

Minimum
Life (years)
5
3
3

Maximum
Life (Years)
20
5
3
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10 Intangible non-current assets

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2021

Computer
Software:
Purchased
£'000
136

Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2022

-

-

136

136

Charged during the year
Amortisation At 31 March 2022

-

-

Net Book Value at 31 March 2022

-

-

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2022

-

-

2021-22

Amortisation 01 April 2021
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Total
£'000

136
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10 Intangible non-current assets cont'd
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
Computer software: purchased
Total
10.1 Economic lives
Computer software: purchased
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2021-22
£'000

-

2020-21
£'000
125
125

Minimum
Life (years)
1

Maximum
Life (Years)
3

NHS South East London CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22
11.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
2021-22
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

3,469
1,732
1,334
4,311
2,055
1,399
(66)
608
5
14,847

Total current and non current

14,847

11.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2021-22
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
3,396
5
1
3,402

Non-current
2021-22
£'000

Current
2020-21
£'000
-

6,160
3,334
6,629
21,307
837
15
(305)
575
70
38,622

11.3 Loss allowance on asset classes
Balance at 01 April 2021
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 2
Total
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-

38,622

2021-22
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
3,678
387
188
4,253

2020-21
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
2,346
111
1,158
3,615

£10,238k of the amount reported above for 2020/21 was received in April 2021 (post the statement of financial position date).
Trade and other
receivables Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
(305)
239
(66)

Non-current
2020-21
£'000

Other financial
assets
£'000

Total

-

£'000

(305)
239
(66)

2020-21
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
16,148
114
1,342
17,604

NHS South East London CCG - Annual Accounts 2021-22
12 Cash and cash equivalents
2021-22
£'000
242
418
660

2020-21
£'000
813
(571)
242

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

660
660

242
242

Balance at 31 March 2022

660

242

Balance at 01 April 2021
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2022
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Current
2021-22
£'000

13 Trade and other payables

Current
2020-21
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

8,177
3,551
47,210
81,241
592
594
67,354
208,719

5,689
4,754
50,765
140,948
524
488
40,398
243,566

Total current and non-current

208,719

243,566

Other payables include £3,715k of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021
£2,752k)
In year the CCG has worked with its providers to improve the timeliness of billing, this has led to an
improved position relating to Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals.
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14 Provisions

Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non-current

Current
2021-22
£'000
6,614
6,614

Non-current
2021-22
£'000

-

6,614
Continuing
Care
£'000

Current
2020-21
£'000
5,758
5,758

Non-current
2020-21
£'000

5,758
Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2021

5,758

-

5,758

Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Balance at 31 March 2022

856
6,614

-

856
6,614

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2022

6,614
6,614

-

6,614
6,614

£4.45m of the provision for Continuing care relates to the impact of pausing assessments in relation to the Hospital Discharge Scheme.
A further £2.16m has been provided for relating to retrospective Continuing care claims received outside of the previous period. These
are expected to be validated within 1 year.
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15 Financial instruments
15.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk
faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of
listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or
invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change
the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and its internal auditors.
15.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
15.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
15.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning
group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
15.1.4 Liquidity risk
The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
15.1.5 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating
and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy nonfinancial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit,
liquidity or market risk.
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15 Financial instruments cont'd
15.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2021-22
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2022

4,062
2,284
4,368
660
11,374

Total
2021-22
£'000
4,062
2,284
4,368
660
11,374

15.3 Financial liabilities
Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2021-22
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Total at 31 March 2022

2,045
11,469
194,019
207,533
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Total
2021-22
£'000
2,045
11,469
194,019
207,533
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16 Operating segments
The CCG has one operating segment, the commissioning of healthcare services.
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17 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
NHS South East London has entered into Section 75 agreements with its South East London Boroughs (Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark). These are signed by both organisations. The purpose of these documents is to act as an overarching
document for a number of lead commissioning arrangements as well as the pooled fund for the six Better Care Fund agreements. In 2021/22, the agreements were adjusted to account for the arrangements around the Hospital Discharge Programme as part of the response to the
Covid-19 pandemic.
17.1 Interests in joint operations

Name of arrangement
Better Care Fund
Better Care Fund
Pooled Budget

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY
Parties to the arrangement
South East London CCG & London Borough of
Bexley
South East London CCG & London Borough of
Bromley
South East London CCG & Royal Borough of
Greenwich

Description of principal activities
Provision of Integrated Health & Social
Care Services in Bexley

2021-22
Liabilities
Income
£'000
£'000

Assets
£'000

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY

Expenditure
£'000

2020-21
Liabilities
Income
£'000
£'000

Assets
£'000

Expenditure
£'000

-

-

85,699

82,058

-

-

74,772

71,705

Health and Social Care

-

-

29,098

29,098

-

-

25,566

25,566

Better Care Fund

-

-

25,879

25,894

-

-

29,292

29,316

Better Care Fund

South East London CCG & London Borough of
Lambeth

Better Care Fund

-

-

30,570

30,790

-

-

36,718

36,658

Living Well Network Alliance

South East London CCG & London Borough of
Lambeth, South London and Maudsley NHS FT,
Certitude, Thamesreach

Provision of Adult Mental Health Services

-

-

68,966

68,966

-

-

63,758

63,406

Better Care Fund

South East London CCG & London Borough of
Lewisham

Pooled Budgets

-

-

27,301

27,301

-

547

31,017

31,017

Better Care Fund

South East London CCG & London Borough of
Southwark

Health and Social Care

-

-

28,176

28,235

-

54

32,765

32,799
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18 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

Relating to interests declared by the Governing Body members
Brixton and Clapham Park PCN (Dr Adrian McLachlan)
Hetherington Group Practice (Dr Adrian McLachlan)
Seldoc Ltd (Dr Adrian McLachlan and Dr Faruk Majid)
Chislehurst Medical Practice (Dr Andrew Parson)
Bromley GP Alliance (Dr Andrew Parson)
Bromley Healthcare (Dr Andrew Parson)
Clocktower Healthcare Ltd (Dr Clive Anggiansah)
Lyndhurst Medical Centre (Dr Clive Anggiansah)
Bexley Health Ltd (Dr Clive Anggiansah And Dr Sid Deshmukh)
Bexley Health Neighbourhood Care (Dr Clive Anggiansah And Dr Sid Deshmukh)
Vassall Medical Centre (Dr Dianne Aitken)
Northwood Group Practice (Dr Dianne Aitken And Dr Jonty Heaversedge)
Sidcup Medical Centre (Dr Sid Deshmukh)
One Health Lewisham (Dr Faruk Majid)
Healthwatch Greenwich Ltd (Ms Folake Segun )
Healthwatch Lambeth Ltd (Ms Folake Segun )
Greenwich Primary Care Collaborative (Dr Krishna Subbarayan)
Eltham PCN (Dr Krishna Subbarayan and Dr Sabah Salman)
Sherard Road Medical Centre (Dr Krishna Subbarayan and Dr Sabah Salman )
Villa Street Medical Centre (Dr Nancy Kuchemann )
Quay Health Solutions (Dr Robert Davidson )
Knoll Medical Practice (Dr Ruchira Paranjape )

2021-22
Payments to Receipts Amounts Amounts
related party
from
owed to due from
related
related
related
party
party
party
53
1,911
759
1,750
7,234
58,206
3,601
1,510
43
2,352
1,753
3,365
2,626
8,621
466
3
935
104
2,792
1,233
6,555
1,848

(38)
(47)
(61)
(14)
-

204
56
1,371
731
1,537
143
247
236
121
241
1,185
43
464
74
778
121

-

107,720

(160)

7,552

-

The GPs individually named as above are clinical commissioners on the Governing Body
The payments above are not made to the individuals themselves but to their General Practice for clinical services commissioned by the CCG. These
payments to the GP Practices exclude funding for prescribing.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example
• NHS England and NHS Improvement
• NHS Foundation Trusts
• NHS North East London CSU
• NHS Property Services
The NHS organisations listed below are those where transactions over the year 2021-22 have exceeded £2m:
BARTS HEALTH NHS TRUST
CHELSEA AND WESTMINSTER HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
CROYDON HEALTH SERVICES NHS TRUST
DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM NHS TRUST
EPSOM AND ST HELIER NHS TRUST
GUYS & ST THOMAS HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
IMPERIAL COLLEGE HEALTHCARE NHS TRUST
KING`S COLLEGE HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
LEWISHAM & GREENWICH NHS TRUST
LONDON AMBULANCE SERVICE NHS TRUST
MOORFIELDS EYE HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
OXLEAS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
ROYAL FREE LONDON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
ROYAL HOSPITAL FOR NEURO DISABILITY
ROYAL NATIONAL ORTHOPAEDIC HOSPITAL NHS TRUST
SOUTH LONDON AND MAUDSLEY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
ST GEORGE'S UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
THE ROYAL MARSDEN NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
UNIVERSITY COLLEGE LONDON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST
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19 Events after the end of the reporting period
On 28th April 2022 the Health and Care Act received royal assent. This confirms the establishment of Integrated Care Boards in England. As a result of this the CCG expects
to be dissolved on 30th June 2022, and NHS South East London Integrated Care Board to be formed on 1st July 2022. As explained in note 1.1 the CCG's accounts are still
prepared on a going concern basis due to the continued provision of the CCG's commissioning functions by the ICB.
20 Losses and Special Payments
The CCG has undertaken a review of all fixed assets this year in advance of moving to ICB status in 2022/23; and as a result has incurred a £742k in year impairment loss
on the building asset on the balance sheet.
2021-22
Number

Adminstrative Write Offs
Total Losses

1
1

2021-22
£'000s

742
742

2020-21
Number

-

2020-21
£'000s

-

21 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
2021-22
Target
4,089,175
4,050,994
36,863

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

2021-22
Performance
4,088,713
4,050,532
36,602

2020-21
Target
3,523,013
3,474,935
36,571

2020-21
Performance
3,521,926
3,473,848
35,553

The CCG is reporting a £462k underspend against its allocation. This represents a £201k underspend against its programme allocation, with a £261k underspend against its
running cost allocation.
22 IFRS 16 Leases
st

NHS SEL CCG has not yet applied IFRS 16 Leases which is effective from 1 April 2022. Management has in all material respects concluded its review and analysis of the
impending changes resulting from this new standard.
The CCG’s Internal and External Auditors have been and are fully engaged in the processes undertaken by the CCG in reviewing and analysing the impact of IFRS 16
st
Leases and implementation on 1 April 2022.
The change in lease accounting requires capitalisation of operational lease contracts, which will have an impact on total assets and a corresponding impact on the total
liabilities. Hence this will affect the financial ratios related to the balance sheet. IFRS 16 requires the lease payment to be split between a depreciation charge included in
operating costs and an interest expense on lease liabilities.
Accounting policies will be reviewed and updated in the 2022/23 financial statements once the standard has been implemented. All entities applying the FReM shall
recognise the cumulative effects of initially applying IFRS 16 recognised at the date of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balances of taxpayers’ equity.
Comparatives do not need to be restated.
The CCG has conducted an impact analysis on the Financial Statements upon adoption of IFRS 16. Based on the contractual obligations on 31 March 2022, an increase in
total assets and total liabilities of approximately £1.4m is expected on 1 April 2022. The adoption of IFRS 16 is not expected to have a material impact on the net result in
the Income and Expenditure Statement.
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GLOSSARY
Accident & Emergency (A&E): a hospital service which provides care for emergency,
life threatening and critical conditions for patients of all ages, twenty-four hours a day,
seven days a week. This is also known as ED – Emergency Department. It is common for
paediatric (children) emergencies to be managed in a separate area of the departments.
Acute care: short-term treatment, usually provided in hospital.
Acute trust: an NHS Hospital Trust or Foundation Trust providing and/ or managing
hospitals. Some acute trusts also provide community services, such as Guy’s and St
Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust.
Admission (to a hospital): needing (at least) an overnight stay in hospital, either for an
emergency or following a planned procedure.
Average Length of Stay (ALOS) – also sometimes Length of Stay (LOS): is an
average of the length of time a patient stays in a hospital when admitted. Collection of this
data is essential to service planners and audit.
Asthma: Chronic lung disorders with a variety of causes but all characterised by
reversibility of small airway obstruction. Not to be confused with COPD (See below).
‘At scale’ provision: Existing or proposed services which are or can potentially be
provided across a greater population or geographical area (larger scale). Usually used in
the context of the whole of south east London or across more than one borough. In
primary care, this term is also used to mean a service provided at a much larger scale
than found in current GP practices e.g. serving populations of 50,000 or more.
CAMHS: Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services.
Care Pathway: the care and treatment a patient receives from start to finish for a
particular illness or condition, usually across several parts of the health service and often
including social care. Care pathways as planned for a condition can ensure full seamless
integration of all the necessary services.
Carer/informal carer: a person who looks after or supports someone else due to illness
or disability. This can be an unpaid, informal carer, who may be family members,
including children and young people, who live with the person they care for; or family,
friends or neighbours who live elsewhere. Carer is also used to describe paid staff
working in care homes and/or supporting people at home, particularly staff who do not
have professional qualifications.
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG): Statutory Organisations which plan and fund
(commission) most local health services. These replaced primary care trusts (PCTs) in
April 2013. CCGs are led by GPs and other clinicians. All GP practices in a CCG area are
members. Each CCG in south east London covers one borough. CCGs do not
commission or fund GP contracts (See NHS England).
Coronary Heart Disease (CHD): the narrowing or blockage of the coronary arteries, the
major blood vessels around the heart. (See also CVD).
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Child Health Integrated Learning and Delivery System (CHILDS): An approach to
care that uses population health management tools and methods to deliver targeted early
intervention and integrated biopsychosocial care to children with long-term conditions and
everyday child health problems.
Commissioning: The planning, buying (procurement) and contract management of
health and health care services. This can be for a local community a specific population
or a specific condition. This can be done at National NHS, Local NHS or CCG levels.
Continuing Healthcare: CCG-funded packages of care given to those meeting set criteria.
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD): The name for a collection of lung
diseases including chronic bronchitis and emphysema characterised by irreversible
airways and lung damage. (see Asthma).
Commissioning Support Unit (CSU): An organisation providing back-office support
(such as IT, HR, contract management and communications) to CCGs.
Care Quality Commission (CQC): An organisation funded by the Government to inspect
all hospitals, care homes and care services in England to make sure they are meeting
government standards and to share their findings with the public.
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUINS): A contractual mechanism that
allows commissioners to pay providers for completing activities that directly relate to
improving the quality of care received by patients.
Cardiovascular disease (CVD): Also known as heart disease, this refers to diseases
that affect the heart or blood vessels. (CVS). Hypertension (high blood pressure) is the
most common form.
Cardiovascular system (CVS): the heart, arteries capillaries and veins.
Day case or day surgery: patients who have a planned investigation, treatment or
operation and are admitted and discharged on the same day.
Deficit: the net financial position of an organisation where expenditure (outgoings) is
greater than income. (opposite: Surplus)
Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHR): A Domestic Homicide Review is a multi-agency
review of the circumstances in which the death of a person aged 16 or over has, or
appears to have, resulted from violence, abuse, or neglect by a person to whom they
were related or with whom they were, or had been in an intimate personal relationship or
a member of the same household as themselves.
Do not attempt Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (DNACPR): this means if your heart
stops beating, or you stop breathing the healthcare team will not be resuscitate you.
Electrocardiogram (ECG): a test of the electrical activity of the heart.
Elective centre: a hospital or a distinct part of a hospital which provides elective
(planned) care, separated from urgent and emergency care.
Elective surgery: planned / non-emergency surgery (i.e. not immediately necessary to
save life). This is usually carried out in a hospital either as a day case or an inpatient.
Minor surgery may be carried out in a range of approved settings.
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Emergency admission: a patient who is admitted to hospital on the same day due to
urgent need (also known as urgent admission and unplanned care).
End of Life Care: dignified care of the dying planned as far as possible to include the
patient’s wishes as to where they are cared for.
Faster Diagnosis Standard: a performance standard introduced to ensure patients who
are referred for suspected cancer have a timely diagnosis.
Financial surplus: the net financial position of an organisation where income is greater
than expenditure (outgoings) – so there is a surplus of money at year end.
Foundation Trust: a NHS hospital that is run as an independent, public benefit
corporation, controlled and run locally. Foundation Trusts have increased freedoms,
including around funding of and investment in services. They are regulated by Monitor –
The independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.
General Practice: the medical specialty providing a range of health care services within
the community. Now typically includes doctors and nurses, May include physiotherapists
and other community services.
GP: General Practitioner (s), your local doctor (s). Usually practicing in groups.
GP Federation: A network of GP practices which have put in place formal arrangements
for working together to share responsibility for delivering patient-focused services
specifically to suit local needs. There are two in Southwark – Improving Health in south
Southwark and Quay Health Solutions in the north.
GSTT: Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, which runs Guy’s and St Thomas’
hospital and community services across Lambeth and Southwark.
Governing Body: Sets the direction of the CCG by developing plans and priorities for
improving NHS services to ensure people in their borough get the best healthcare
services possible; and ensures strong and effective leadership, management and
accountability. Governing Body members are primarily GPs, together with as CCG
executive staff and lay members.
Health and Wellbeing Strategies: jointly-agreed and locally-determined set of priorities
for local partners (including CCGs and local Authorities) to use as basis of commissioning
plans.
Healthwatch: an independent organisation giving people a local voice about their health
and social care services. It aims to give citizens and communities a stronger voice to
influence and challenge how health and social care services are provided within their
locality. They have a seat on health and wellbeing boards, ensuring that the views and
experiences of patients, carers and other service users are taken into account when
preparing local needs assessments and strategies such as the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA).
Healthwatch England: an independent organisation giving people a local voice about
their health and social care services. It supports and co-ordinates the activity of all the
Local Healthwatch.
Home ward: a care pathway (system) in which professional care is delivered to patients
in their own homes rather than on a ward in hospital, organising the care in a similar way
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to a ward. It is a cost effective system and avoids hospital admissions which can cause
stress to elderly and vulnerable patients.
Implementation: putting into practice the plans and strategies that have been developed
Independent sector: a range of non-public sector organisations involved in service
provision, including private, voluntary and charitable organisations
Integrated Care Systems: Partnerships that bring together providers and commissioners
of NHS services across a geographical area with local authorities and other local partners
to collectively plan health and care services to meet the needs of their population.
Inpatient: a patient who stays overnight in hospital, either following an emergency
admission or a planned procedure.
Intervention: term for the point at which a medical, social care or other professional gets
involved in a person’s healthcare. Early intervention is when this happens before a
person’s health is severely affected. This term is also used as a general name for a
medical or nursing procedure.
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA): a document which analyses the health
needs of a population to inform the commissioning of health, well-being and social care
services. This document is updated annually.
KCH: King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.
KHP (King’s Health Partners): one of five Academic Health Science Centres in
England, made up of Guy’s and St Thomas’, King’s College Hospital, South London and
the Maudsley (SLaM) and King’s College London. It works to transfer research into
practice, teaching and clinical practice to the benefit of patients.
Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS): will provide protection for people aged 16 and
above who are or who need to be deprived of their liberty in order to enable care or
treatment and lack the mental capacity to consent to their arrangements
Local Incentive Scheme (LIS): a process to encourage GPs to proactively look at
specific health objectives for the local population. This has included long term conditions
(such as COPD and diabetes), early cancer diagnosis and effective prescribing.
London Clinical Standards: These are the minimum standards of care that patients
attending A&E / admitted as an emergency or using maternity services should expect to
receive in every acute hospital in London. These standards are set out by NHS England
and have been agreed by all CCGs. Although they are specific to London, they are
consistent with, and sometimes build on, national standards.
London Pathfinder Project: an NHS England initiative for tackling some of Londons key
health challenges using data to deliver improvements in health.
LTC (Long Term Condition): a long term or chronic condition or illness that cannot be
cured (but can be managed through medication and/ or therapy) and that people live with
for a long time, such as diabetes, heart disease, dementia and asthma.
Mortality rate: a measure of the number of deaths (in general or due to a specific cause)
in a defined population, scaled to the size of that population, per unit of time. National and
local mortality rates can be compared and are essential in determining local priorities for
services.
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Multi agency Child exploitation panels (MACE): is a multi-agency meeting responsible
for coordinating information sharing and multi-agency interventions to disrupt and protect
against contextual harm, specifically child sexual exploitation, criminal exploitation,
harmful sexual behaviour, and serious youth violence.
Multidisciplinary / multi-professional teams (MDTs): teams comprising different kinds
of staff involved in patient care – this could include GPs, nurses, psychologists,
occupational therapists, pharmacists, social care staff, hospital doctors and other
specialists.
NHS England: This body oversees the day-to-day operation of the NHS from April 2013
as set out in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and is responsible for commissioning
some local services, such as GPs, and all specialised services such as prisons, HIV. It
also assures the performance of CCGs.
Our Healthier South East London: In December 2015, NHS organisations in 44 areas
of England were asked to work together to produce a five-year plan (covering up to March
2021) to implement the NHS Five Year Forward View. These plans are called
Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs).
Our ICS will be called Our Healthier South East London and has evolved from the
commissioner-led strategy – established in 2013 by the six Clinical Commissioning
Groups in south east London (Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and
Southwark) - into a partnership between local commissioners and providers, working with
local authorities, patients and the public.
Out of Hours (OOH): a term usually referring to services available between 6.30pm and
8.00am and sometimes also at weekends. This sometimes specifically refers to GP type
services. OoH may also mean Out of Hospital.
PHBs (Personal Health Budgets): A personal health budget is an amount of money to
support an individuals’ identified health and wellbeing needs, planned and agreed
between them and their local NHS team. The aim is to give people with long-term
conditions and disabilities greater choice and control over the healthcare and support
they receive.
Personal health budgets work in a similar way to the personal budgets that many people
are already using to manage and pay for their social care.
Planned Care: where a patient is referred for treatment and there is a pre-determined
pathway of care.
Primary care: Sometimes used to describe the services provided by GPs, NHS dentists,
optometrists (opticians) and community pharmacists. This may also include other
community health services
Primary Care Trust (PCT): NHS bodies that commissioned primary, community and
secondary care from providers before April 2013.
Proactive care: care that actively seeks to prevent ill health or deterioration in health by
intervening and working with people before they get ill. (Also called preventive care)
Protected Learning Time (PLT): is defined as time in a health or care setting to support
and contribute towards continuing professional development for clinical staff.
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QIPP (Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention): an NHS-wide initiative to
deliver more and better services and care with fewer resources.
RMS or RMBS: Referral management (Booking) Service: Central referral system for
agreed clinical pathways.
RTT - Referral to Treatment Time: standards included in the NHS Constitution that
establish a patient’s right to be treated within a specified time frame. These standards are
The Referral to Treatment (RTT) operational standards are that 90 per cent of admitted
(requiring at least overnight stay) and 95 per cent of non-admitted (outpatient/day case)
patients should start consultant-led treatment within 18 weeks of referral. In order to
sustain delivery of these standards, 92 per cent of patients who have not yet started
treatment should have been waiting no more than 18 weeks.
Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARS): Under the Care Act 2014, Safeguarding Adult
Boards must arrange a Safeguarding Adult Review when an adult in its areas dies as a
result of abuse or neglect, whether known or suspected, and there is a concern that
partner agencies could have worked together more effectively to protect the adult
Secondary care: More specialised care, usually after referral from GP (primary care).
This can be provided in a hospital or in the community.
SEL: south east London
SELDOC – South East London Doctors On Call: a co-operative organisation of
member practices which provides Out of Hours Services across NHS Lambeth,
Southwark and Lewisham CCGs, including telephone advice, GP consultations and home
visits
Serious Case Reviews (SCR): Local Safeguarding Children’s Partnership Boards will
conduct a serious case review when a child is seriously harmed or dies because of abuse
or neglect . The review identifies how local professionals and organisations can improve
the way they work together.
Serious Youth Violence: is defined as any offense of most serious violence or weapon
enabled crime where the victim is aged 1-19 i.e., murder, manslaughter, rape, wounding
with intent and causing grievous bodily harm
SLaM: South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, providing a range of hospital
and community mental health services.
Social Care: a range of non-medical services arranged by local councils to help people in
need of support due to illness, disability, old age or poverty. Social care services are
available to everyone, regardless of background. However rules about eligibility apply.
Specialist hospital: a hospital which provides specialist care for complex conditions.
There are none in south east London but patients might be referred to one – for instance,
the Royal Marsden cancer hospital or Moorfields Eye Hospital.
STAMP: Supporting Treatment and Appropriate Medication in Paediatrics (STAMP)
STOMP: Stopping the Over‑Medication of children and young People with a learning
disability, autism or both
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Supporting strategies: Workstreams (programmes of work) that have been set up to
support the overall aims of the strategy programme. They are: Information and IT;
Communications and Engagement; Workforce; Commissioning models; and Estates.
System-wide: Across the whole of the health service or health and social care system,
sometimes specifically in south east London
Tertiary care: very specialised care, usually provided in hospital, where a patient is
referred by a secondary care provider. Tertiary care is supplied by Specialists to
Specialists
Vaxi Taxi Project: a service devised and run across London by Covid Crisis Rescue
Foundation, and supported by NHS England and London Fire Brigade, aims to help get
people to readily accessible COVID-19 vaccine pop up clinics set up in local areas.
UCC (Urgent Care Centre): a centre which provides care and treatment for minor
illnesses and injuries that require urgent attention but that are not critical or lifethreatening.
Unplanned Care: is care that is not planned or pre-booked with your GP or hospital.
Voluntary and Community Sector / Organisations: not-for-profit organisations set up
to offer services to specific groups in society. These can be run and staffed by paid
professionals as well as volunteers.
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